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Explanatory Note
On February 23, 2020, QuantumScape Corporation (“QuantumScape,” the “Company,” “we,” “us,” or “our”) filed its Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ended December 31, 2020 (the “Original Filing”) and on April 26, 2021, QuantumScape filed an Annual Report on Form 10-K/A (the “Amendment No. 1,”
and together with the Original Filing, the “Amended Filing”). This Annual Report on Form 10-K/A (the “Amendment No. 2”) is being filed as Amendment No. 2
to the Amended Filing for the primary purpose of restating the Company’s previously issued consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended
December 31, 2020. See Note 4—Restatement of Consolidated Financial Statements, to the accompanying consolidated financial statements of this Amendment
No. 2, for additional information. Refer also to the section "Items Amended in this Annual Report on Form 10-K/A" below for additional changes made to the
Amended Filing.
Background of Restatement
On April 12, 2021, the staff of the SEC issued a public statement entitled “Staff Statement on Accounting and Reporting Considerations for Warrants issued by
Special Purpose Acquisition Companies (“SPACs”)” (the “Staff Statement”). The Staff Statement clarified guidance for all SPAC-related companies regarding the
accounting and reporting for their warrants that could result in the warrants issued by SPACs being classified as a liability measured at fair value, with non-cash
fair value adjustments recorded in earnings at each reporting period.
In November 2020, in connection with the Business Combination (as defined below), we assumed 11,499,989 warrants that were sold to the public (the “Public
Warrants”) and 6,650,000 warrants that were sold to the affiliates of Kensington (as defined below) (the “Private Placement Warrants”, and the Public Warrants
together with the Private Placement Warrants, the “Assumed Common Stock Warrants”), which were originally issued in connection with Kensington’s initial
public offering and the Business Combination (as defined below), and were originally accounted for as equity within our financial statements based on our
application of Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 815-40, Derivatives and Hedging- Contracts in
Entity’s Own Equity (“ASC 815-40”). The Company initially evaluated the accounting for its Assumed Common Stock Warrants and believed its positions to be
appropriate at that time. The views expressed in the Staff Statement were not consistent with our historical interpretation of certain specific provisions of the
Assumed Common Stock Warrants and our application of ASC 815-40 to the Assumed Common Stock Warrants. We reassessed our accounting for the Assumed
Common Stock Warrants in light of the Staff’s Statement. Based on this reassessment, we determined that the Assumed Common Stock Warrants should be
classified as liabilities measured at fair value on the date of the Business Combination, with subsequent changes in non-cash fair value reported in our Consolidated
Statement of Operations and Comprehensive Loss at each reporting period.
On April 28, 2021, the Audit Committee of our Board of Directors (the “Audit Committee”), in consultation with management and Ernst and Young LLP, our
independent registered public accounting firm, concluded that our previously issued consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31,
2020 should no longer be relied upon. As such, we determined that we would restate our consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December
31, 2020.
Effect of Restatement and Revisions
As described above, the Assumed Common Stock Warrants should be accounted for as liabilities measured at fair value, with non-cash fair value adjustments
recorded in earnings at each reporting period. As a result, we are including in this Amendment No. 2 restated consolidated financial statements as of and for the
year ended December 31, 2020. The change in the accounting treatment for the Assumed Common Stock Warrants and the resulting restatement and revision of
our consolidated financial statements resulted in an increase in total liabilities of approximately $690 million and a decrease of approximately $108 million in
additional paid-in capital in our Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2020, and an increase in expenses of approximately $582 million in our
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss for the year ended December 31, 2020.
The restatement of the consolidated financial statements had no impact on our liquidity or cash position as of December 31, 2020. There was no impact on
revenues, operating expenses or operating loss as the change in fair value of the Assumed Common Stock Warrant liability is not a component of operating loss in
our Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss for the year ended December 31, 2020. An explanation of the impact on our consolidated
financial statements is contained in “Note 4—Restatement of Consolidated Financial Statements” to the accompanying consolidated financial statements included
in this Amendment No. 2.
As all material restatement information will be included in this Amendment No. 2, investors and others should rely only on the financial information and other
disclosures regarding the periods described above in this Amendment No. 2 and in future filings with the SEC (as applicable) and should not rely on any previously
issued or filed reports, press releases, corporate presentations or similar communications relating to the year ended December 31, 2020.

Internal Control Considerations
As a result of the restatement, the Company has concluded there was a material weakness in the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2020 and its disclosure controls and procedures were not effective for the quarterly period ended December 31, 2020. For additional information, see
Part II, Item 9A “Controls and Procedures” of this Amendment No. 2 for Internal Control Considerations.
Items Amended in this Annual Report on Form 10-K/A
This Amendment No. 2 sets forth the Amended Filing, in its entirety, as modified and superseded as necessary to reflect the restatement described above. The
following items in the Amended Filing have been amended as a result of, and to reflect, the restatement: (i) Part I, Item 1A: Risk Factors, (ii) Part I, Item 3: Legal
Proceedings, (iii) Part II, Item 7: Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, (iv) Part II, Item 8: Financial
Statements and (v) Part II, Item 9A: Controls and Procedures.
The following sections were also updated to reflect the closing of QuantumScape’s underwritten public offering which closed March 29, 2021 (the “March 2021
Public Offering”), the satisfaction of the conditions to the closing of the second tranche of Volkswagen Group of America Investments, LLC’s (“VGA”)
investment and the issuance of the related shares, effective as of April 28, 2021, and other recent developments: (i) Cautionary Note on Forward-Looking
Statements, (ii) Part I, Item 1A: Risk Factors, (iii) Part I, Item 3: Legal Proceedings and (iv) Part IV: Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and
Management and Related Stockholder Matters. We have also included as exhibits currently dated certifications required under Sections 302 and 906 of The
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. We are amending and refiling Part IV to reflect the inclusion of those certifications.
Except as described above, no other changes have been made to the Amended Filing and we have not otherwise updated the disclosures contained in the Amended
Filing, including disclosures with respect to Part I, Item 1: Business, to reflect any events that occurred subsequent to the date of the Original Filing. Accordingly,
this Amendment No. 2 should be read in conjunction with the Company’s other filings with the SEC subsequent to the date of the Original Filing.
Corporate History and Background
On November 25, 2020, the original QuantumScape Corporation, now named QuantumScape Battery, Inc. (“Legacy QuantumScape”), consummated a business
combination (the “Business Combination”) with Kensington Capital Acquisition Corp., a SPAC (“Kensington”). Legacy QuantumScape became a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Kensington, and Kensington changed its name to QuantumScape Corporation. Our Class A Common Stock and Public Warrants are listed on the
New York Stock Exchange (the “NYSE”) under the symbols “QS” and “QS.WS”, respectively. Our Class B Common Stock is neither listed nor publicly traded.
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CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
The Company makes forward-looking statements in this Annual Report (Amendment No. 2) on Form 10-K/A (this “Report”) and in documents incorporated herein
by reference. All statements, other than statements of present or historical fact included in or incorporated by reference in this Report, regarding the Company’s
future financial performance, as well as the Company’s strategy, future operations, financial position, estimated revenues, and losses, projected costs, prospects,
plans and objectives of management are forward-looking statements. When used in this Report, the words “anticipate,” “believe,” “continue,” “could,” “estimate,”
“expect,” “intends,” “may,” “might,” “plan,” “possible,” “potential,” “predict,” “project,” “should,” “will,” “would” the negative of such terms and other similar
expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements, although not all forward-looking statements contain such identifying words. These forwardlooking statements are based on management’s current expectations, assumptions, hopes, beliefs, intentions and strategies regarding future events and are based on
currently available information as to the outcome and timing of future events. The Company cautions you that these forward-looking statements are subject to all
of the risks and uncertainties, most of which are difficult to predict and many of which are beyond the control of the Company, incident to its business.
These forward-looking statements are based on information available as of the date of this Report, and current expectations, forecasts and assumptions, and involve
a number of risks and uncertainties. Accordingly, forward-looking statements in this Report and in any document incorporated herein by reference should not be
relied upon as representing the Company’s views as of any subsequent date, and the Company does not undertake any obligation to update forward-looking
statements to reflect events or circumstances after the date they were made, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, except as may be
required under applicable securities laws.
As a result of a number of known and unknown risks and uncertainties, the Company’s actual results or performance may be materially different from those
expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements. Some factors that could cause actual results to differ include:
•

any further changes to our financial statements or this Report that may be required due to SEC comments on this Report or further guidance regarding
the accounting treatment of the Assumed Common Stock Warrants;

•

the restatement’s quantitative effects;

•

the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting;

•

the Company’s ability to remediate the material weakness in its internal control over financial reporting;

•

delays in or the inability to achieve our technology development objectives, including high volume production of battery cells at commercial size with
acceptable performance, yield, and cost for successful commercialization of our technologies;

•

delays in implementing or the inability to successfully implement the manufacturing processes related automation and technologies necessary for
development efforts or for volume production and successful commercialization of our technologies;

•

the inability to establish supply relationships for necessary components or being required to pay higher than anticipated supply costs;

•

our relationship with Volkswagen, including the ability to commercialize solid-state batteries from our joint development relationship with Volkswagen
and as a potential customer;

•

the failure of our batteries to perform as expected;

•

the expected operations of our current and planned facilities, including the planned addition of an approximately 200,000 square foot pre-pilot line
facility in California (“QS-0”), a 1GWh pilot line (“QS-1”), and subsequently the expansion to the full 21GWh target (“QS-1 Expansion”);

•

the inability to attract customers during the development stage or for high volume commercial production;

•

the Company’s future financial and business performance, including financial projections and business metrics;

•

changes in the Company’s strategy, future operations, financial position, estimated revenues and losses, projected costs, prospects and plans;

•

the Company’s ability to scale in a cost-effective manner;

•

the Company’s ability to raise capital;

•

developments relating to the Company’s competitors and industry;

•

the outcome of any known and unknown litigation and regulatory proceedings; and

•

the impact of worldwide economic, political, industry, and market conditions, including the continued effects of the global COVID-19 pandemic.
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Other risks and uncertainties set forth in this Report, including risk factors discussed in Part I, Item 1A under the Heading, “Risk Factors”.
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PART I
Item 1. Business.
Unless the context otherwise requires, all references in this section to “we,” “us,” “our,” or the “Company” refer to the current QuantumScape Corporation and
its subsidiaries.
Corporate History and Background
On November 25, 2020 (the “Closing Date”), Kensington, consummated the Business Combination Agreement (the “Business Combination Agreement”) dated
September 2, 2020, by and among Kensington, Kensington Merger Sub Corp., a Delaware corporation and wholly owned subsidiary of Kensington (“Merger
Sub”), and QuantumScape Battery, Inc., a Delaware corporation (f/k/a QuantumScape Corporation and f/k/a QuantumScape Subsidiary, Inc.) (“Legacy
QuantumScape”) formed in May of 2010. Our Class A Common Stock and Public Warrants are listed on NYSE under the symbols “QS” and “QS.WS”,
respectively. Our Class B Common Stock is neither listed nor publicly traded.
Pursuant to the terms of the Business Combination Agreement, a business combination between the Company and Legacy QuantumScape was effected through the
merger of Merger Sub with and into Legacy QuantumScape, with Legacy QuantumScape surviving as the surviving company and as a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Kensington (the “Merger” and, collectively with the other transactions described in the Business Combination Agreement, the “Business Combination”). On the
Closing Date, the Company changed its name from Kensington Capital Acquisition Corp. to QuantumScape Corporation.
Overview
QuantumScape is developing next generation battery technology for electric vehicles (“EVs”) and other applications.
We are at the beginning of a forecasted once-in-a-century shift in automotive powertrains, from internal combustion engines to clean EVs. While current battery
technology has demonstrated the benefits of EVs, principally in the premium passenger car market, there are fundamental limitations inhibiting widespread
adoption of battery technology. As a result, today, approximately 3% of global light-vehicles are electrified. We believe a new battery technology represents the
most promising path to enable a mass market shift.
After 30 years of gradual improvements in conventional lithium-ion batteries we believe the market needs a step change in battery technology to make mass market
EVs competitive with the fossil fuel alternative.
We have spent the last decade developing a proprietary solid-state battery technology to meet this challenge. We believe that our technology enables a new
category of battery that meets the requirements for broader market adoption. The lithium-metal solid-state battery technology that we are developing is being
designed to offer greater energy density, longer life, faster charging, and greater safety when compared to today’s conventional lithium-ion batteries.
Over the last eight years we have developed a strong partnership with VGA and certain of its affiliates (together with VGA, “Volkswagen”). Volkswagen is one of
the largest car companies in the world and intends to be a leader in EVs. Volkswagen has announced plans to launch more than 70 new EV models and build more
than 25 million vehicles on electric platforms by the end of the decade. Over the last eight years Volkswagen has invested and committed to invest, subject, in
certain cases, to certain closing conditions that have not yet been satisfied, a total of more than $300 million in us and has established a 50-50 joint venture with us
to enable an industrial level of production of our solid-state batteries. As 50-50 partners in the joint venture with Volkswagen, we expect to share equally in the
revenue and profit from the joint venture. Over the course of our relationship, Volkswagen has successfully tested multiple generations of certain of our singlelayer, laboratory cells at industry-accepted automotive rates of power (power is the rate at which a battery can be charged and discharged). We believe no other
lithium-metal battery technology has demonstrated the capability of achieving automotive rates of power with acceptable battery life.
While we expect Volkswagen will be the first to commercialize vehicles using our battery technology, over the next few years as we build our initial pre-pilot
manufacturing facility and our 1GWh pilot facility (the “Pilot Facility”), we intend to work closely with other automotive original equipment manufacturers
(“OEMs”) to make our solid-state battery cells widely available over time. As part of our joint venture agreement we have agreed that the Pilot Facility will be the
first commercial-scale facility to manufacture our battery technology for automotive applications, but, subject to the other terms of the joint venture arrangements,
we are not limited from working in parallel with other automotive OEMs, or other non-automotive companies, to commercialize our technology. We recently have
announced our plans to expand our manufacturing capability with the addition of a pre-pilot line facility in San Jose, CA (“QS-0”). QS-0 is intended to have a
continuous flow, high automation line capable of building over 100,000 engineering cell samples per year. We expect to secure a long-term lease for QS-0 in the
second half of this year and for QS-0 to be producing cells by 2023.
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Our development uses earth-abundant materials and processes suitable for high volume production. Our processes use tools which are already used at scale in the
battery or ceramics industries. Outside of the separator, our battery is being designed to use many of the materials and processes that are standard across today’s
battery manufacturers. As a result, we expect to benefit from the projected industry-wide cost declines for these materials that result from process improvements
and economies of scale. We believe that the manufacturing of our solid-state battery cells provides us with a structural cost advantage because our battery cells are
manufactured without an anode.
There are government regulations pertaining to battery safety, transportation of batteries, use of batteries in cars, factory safety, and disposal of hazardous
materials. We will ultimately have to comply with these regulations to sell our batteries into the market. The license and sale of our batteries abroad is likely to be
subject to export controls in the future.
Our investor relations website is located at https://ir.quantumscape.com and our Company Twitter account is located at https://twitter.com/QuantumScapeCo. We
use our investor relations website and our Company Twitter account to post important information for investors, including news releases, analyst presentations, and
supplemental financial information, and as a means of disclosing material non-public information and for complying with our disclosure obligations under
Regulation FD. Accordingly, investors should monitor our investor relations website and our Company Twitter account, in addition to following press releases,
filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) and public conference calls and webcasts. We also make available, free of charge, on our
investor relations website under “Financials—SEC Filings,” our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8K and amendments to these reports as soon as reasonably practicable after electronically filing or furnishing those reports to the SEC.
Industry Background
Shift to EVs
We believe that evolving consumer preferences coupled with growing government incentives and regulations are driving a once-in-a-century shift to EVs.
Countries around the world are promoting EVs. The dependence on gasoline-powered internal combustion engine (“ICE”) vehicles has heightened environmental
concerns, created reliance among industrialized and developing nations on large oil imports, and exposed consumers to unstable fuel prices and health concerns
related to heightened emissions. Many national and regional regulatory bodies have adopted legislation to incentivize or require a shift to lower-emission and zeroemission vehicles. For example, countries such as the United Kingdom, the Netherlands, Sweden, Germany, and France have announced intentions to either
increase applicable environmental targets or outright ban the sale of new ICE vehicles in the next two decades. More recently, California passed regulations
requiring half of trucks sold in the state to be zero-emissions by 2035 and 100% by 2045. This global push to transition from ICE vehicles, aided by favorable
government incentives and regulations, is accelerating the growth in lower- and zero-emission vehicle markets.
Furthermore, consumers are increasingly considering EVs for a variety of reasons including better performance, growing EV charging infrastructure, significantly
lighter environmental impact, and lower maintenance and operating costs. Automakers such as Tesla, Inc. have demonstrated that premium EVs can deliver a
compelling alternative to fossil fuels. As EVs become more competitive and more affordable, we believe that they will continue to take market share from ICE
vehicles. We believe that this shift will occur across vehicle types and market segments. However, some of the inherent limitations of lithiumion battery technology remain an impediment to meaningful improvements in EV competitiveness and cost.
Current Battery Technology Will Not Meet the Requirements for Broad Adoption of EVs
Despite the significant progress in the shift to EVs, the market remains dominated by ICE vehicles. According to the International Energy Association,
approximately 3% of light vehicles are EVs. For EVs to be adopted at scale across market segments batteries need to improve. In particular, we believe there are
five key requirements to drive broad adoption of EVs:
•

Battery capacity (energy density). EVs need to be able to drive over 300 miles on a single charge to achieve broad market adoption. The volume
required for conventional lithium-ion battery technology limits the range of many EVs. Higher energy density will enable automotive OEMs to increase
battery pack energy without increasing the size and weight of the vehicle’s battery pack.

•

Fast charging capability. EV batteries need to be fast-charging to replicate the speed and ease with which a gasoline car can be refueled. We believe
this objective is achieved with the ability to charge to at least 80% capacity in under 15 minutes, without materially degrading battery life.

•

Safety (nonflammable). EV batteries need to replace as many of the flammable components in the battery as possible with nonflammable equivalents to reduce the extent of damage caused by a fire. With current batteries, many abuse conditions, including malfunctions that can
result in overcharges and battery damage from accidents, can result in fires.
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•

Cost. Mass market adoption of EVs requires a battery that is capable of delivering long range while remaining cost competitive with a vehicle price
point of around $30,000.

•

Battery life. Batteries need to be usable for the life of the vehicle, typically 12 years or 150,000 miles. If the battery fades prematurely, EVs will not be
an economically practical alternative.

Since these requirements have complex interlinkages, most manufacturers of conventional lithium-ion batteries used in today’s cars are forced to make tradeoffs. For example, conventional batteries can be fast-charged, but at the cost of significantly limiting their battery life.
We believe that a battery technology that can meet these requirements will enable an EV solution that is much more broadly competitive with internal combustion
engines. With more than 90 million ICE vehicles produced in 2019 across the auto industry, there is significant untapped demand for a battery that meets these
goals – a potential market opportunity in excess of $450 billion annually.
Limitations of Conventional Lithium-ion Battery Technologies
The last significant development in battery technology was the commercialization of lithium-ion batteries in the early 1990s which created a new class of batteries
with higher energy density. Lithium-ion batteries have enabled a new generation of mobile electronics, efficient renewable energy storage, and the start of the
transition to electrified mobility.
Since the 1990s, conventional lithium-ion batteries have seen a gradual improvement in energy density. Most increases in cell energy density have come from
improved cell design and incremental improvements in cathode and anode technology. However, there is no Moore’s law in batteries – it has
taken conventional lithium-ion batteries at least 10 years to double in energy density and it has been approximately 30 years since the introduction of a major new
chemistry. As the industry approaches the theoretical limit of achievable energy density for lithium-ion batteries involving carbon, we believe a new architecture is
required to deliver meaningful gains in energy density.
Batteries have a cathode (the positive electrode), an anode (the negative electrode), a separator which prevents contact between the anode and cathode, and an
electrolyte which transports ions but not electrons. A conventional lithium-ion battery uses a liquid electrolyte, a polymer separator, and an anode made principally
of carbon (graphite) or a carbon/silicon composite. Lithium ions move from the cathode to the anode when the battery is charged and vice versa during discharge.
Conventional Lithium-Ion Battery Design

The energy density of conventional lithium-ion batteries is fundamentally limited by the anode, which provides a host material to hold the lithium ions, preventing
them from binding together into pure metallic lithium. Metallic lithium, when used with conventional liquid electrolytes and porous separators, can form needlelike crystals of lithium known as dendrites, which can penetrate through the separator and short-circuit the cell.
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While using a host material is an effective way to prevent dendrites, this host material adds volume and mass to the cell, it adds cost to the battery, and it limits the
battery life due to side reactions at the interface with the liquid electrolyte. The rate at which lithium diffuses through the anode also limits the maximum cell
power.
The addition of silicon to a carbon anode provides a modest boost to energy density relative to a pure carbon anode. However, silicon is also a host material that
not only suffers from the limitations of carbon as discussed above, but also introduces cycle life challenges as a result of the repeated expansion and contraction of
the silicon particles, since silicon undergoes significantly more expansion than carbon when hosting lithium ions. Furthermore, the voltage of the lithium-silicon
reaction subtracts from the overall cell voltage, reducing cell energy.
Lithium-Metal Anode Required to Unlock Highest Energy Density
We believe that a lithium-metal anode is the most promising approach that can break out of the current constraints inherent in conventional lithiumion batteries and enable significant improvements in energy density.
In a lithium-metal battery, the anode is made of metallic lithium; there is no host material. Eliminating the host material reduces the size and weight of the battery
cell and eliminates the associated materials and manufacturing costs. This results in the highest theoretical gravimetric energy density for a lithium-based
battery system. Lithium-ion batteries currently used in the auto industry have energy densities of less than 300 Wh/kg. We believe lithium-metal batteries have the
potential to significantly increase this energy density.
Lithium-metal anodes are compatible with conventional cathode materials, and lithium-metal batteries will derive some benefit from continued improvement in
conventional cathodes. Moreover, lithium-metal anodes may enable future generations of higher energy cathodes that cannot achieve energy density gains when
used with lithium-ion anodes, as shown in the figure below.
Simulated Cell Specific Energy

Simulated cell specific energy is based on traditional cell designs and architectures. Source: Andre et al, J Mater Chem A, (2015) 6709.
Although the industry has understood for 40 years the potential benefits of lithium-metal anodes, the industry has not been able to develop a separator that makes a
lithium-metal anode practical for automotive use.
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Solid-State Separator Required to Enable Lithium-Metal Anode
We believe that a lithium-metal battery requires that the porous separators used in current lithium-ion batteries be replaced with a solid-state separator capable of
conducting lithium ions between the cathode and anode at rates comparable to conventional liquid electrolyte while also suppressing the formation of lithium
dendrites. While various solid-state separators have been shown to operate at low power densities, such low power densities are not useful for most practical
applications. To our knowledge, we are the only company that has been able to demonstrate a solid-state separator for lithium-metal batteries that reliably prevents
dendrite formation at higher power densities, such as those required for automotive applications and fast-charging.
We believe that our ability to develop this proprietary solid-state separator will enable the shift from lithium-ion to lithium-metal batteries.
Our Technology

* Catholyte includes an organic gel made of an organic polymer and organic liquid.
Our proprietary solid-state lithium-metal cell represents the next-generation of battery technology.
Our battery cells have none of the host materials used in conventional anodes. In fact, when our cells are manufactured there is no anode; lithium is present only in
the cathode. When the cell is first charged, lithium moves out of the cathode, diffuses through our solid-state separator and plates in a thin metallic layer directly on
the anode current collector, forming an anode. When the battery cell is discharged, the lithium diffuses back into the cathode.
Eliminating the anode host material found in conventional lithium-ion cells substantially increases the volumetric energy density. A pure lithium-metal anode also
enables the theoretically highest gravimetric energy density for a lithium battery system.
Our proprietary solid-state separator is the core technology breakthrough that enables reliable cycling of the lithium-metal anode battery. Without a working solidstate separator, the lithium would form dendrites which would grow through a traditional porous separator and short circuit the cell.
An effective solid-state separator requires a solid material that is as conductive as a liquid electrolyte, chemically stable next to lithium–one of the most reactive
elements–and able to prevent the formation of dendrites. Our team worked over ten years to develop a composition that meets these requirements and to develop
the techniques necessary to manufacture the separator material at scale using a continuous process. We have a number of patents covering both the composition of
this material and key steps of the manufacturing process.
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Our solid-state separator is a dense, entirely inorganic ceramic. It is made into a film that is thinner than a human hair and then cut into pieces about the length and
width of a playing card. Our solid-state separator is flexible because it has a low defect density and is thin. In contrast, typical household ceramics are brittle and
can break due to millions of microscopic defects which reduce structural integrity.
The separator is placed between a cathode and anode current collector to form a single battery cell layer. These single layers will be stacked together into a multilayer cell, about the size of a deck of cards, that will be the commercial form factor for EV batteries.
Our cathodes use a combination of conventional cathode active materials (NMC) with an organic gel made of an organic polymer and organic liquid catholyte. In
the future, we may use other compositions of cathode active materials, including cobalt-free compositions. We have an ongoing research and development
investigation into inorganic catholyte that could replace the organic gel made of an organic polymer and organic liquid catholyte currently used.
As communicated in our solid-state battery showcase event on December 8, 2020, our single-layer solid-state cells have been extensively tested for power density,
cycle life, and temperature performance. This is the only solid-state cell we are aware of that has been validated to run at automotive power densities by a leading
automotive OEM. In addition, we believe our battery technology may provide significant improvements in energy density compared to today’s
conventional lithium-ion batteries, as shown in the figure below.
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Benefits of Our Technology
We believe our battery technology will enable significant benefits across battery capacity, life, safety, and fast charging while minimizing cost. We believe these
benefits will provide significant value to automotive OEMs by enabling greater customer adoption of their EVs. By solving key pain-points such as 15minute fast charging, we believe our battery technology will enable the delivery of an EV experience that is significantly more competitive with fossil fuel vehicles
than what today’s EVs can achieve with conventional batteries.
Our battery technology is intended to meet the five key requirements we believe will enable mass market adoption of EVs:
•

Energy density. Our battery design is intended to significantly increase volumetric and gravimetric energy density by eliminating the carbon/silicon
anode host material found in conventional lithium-ion cells. This increased energy density will enable EV manufacturers to increase range without
increasing the size and weight of the battery pack, or to reduce the size and weight of the battery pack which will reduce the cost of the battery pack and
other parts of the vehicle. For example, we estimate that our solid-state battery cells will enable a car maker to increase the range of a luxury
performance EV—with 350 liters of available battery space—from 250 miles (400 km) to 450 miles (730 km) without increasing the size and weight of
the battery pack. In the same example, our battery would enable the car maker to increase the maximum power output of such a vehicle from 420 kW to
650 kW without increasing the size of the battery pack. Alternatively, we believe that our solid-state battery cells will enable a car maker to increase the
range of a mass market sedan—with 160 liters of available battery space—from 123 miles (200km) to 233 miles (375km) without increasing the size
and weight of the battery pack. Similarly, our battery would enable the car maker to increase the maximum power output of such vehicle from 100 kW
to 150 kW without increasing the size of the battery pack.

•

Battery life. Our technology is expected to enable increased battery life relative to conventional lithium-ion batteries. In a conventional cell, battery life
is limited by the gradual irreversible loss of lithium due to side reactions between the liquid electrolyte and the anode. By eliminating the anode host
material, we expect to eliminate the side reaction and enable longer battery life. Our latest single-layer prototype cells have been tested to over 1000
cycles (under stringent test conditions, including 100% depth-of-discharge cycles at one-hour charge and discharge rates at 30 degrees Celsius with
commercial-loading cathodes) while still retaining over 80% of the cells’ discharge capacity. This performance exceeds the cycle life and capacity
retention in many EV battery warranties today, which may be to 150k miles to 70% of the cells’ discharge capacity.

•

Fast charging capability. Our battery technology, and specifically our solid-state separator material, has been tested to demonstrate the ability to charge
to approximately 80% in 15 minutes, significantly faster than commonly used high-energy EV batteries on the market. In these conventional EV
batteries, the limiting factor for charge rate is the rate of diffusion of lithium ions into the anode. If a conventional battery is charged beyond these
limits, lithium can start plating on carbon particles of the anode rather than diffuse into the carbon particles. This causes a reaction between the plated
lithium and liquid electrolyte
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which reduces cell capacity and increases the risk of dendrites that can short circuit the cell. With a lithium-metal anode, using our solid-state separator,
we expect the lithium can be plated as fast as the cathode can deliver it.
•

Increased safety. Our solid-state battery cell uses a ceramic separator which is not combustible and is therefore safer than conventional polymer
separators. This ceramic separator is also capable of withstanding temperatures considerably higher than those that would melt conventional polymer
separators, providing an additional measure of safety. In high temperature tests of our solid-state separator material with lithium, the separator material
remained stable in direct contact with molten lithium without releasing heat externally, even when heated up to 250 degrees, higher than the 180degree melting point of lithium.

•

Cost. Our battery technology eliminates the anode host material and the associated manufacturing costs, providing a structural cost advantage compared
to traditional lithium-ion batteries. When comparing manufacturing facilities of similar scale, we estimate that eliminating these costs will provide a
savings of approximately 17% compared to the costs of building traditional lithium-ion batteries at leading manufacturers.

Our Competitive Strengths
Only proven lithium-metal battery technology for automotive applications to our knowledge. We have built and tested over one hundred thousand single-layer
solid-state cells and have demonstrated that our technology meets automotive requirements for power, cycle life, and temperature range. In 2018, Volkswagen
announced it had successfully tested certain of our single-layer, laboratory battery cells at automotive rates of power.
Partnership with one of the world’s largest automotive OEMs. We are partnered with Volkswagen, one of the largest automakers in the world. Volkswagen has
been a collaboration partner and major investor since 2012 and has invested or committed to invest, subject, in certain cases, to certain closing conditions that have
not yet been satisfied, a total of more than $300 million. In addition, Volkswagen has committed additional capital to fund our joint venture. Volkswagen plans to
launch more than 70 new electric models and build more than 25 million vehicles on electric platforms by the end of the decade. Together with Volkswagen, we
have established a joint venture to enable an industrial level of production of our solid-state batteries for use in Volkswagen vehicles. As 50-50 partners in the joint
venture with Volkswagen, we expect to share equally in the revenue and profit from the joint venture.
High barriers to entry with extensive patent and intellectual property portfolio. Over the course of 10 years, we have generated more than 200 U.S. and foreign
patents and patent applications – including broad fundamental patents around our core technology. Our proprietary solid-state separator uses the only material we
know of that can cycle lithium at automotive current densities without forming dendrites. Our battery technology is protected by a range of patents, including
patents that cover:
•

Composition of matter, including the optimal composition as well as wide-ranging coverage of a number of variations;

•

Enabling battery technology covering compositions and methods required to incorporate a solid-state separator into a battery;

•

Manufacturing technology, protecting the way to make the separator at scale using roll-to-roll processes, without semiconductor style production or
batch processes used in traditional ceramics; and

•

Material dimensions, including our proprietary solid-state separator, covering any separator with commercially practical thicknesses for a solid-state
battery.

Significant development focused on next-gen technology for automotive applications. We have spent over ten years and over $300 million developing our battery
technology. We have run over 2.6 million tests on over 700,000 cells and cell components. Our technical team comprises more than 250 employees, many of
whom have worked at large battery manufacturers and automotive OEMs. Through its experience, our team has significant technical know-how and is supported
by extensive facilities and equipment, development infrastructure, and data analytics.
Designed for volume production. Our technology is designed to use earth-abundant materials and processes suitable for high volume production. Our processes
use tools which are already used at scale in the battery or ceramics industries. While preparing for scale production, we have purchased or tested production-intent
tools from the world’s leading vendors. In particular, we expect to produce our proprietary separator using scalable continuous processing. Although our separator
material is proprietary, the inputs are readily available and can be sourced from multiple suppliers across geographies.
Structural cost advantage leveraging industry cost trends. Aside from the separator, our battery is being designed to use many of the materials and processes that
are standard across today’s battery manufacturers. As a result, we expect to benefit from the projected industry-wide cost declines for these materials that result
from process improvements and economies of scale. We believe that the manufacturing of our solid-state battery cells provides us with a structural cost advantage
because our battery cells are manufactured without an anode.
Our Growth Strategy
Continue to develop our commercial battery technology. We will continue developing our battery technology with the goal of enabling commercial production in
2024. We have validated capabilities of our solid-state separator and battery technology in single-layer solid-state cells at the commercially required size
(70x85mm) and four-layer solid-state battery cells at a smaller size (30x30mm). We must
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now develop multi-layer cells with commercial dimensions and many more layers, to continue improving yield and performance and to optimize all components of
the cell for high volume manufacturing . We will continue to work to further develop and validate the volume manufacturing processes to enable high volume
manufacturing and minimize manufacturing costs. We will continue to work on increasing the yield of our separators to reduce scrappage and to increase
utilization of manufacturing tools. Our current funds will enable us to expand and accelerate research and development activities and undertake additional
initiatives. Finally, we will continue to use our engineering line in San Jose, California to prepare for high volume manufacturing and plan our first commercial
production Pilot Facility through our joint venture partnership with Volkswagen. In addition, we expect that our recently announced QS-0 facility will help provide
the additional capacity we need for our development work and will enable us to accelerate work on the next-generation of manufacturing tools. QS-0 is also
intended to provide capacity to make enough batteries for hundreds of long-range battery electric test vehicles per year. This will allow us to provide early cells to
Volkswagen, as well as other automotive partners, explore non-automotive applications, and help de-risk subsequent commercial scale-up. We expect to secure a
long-term lease for QS-0 in the second half of this year and for QS-0 to be producing cells by 2023.
Meet Volkswagen battery demand. The Pilot Facility to be built and run by QSV Operations LLC (“QSV”) and the subsequent 20GWh expansion of the Pilot
Facility (the “20GWh Expansion Facility”) would represent a small fraction of Volkswagen’s demand for batteries and implies vehicle volumes under 2% of
Volkswagen’s total production in 2019, assuming a 100KWh pack size. Our goal is to significantly expand the production capacity of the joint venture, in
partnership with Volkswagen, to meet more of their projected demand.
Expand partnerships with other automotive OEMs. While we expect Volkswagen will be the first to commercialize vehicles using our battery technology, over
the next few years as we build our Pilot Facility, we intend to work closely with other automotive OEMs to make our solid-state battery cells widely available over
time. As part of our joint venture agreement we have agreed that the Pilot Facility will be the first commercial-scale facility to manufacture our battery technology
for automotive applications, but, subject to the other terms of the joint venture arrangements, we are not limited from working in parallel with other automotive
OEMs to commercialize our technology. We expect that QS-0 will allow us to provide early cells to Volkswagen, as well as other automotive partners, explore
non-automotive applications, and help de-risk subsequent commercial scale-up.
Expand target markets. We are currently focused on automotive EV applications, which have the most stringent set of requirements for batteries. However, we
recognize that our solid-state battery technology has applicability in other large and growing markets including stationary storage and consumer electronics such as
smartphones and wearables.
Expand commercialization models. Our technology is being designed to enable a variety of business models. In addition to joint ventures, such as the one with
Volkswagen, we may operate solely-owned manufacturing facilities or license technology to other manufacturers, such as our recently announced QS-0 facility
that is planned for the San Jose area. Where appropriate, we may build and sell separators rather than complete battery cells.
Continued investment in next-gen battery innovation. We intend to continue to invest in research and development to improve battery cell performance, improve
manufacturing processes, and reduce cost.
Manufacturing and Supply
Our battery manufacturing process is being designed to be very similar to that of conventional lithium-ion battery manufacturing, with a few exceptions:
•

We use a proprietary separator material instead of the polypropylene separator used in lithium-ion cells.

•

Our architecture eliminates the need for anode manufacturing, reducing capital investment and lowering operating costs.

•

We will build our multi-layer cells by sequentially stacking separators, cathodes and current collectors rather than winding these materials together.

•

Our cell design allows us to greatly shorten the weeks-long aging process required for conventional lithium-ion cells, thus decreasing manufacturing
cycle time and reducing working capital needs.

Our architecture depends on our proprietary separator, which we will manufacture ourselves. Though our separator design is unique, its manufacturing relies on
well-established, high-volume production processes currently deployed globally in other industries.
We plan to source our input materials from industry leading suppliers to the lithium-ion battery industry, and we already have strategic relationships in place with
the industry’s leading vendors of cathode material, the most critical purchased input to our cell, along with leading vendors of other less critical inputs. Our
separator is made from abundant materials produced at industrial scale in multiple geographies. We do not anticipate any unique supply constraints that would
impede the commercialization of our product for the foreseeable future.
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Partnerships
Volkswagen Collaboration
QuantumScape has had a strong collaborative relationship with Volkswagen since 2012. Our collaboration initially focused on the testing and evaluation of
QuantumScape’s battery technology. Volkswagen engineers worked closely with our engineering team and oversaw the progress on our technology development
efforts and battery testing. Volkswagen has made several rounds of equity investments in QuantumScape, and senior executives of Volkswagen joined our board of
directors (the “Board”), including two successive heads of group research for the Volkswagen Group. During the early part of this collaboration we worked closely
with members of Volkswagen’s global research and development team, and now the QuantumScape team works closely with the Volkswagen Battery Center of
Excellence, which is tasked with commercializing battery technologies within Volkswagen. The Head of Volkswagen’s Battery Center of Excellence, Frank
Blome, and the Head of Volkswagen Group M&A, Investment Advisory, and Partnerships, Jens Wiese, are members of the Board.
Joint Venture Relationship
In June 2018, we formed a 50-50 joint venture entity with Volkswagen, named QSV, to facilitate the commercialization of our solid-state battery technology and
enable Volkswagen to be the first automotive OEM to utilize this technology. In 2018, the parties collectively made an initial equity investment in the joint venture
of approximately $3 million. Upon the occurrence of certain development milestones and subject to the entry by QuantumScape, Volkswagen and QSV into certain
related agreements, QuantumScape and Volkswagen have agreed to commit additional capital on a 50-50 basis to QSV to fund the buildout of the Pilot Facility and
the 20GWh Expansion Facility. As 50-50 partners in the joint venture with Volkswagen, we expect to share equally in the revenue and profit from the joint
venture, including from the Pilot Facility and the 20GWh Expansion Facility.
The joint venture agreements were amended in 2020 in connection with a further $200 million investment commitment by Volkswagen in QuantumScape (subject
to certain closing conditions). $100 million of this equity investment by Volkswagen was paid on December 1, 2020 and the second $100 million equity investment
is subject to completion of a certain technical milestone by the end of the first quarter of 2021. As part of the first tranche of this equity investment, Volkswagen
has the right to increase its representation on the Board from one member to two members. As of January 13, 2021, Volkswagen had two members on the Board.
The joint venture agreements provide for the commercialization of our solid-state battery cells to occur in two phases. The first phase is the construction of the
Pilot Facility with an annual capacity of 1GWh. QSV will begin construction of the Pilot Facility when certain delivery and validation milestones are met for our
solid-state battery cells. The second phase is the 20GWh Expansion Facility.
We believe the joint venture structure will enable Volkswagen to benefit from early access to our solid-state battery cells, but also protect our intellectual
property. For example, certain key battery technology will continue to be owned by us and will be provided to the joint
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venture through a limited license for purposes of the Pilot Facility. The parties will agree on the license terms for a high-volume manufacturing facility for this
battery technology license. The joint venture terminates upon the earliest to occur of (i) Volkswagen exercising specified put rights in the event of, amongst others,
(a) a change of control of QuantumScape, or (b) the failure by us to meet specified development milestones within certain timeframes, (ii) QuantumScape or
Volkswagen exercising specified call or put rights in the event of, amongst others, if the parties cannot agree to commercial terms for the Pilot Facility or 20GWh
Expansion Facility within certain timeframes, (iii) a certain date after commencement of production of a Volkswagen series production vehicle using our battery
cells (or an alternative end date if no such production was commenced after certain technical milestones with respect to our battery cell technology were reached)
and (iv) December 31, 2028.
Volkswagen committed to purchase a certain portion of the output capacity of the Pilot Facility at a price for the solid-state battery cells that is comparable to
those of lithium-ion batteries, but with a premium for the outperformance of these battery cells based on certain key technical parameters. We will sell separators to
the joint venture at a price to be agreed by the parties based on the provisions of the joint venture agreements. The joint venture agreements provide the framework
for the commercial relationship. At the appropriate time, the parties will negotiate agreements covering the details of these purchase commitments.
The 20GWh Expansion Facility is subject to meeting additional technical milestones and agreement on commercial terms, including pricing for the battery cells,
agreement on the terms of purchase or license for the separators, and agreement on terms of the license to our battery technology for the 20GWh Expansion
Facility. As 50-50 partners in the joint venture with Volkswagen, we expect to share equally in the capital contributions required for the 20GWh Expansion Facility
and in the revenue and profit from the 20GWh Expansion Facility. We have agreed that the pricing for the battery cells sold by the 20GWh Expansion Facility and
the separators purchased by the 20GWh Expansion Facility may be different from the pricing set for the Pilot Facility, and we will need to agree on pricing at the
appropriate time. In addition, we will need to agree to the terms of the license to our battery technology.
Volkswagen is expected to have a significant role in the manufacturing ramp-up of QSV, and we have agreed that certain technology that is developed by QSV
will be owned by the joint venture and licensed to each of QuantumScape and Volkswagen on a royalty-free basis. None of this intellectual property has been
developed to date. Although the parties have not commenced operations on the Pilot Facility, Volkswagen has offered to assist us with supply
chain, manufacturing ramp-up planning, and automation. In addition, the parties have collaborated on enabling us to develop stronger relationships with battery
component supply companies, such as cathode manufacturers and equipment supply companies.
Research and Development
We conduct research and development at our headquarters facility in San Jose, California. Research and development activities concentrate on making further
improvements to our battery technology, including improvements to battery performance and cost.
Our research and development currently includes programs for the following areas:
•

Multi-layering. To date, we have only produced single-layer solid-state cells at the commercially required size (70x85mm) and four-layer solid-state
cells at a smaller size (30x30mm). In order to produce commercially-viable solid-state battery cells for automotive applications, we must produce multilayer battery cells which may range from several dozen to over one hundred layers, depending on our customers’ requirements, and to do so in the
commercially required size. We will need substantial development and to overcome the challenges in creating these cells and implement the appropriate
cell design for our solid-state battery cell.

•

Improved yields. We are focused on improving the yields (useful output) of both our solid-state separators and our battery cells. We are automating our
manufacturing process and purchasing larger-scale manufacturing equipment. We will need to significantly increase our yield before we can
manufacture our solid-state battery cells in volume.

•

Continued improvement in the solid-state separator. We are working to improve the reliability and performance of our solid-state separator, including
decreasing the thickness. We have selected a method of continuous processing found at scale in both the battery and ceramic industries and are working
on continuous improvement of this process. In addition, we are investigating alternative processing methods that may further increase the capital
efficiency of the process.

•

Continued improvement of the cathode. Our cathodes use a combination of conventional cathode active materials (NMC) along with an organic gel
made of an organic polymer and organic liquid catholyte. In the future, we may use other cathode active materials, including cobalt-free
compositions. We have an ongoing research and development investigation into inorganic catholyte that could replace the organic gel made of an
organic polymer and organic liquid currently used.

•

Integration of advanced cathode materials. We plan to benefit from industry cathode chemistry improvements and/or cost reduction. Our solid-state
separator platform is being designed to enable some of the most promising next-generation cathode technologies, including high voltage or high capacity
cathode active materials, which when combined with a lithium-metal anode, may further increase cell energy densities.
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Intellectual Property
The success of our business and technology leadership is supported by our proprietary battery technology. We rely upon a combination of patent, trademark and
trade secret laws in the United States and other jurisdictions, as well as license agreements and other contractual protections, to establish, maintain and enforce
rights in our proprietary technologies. In addition, we seek to protect our intellectual property rights through nondisclosure and invention assignment agreements
with our employees and consultants and through non-disclosure agreements with business partners and other third parties. We regularly file applications for patents
and have a significant number of patents in the United States and other countries where we expect to do business. Our patent portfolio is deepest in the area of
solid-state separators with additional areas of strength in anodes, next-generation cathode materials, and cell, module, and pack design specific to lithium-metal
batteries. Our trade secrets primarily cover manufacturing methods.
As of December 31, 2020, we owned or licensed, on an exclusive basis, 80 issued U.S. patents and 40 pending or allowed U.S. patent applications, and 103 granted
foreign patents and patent applications. We have 1 registered U.S. trademark and 6 pending U.S. trademark applications. Our issued patents start expiring in 2033.
Competition
The EV market, and the battery segment in particular, is evolving and highly competitive. With the introduction of new technologies and the potential entry of new
competitors into the market, we expect competition to increase in the future, which could harm our business, results of operations, or financial condition.
Our prospective competitors include major manufacturers currently supplying the industry, automotive OEMs and potential new entrants to the industry. Major
companies now supplying batteries for the EV industry include Panasonic Corporation, Samsung SDI, Contemporary Amperex Technology Co. Limited, and LGChem Ltd. They supply conventional lithium-ion batteries and in many cases are seeking to develop solid-state batteries, including potentially lithium-metal
batteries. In addition, because of the importance of electrification, most automotive OEMs are researching and investing in solid-state battery efforts and, in some
cases, in battery development and production. For example, Tesla, Inc. is building multiple battery gigafactories and potentially could supply batteries to other
automotive OEMs, and Toyota Motors and a Japanese consortium have a multi-year initiative pursuing solid-state batteries.
A number of development-stage companies are also seeking to improve conventional lithium-ion batteries or to develop new technologies for solid-state batteries,
including lithium-metal batteries. Potential new entrants are seeking to develop new technologies for cathodes, anodes, electrolytes and additives. Some of these
companies have established relationships with automotive OEMs and are in varying stages of development.
We believe our ability to compete successfully with lithium-ion battery manufacturers and with other companies seeking to develop solid-state batteries will
depend on a number of factors including battery price, safety, energy density, charge rate and cycle life, and on non-technical factors such as brand, established
customer relationships and financial and manufacturing resources.
Many of the incumbents have, and future entrants may have, greater resources than we have and may also be able to devote greater resources to the development of
their current and future technologies. They may also have greater access to larger potential customer bases and have and may continue to establish cooperative or
strategic relationships amongst themselves or with third parties (including automotive OEMs) that may further enhance their resources and offerings.
Government Regulation and Compliance
There are government regulations pertaining to battery safety, transportation of batteries, use of batteries in cars, factory safety, and disposal of hazardous
materials. We will ultimately have to comply with these regulations to sell our batteries into the market. The license and sale of our batteries abroad is likely to be
subject to export controls in the future.
Employees
We pride ourselves on the quality of our world-class team and seek to hire only employees dedicated to our strategic mission. Many of our employees have
significant experience working with large battery manufacturers and automotive OEMS. As of December 31, 2020, we employed 276 full-time employees and 10
temporary employees, based primarily in our headquarters in San Jose, California. Over 250 of our employees are engaged in research and development and related
functions, and more than half of these employees hold engineering and scientific degrees, including many from the world’s top universities.
We seek team members who want to help solve a significant problem that will positively impact the world. We value diversity and recognize the importance of
fostering a positive, inclusive culture. As such, we have actively taken steps towards eliminating unconscious bias in our hiring and promotion processes while
enabling us to add and promote team members who demonstrate behaviors aligned with our values.
We are committed to maintaining equitable compensation programs including equity participation. We offer market-competitive salaries and strong equity
compensation aimed at attracting and retaining team members capable of making exceptional contributions to our success. Our compensation decisions are guided
by the external market, role criticality, and the contributions of each team member.
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To date, we have not experienced any work stoppages and we consider our relationship with our employees to be good. None of our employees are either
represented by a labor union or are subject to a collective bargaining agreement.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors.
The following summary risk factors and other information included in this Report should be carefully considered. The summary risks and uncertainties described
below are not the only ones we face. Additional risks and uncertainties not currently known to us or that we currently deem less significant may also affect our
business operations or financial results. If any of the following risks actually occur, our stock price, business, operating results and financial condition could be
materially adversely affected. For more information, see below for more detailed descriptions of each risk factor.
•

We face significant challenges in our attempt to develop a solid-state battery cell and produce it at high volumes with acceptable performance, yields
and costs.

•

The pace of development in materials science is often not predictable. Delays or failures in accomplishing particular development objectives may delay
or prevent successful commercialization of our products.

•

We may not be able to establish supply relationships for necessary materials, components or equipment or may be required to pay more than anticipated
for components or equipment, which could delay the introduction of our product and negatively impact our business.

•

Our relationship with Volkswagen is subject to various risks which could adversely affect our business and future prospects. There are no assurances
that we will be able to commercialize solid-state batteries from our joint development relationship with Volkswagen.

•

If our batteries fail to perform as expected, our ability to develop, market and sell our batteries could be harmed.

•

We may not succeed in attracting customers during the development stage or for high volume commercial production, and our future growth and success
depend on our ability to attract customers.

•

We may be unable to adequately control the costs associated with our operations and the components necessary to build our solid-state battery cells, and,
if we are unable to control these costs and achieve cost advantages in our production of our solid-state battery cells at scale, our business will be
adversely affected.

•

We rely heavily on our intellectual property portfolio. If we are unable to protect our intellectual property rights, our business and competitive position
would be harmed.

•

We may need to defend ourselves against intellectual property infringement claims or other litigation, which may be time-consuming and could cause us
to incur substantial costs.

•

We may not be able to accurately estimate the future supply and demand for our batteries, which could result in a variety of inefficiencies in our
business and hinder our ability to generate revenue. If we fail to accurately predict our manufacturing requirements, we could incur additional costs or
experience delays.

•

The battery market continues to evolve, is highly competitive, and we may not be successful in competing in this industry or establishing and
maintaining confidence in our long-term business prospects among current and future partners and customers.

•

The trading price of our Class A Common Stock has been and may in the future continue to be subject to extreme volatility.

•

We have had to restate our previously issued financial statements and in connection with such process, identified a material weakness in our internal
control over financial reporting.

The following risk factors apply to our business and operations. These risk factors are not exhaustive, and investors are encouraged to perform their own
investigation with respect to our business, financial condition and prospects. We may face additional risks and uncertainties that are not presently known to us, or
that we currently deem immaterial, which may also impair our business. The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the financial statements and
notes to the financial statements included elsewhere in this Report.
Risks Related to Our Technology Development and Scale-Up
We face significant challenges in our attempt to develop a solid-state battery cell and produce it at high volumes with acceptable performance, yields and costs.
The pace of development in materials science is often not predictable. Delays or failures in accomplishing particular development objectives may delay or
prevent successful commercialization of our products.
Developing lithium-metal solid-state batteries that meet the requirements for wide adoption by automotive OEMs is a difficult undertaking and, as far as we are
aware, has never been done before. We are still in development stage and face significant challenges in completing development of our multi-layer battery cells
and in producing battery cells in commercial volumes. Some of the development challenges that could prevent the introduction of our solid-state battery cell
include difficulties with increasing the volume, yield, reliability and uniformity of our separators and cells, increasing the size and layer count of our multi-layer
cells, increasing manufacturing to produce the volume of cells needed for our technology development and customer applications, installing, bringing
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up and optimizing higher volume manufacturing equipment, packaging design and engineering to ensure adequate cycle life, cost reduction, completion of the
rigorous and challenging specifications required by our automotive partners, including but not limited to, calendar life, mechanical testing, and abuse testing and
development of the final manufacturing processes.
Our solid-state separators are in the development stage. These separators have never been used before for battery applications (or to our knowledge, for any other
applications) and there are significant yield, cost, performance and manufacturing process challenges to be solved in order for the separators to be produced and
used commercially. We are likely to encounter engineering challenges as we increase the dimensions, reduce the thickness and increase the volume of our solidstate separators. If we are not able to overcome these barriers in developing and producing its solid-state separators at commercial volumes, our business could fail.
To achieve target energy density, we need to stack our single-layer solid-state cells in a multi-layer format, which is enclosed within a single battery package.
Depending upon our customer’s requirements, our battery cell may require dozens of single-layer cells within each battery package. We have tested 4-layer cells
that measure 30x30mm, and recently initiated testing 4-layer cells that measure 70x85mm, but we must make multi-layer cells in a commercial form factor
(70x85mm) with dozens of layers and do so at a high yield without compromising performance, and while solving related packaging challenges in a way that is
scalable and low-cost. There are significant engineering and mechanical challenges that we must overcome to build our multi-layer battery cells. In addition, we
will need to acquire certain tools that we currently do not possess and develop the manufacturing process necessary to make these multi-layer battery cells in high
volume. If we are not able to overcome these developmental hurdles in building our multi-layer cells, our business is likely to fail.
We are evaluating multiple cathode material compositions for inclusion in our solid-state battery cells and have not yet finalized the cathode composition or
formulation. We also have not validated that the current cell design, with the inclusion of an organic gel made of an organic polymer and organic liquid catholyte
as part of the cathode, meets all automotive requirements. We have not yet validated a manufacturing process or acquired the tools necessary to produce high
volumes of our cathode material that meets all commercial requirements. If we are not able to overcome these developmental and manufacturing hurdles our
business likely will fail.
Even if we complete development and achieve volume production of our solid-state battery, if the cost, performance characteristics or other specifications of the
battery fall short of our targets, our sales, product pricing and margins would likely be adversely affected.
In addition, we must advance our manufacturing processes to include more automation, such as automated stackers, and to use higher volume tools and processes,
such as moving to larger continuous flow equipment. We may encounter delays or unexpected challenges in the delivery, installation and operation of the new
equipment. Further, we must build QS-0 to produce engineering samples or prototype cells in the high volumes needed for our development work and to supply to
prospective customers for testing. Such a project could encounter significant delays and cost overruns. We must substantially improve our manufacturing processes
to increase yield and throughput to achieve the cost, performance and volume levels required for commercial shipments. In addition, our multi-layer battery cells
must simultaneously satisfy all of the commercial requirements of our customers.
Any delay in the development or manufacturing scale-up of our solid-state battery cells would negatively impact our business as it will delay time to revenue and
negatively impact our customer relationships. Additionally, we may encounter delays in obtaining the necessary regulatory approvals or launching our solid-state
battery on the market, including delays in entering into agreements for the supply of component parts and manufacturing tools and supplies. Delays in the
launching of our product would materially damage our business, prospects, financial condition, operating results and brand.
We may not be able to establish supply relationships for necessary materials, components or equipment or may be required to pay more than anticipated for
components or equipment, which could delay the introduction of our product and negatively impact our business.
We rely on third-party suppliers for components and equipment necessary to develop and manufacture our solid-state batteries, including key supplies, such as our
cathode material and manufacturing tools for both our separator and solid-state battery cells. We are collaborating with key suppliers but have not yet entered into
agreements for the supply of production quantities of these materials. To the extent that we are unable to enter into commercial agreements with these suppliers on
beneficial terms, or these suppliers experience difficulties ramping up their supply of materials to meet our requirements, the introduction of our battery will be
delayed. To the extent our suppliers experience any delays in providing or developing the necessary materials, we could experience delays in delivering on our
timelines.
We expect to incur significant costs related to procuring materials required to manufacture and assemble our batteries. We expect to use various materials in our
batteries that will require us to negotiate purchase agreements and delivery lead-times on advantageous terms. We may not be able to control fluctuation in the
prices for these materials or negotiate agreement with suppliers on terms that are beneficial to us. Our business depends on the continued supply of certain
proprietary materials for our products. We are exposed to multiple risks relating to the availability and pricing of such materials and components. Substantial
increases in the prices for our raw materials or components would increase our operating costs and negatively impact our prospects.
Any disruption in the supply of components, equipment or materials could temporarily disrupt research and development activities or production of our batteries
until an alternative supplier is able to supply the required material. Changes in business conditions, unforeseen circumstances, governmental changes, and other
factors beyond our control or which we do not presently anticipate, could also affect
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our suppliers’ ability to deliver components or equipment to us on a timely basis. Any of the foregoing could materially and adversely affect our results of
operations, financial condition and prospects.
Currency fluctuations, trade barriers, tariffs or shortages and other general economic or political conditions may limit our ability to obtain key components or
equipment for our solid-state batteries or significantly increase freight charges, raw material costs and other expenses associated with our business, which could
further materially and adversely affect our results of operations, financial condition and prospects.
We may be unable to adequately control the costs associated with our operations and the components necessary to build our solid-state battery cells, and, if we
are unable to control these costs and achieve cost advantages in our production of our solid-state battery cells at scale, our business will be adversely affected.
We require significant capital to develop and grow our business and expects to incur significant expenses, including those relating to research and development,
raw material procurement, leases, sales and distribution as we build our brand and market our batteries, and general and administrative costs as we scale our
operations. Our ability to become profitable in the future will not only depend on our ability to successfully market our solid-state batteries and services, but also to
control our costs and achieve the target cost projections that we have, including our projected 17% cost advantage when compared to the costs of building
traditional lithium-ion batteries at scale. If we are unable to cost efficiently design, manufacture, market, sell and distribute our solid-state batteries and services,
our margins, profitability and prospects would be materially and adversely affected. We have not yet produced any solid-state battery cells at the commercial size
or in volume and our forecasted cost advantage for the production of these cells at scale, compared to conventional lithium-ion cells, will require us to achieve rates
of throughput, use of electricity and consumables, yield, and rate of automation demonstrated for mature battery, battery material, and ceramic manufacturing
processes, that we have not yet achieved. If we are unable to achieve these targeted rates, our business will be adversely impacted. In particular, while we have
estimated that eliminating the anode host material and the associated manufacturing costs will provide a savings in production at scale of approximately 17%
compared to the costs of building traditional lithium-ion batteries at leading manufacturers, that estimate is subject to numerous assumptions and uncertainties. To
achieve those savings we will need to achieve significant cost savings in battery design and manufacturing, in addition to the cost savings associated with the
elimination of an anode from our solid-state battery cells, while controlling costs associated with the manufacture of our solid-state separator, including achieving
substantial improvements in throughput and yield required to hit commercial targets. Further, we will need to capture industry cost savings in the materials,
components, equipment, and processes that we share, notably in the cathode, cell design, and factory. We cannot be certain that we will achieve these cost savings
or that future efficiency improvements in lithium-ion battery manufacturing will not reduce or eliminate these estimated cost savings.
We rely on complex machinery for our operations, and production involves a significant degree of risk and uncertainty in terms of operational performance
and costs.
We rely heavily on complex machinery for our operations and the production of our solid-state battery cells, and this equipment has not yet been qualified to
operate at large-scale manufacturing. The work required to integrate this equipment into the production of our solid-state battery cells is time intensive and requires
us to work closely with the equipment provider to ensure that it works properly for our unique battery technology. This integration work will involve a significant
degree of uncertainty and risk and may result in the delay in the scaling up of production or result in additional cost to our battery cells.
Both our pilot manufacturing facilities and our large-scale manufacturing facility will require large-scale machinery. Such machinery is likely to suffer unexpected
malfunctions from time to time and will require repairs and spare parts to resume operations, which may not be available when needed. Unexpected malfunctions
of our production equipment may significantly affect the intended operational efficiency. In addition, because this equipment has not been used to build solid-state
battery cells, the operational performance and costs associated with this equipment can be difficult to predict and may be influenced by factors outside of our
control, such as, but not limited to, failures by suppliers to deliver necessary components of our products in a timely manner and at prices and volumes acceptable
to us, environmental hazards and remediation, difficulty or delays in obtaining governmental permits, damages or defects in systems, industrial accidents, fires,
seismic activity and other natural disasters.
Operational problems with our manufacturing equipment could result in the personal injury to or death of workers, the loss of production equipment, damage to
manufacturing facilities, monetary losses, delays and unanticipated fluctuations in production. In addition, operational problems may result in environmental
damage, administrative fines, increased insurance costs and potential legal liabilities. All of these operational problems could have a material adverse effect on our
business, results of operations, cash flows, financial condition or prospects.
Customer Risks and Risks Related to Our Partnership with Volkswagen
Our relationship with Volkswagen is subject to various risks which could adversely affect our business and future prospects. There are no assurances that we
will be able to commercialize solid-state batteries from our joint development relationship with Volkswagen.
We and Volkswagen have formed a joint venture to collaborate on the manufacturing ramp up of our solid-state battery cell.
There is no assurance that we will be able to complete the development of the solid-state battery cells in the time frame required by the joint venture arrangements.
If we do not complete this development in a timely manner, Volkswagen may terminate its participation in
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the joint venture. Our joint venture arrangements with Volkswagen provide a framework for our cooperation and requires that we and Volkswagen enter into
certain additional arrangements regarding the purchase by the joint venture of solid-state separators from us, the purchase and pricing of the solid-state battery cells
that will be produced by the joint venture and sold to Volkswagen, and the terms for licensing our technology to the joint venture. There can be no assurance that
we will be able to agree with Volkswagen on these key elements on terms that are financially beneficial for us or that we will be able to enter into the additional
arrangements, including any purchase orders, with Volkswagen for commercialization under the joint venture arrangements.
The commercial terms of the purchase by Volkswagen of the output of the joint venture will depend on the performance of our solid-state battery and the demand
for the vehicles that Volkswagen develops to utilize the solid-state battery cells that will be produced by the joint venture. If we cannot complete the development
of our solid-state battery cells, Volkswagen does not select our solid-state battery cell for commercialization or if there is a delay in the introduction of the
Volkswagen vehicles that intend to use our solid-state battery cells, our business will be harmed.
The strong relationship that we have developed with Volkswagen and rights under the joint venture agreement may deter other automotive OEMs from working
closely with us. If we are not able to expand our other customer relationships, or if we become too dependent on Volkswagen for our revenue, our business could
be harmed.
Volkswagen may have economic, business or legal interests or goals that are inconsistent with our goals. Any significant disagreements with Volkswagen may
impede our ability to maximize the benefits of our partnerships and slow the commercialization of our solid-state battery. Our joint venture arrangements may
require us, among other things, to pay certain costs or to make certain capital investments or to seek Volkswagen’s consent to take certain actions. In addition, if
Volkswagen is unable or unwilling to meet its economic or other obligations under the joint venture arrangements, we may be required to either fulfill those
obligations alone to ensure the ongoing success of the joint venture or to dissolve and liquidate the joint venture. These factors could result in a material adverse
effect on our business and financial results.
If our batteries fail to perform as expected, our ability to develop, market, and sell our batteries could be harmed.
Once commercial production of our solid-state battery cells commences, our batteries may contain defects in design and manufacture that may cause them to not
perform as expected or that may require repairs, recalls, and design changes. Our batteries are inherently complex and incorporate technology and components that
have not been used for other applications and that may contain defects and errors, particularly when first introduced. We have a limited frame of reference from
which to evaluate the long-term performance of our solid-state batteries. There can be no assurance that we will be able to detect and fix any defects in our solidstate batteries prior to the sale to potential consumers. If our batteries fail to perform as expected, we could lose design wins and customers may delay deliveries,
terminate further orders or initiate product recalls, each of which could adversely affect our sales and brand and could adversely affect our business, prospects, and
results of operations.
We may not succeed in attracting customers during the development stage or for high volume commercial production, and our future growth and success
depend on our ability to attract customers.
We may not succeed in attracting customers during the development stage or for high volume commercial production. For example, we may be unsuccessful at
attracting additional customers for QS-0, in which case we may have excess capacity. In addition, if we are unable to attract new customers in need of high-volume
commercial production of our products, our business may suffer.
Many of our potential customers tend to be large enterprises. Therefore, our future success will depend on our ability to effectively sell our products to such large
customers. Sales to these end-customers involve risks that may not be present (or that are present to a lesser extent) with sales to smaller customers. These risks
include, but are not limited to, (i) increased purchasing power and leverage held by large customers in negotiating contractual arrangements with us and (ii) longer
sales cycles and the associated risk that substantial time and resources may be spent on a potential end-customer that elects not to purchase our solutions.
Our potential customers that are large organizations often undertake a significant evaluation process that results in a lengthy sales cycle. In addition, product
purchases by large organizations are frequently subject to budget constraints, multiple approvals and unanticipated administrative, processing and other delays.
Finally, large organizations typically have longer implementation cycles, require greater product functionality and scalability, require a broader range of services,
demand that vendors take on a larger share of risks, require acceptance provisions that can lead to a delay in revenue recognition and expect greater payment
flexibility. All of these factors can add further risk to business conducted with these potential customers.
If the Put or Call Rights under our joint venture agreements with Volkswagen are exercised, it may have an adverse effect on our liquidity or our stockholders’
ownership could be diluted.
The joint venture structure we agreed to with Volkswagen is intended, in part, to protect our intellectual property. Certain key battery technology will continue to
be owned by us and will be provided to the joint venture through a limited license for purposes of QS-1. We and Volkswagen still need to agree on the license
terms for this battery technology license for the QS-1 Expansion. The joint venture terminates upon the earliest to occur of (i) Volkswagen exercising specified put
rights in the event of, amongst others, (a) a change of control of our company, or (b) the failure by us to meet specified development milestones within certain
timeframes, (ii) us exercising specified call rights or Volkswagen exercising specified put rights if, among other things, the parties cannot agree to commercial
terms
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for QS-1 or QS-1 Expansion within certain timeframes, (iii) a certain date after commencement of production of a Volkswagen series production vehicle using our
battery cells (or an alternative end date if no such production was commenced after certain technical milestones with respect to our battery cell technology were
reached) and (iv) December 31, 2028.
We may not have sufficient funds, borrowing capacity, or other capital resources available to pay for the interests of Volkswagen in cash if it exercises its put
rights or to exercise our call rights. Such lack of available funds upon the exercising by Volkswagen of its put rights or by us of our call rights could force us to
issue stock at a time we might not otherwise desire to do so in order to purchase the interests of Volkswagen. If we are required or choose to purchase those
interests from Volkswagen, we could experience significant cash outflow, our other stockholders could see their holdings diluted through the issuance of shares to
finance such payment obligations, and our financial condition and the price of our Class A Common Stock may be adversely affected.
We may not be able to accurately estimate the future supply and demand for our batteries, which could result in a variety of inefficiencies in our business and
hinder our ability to generate revenue. If we fail to accurately predict our manufacturing requirements, we could incur additional costs or experience delays.
It is difficult to predict our future revenues and appropriately budget for our expenses, and we may have limited insight into trends that may emerge and affect our
business. We anticipate being required to provide forecasts of our demand to our current and future suppliers prior to the scheduled delivery of products to
potential customers. Currently, there is no historical basis for making judgments on the demand for our batteries or our ability to develop, manufacture, and deliver
batteries, or our profitability in the future. If we overestimate our requirements, our suppliers may have excess inventory, which indirectly would increase our
costs. If we underestimate our requirements, our suppliers may have inadequate inventory, which could interrupt manufacturing of our products and result in delays
in shipments and revenues. In addition, lead times for materials and components that our suppliers order may vary significantly and depend on factors such as the
specific supplier, contract terms and demand for each component at a given time. If we fail to order sufficient quantities of product components in a timely manner,
the delivery of batteries to our potential customers could be delayed, which would harm our business, financial condition and operating results.
Our future growth and success are dependent upon consumers’ willingness to adopt EVs.
Our growth and future demand for our products is highly dependent upon the adoption by consumers of alternative fuel vehicles in general and EVs in particular.
The market for new energy vehicles is still rapidly evolving, characterized by rapidly changing technologies, competitive pricing and competitive factors, evolving
government regulation and industry standards, and changing consumer demands and behaviors. If the market for EVs in general does not develop as expected, or
develops more slowly than expected, our business, prospects, financial condition and operating results could be harmed.
Concentration of ownership among Volkswagen and our executive officers, directors and their affiliates may prevent new investors from influencing
significant corporate decisions.
As of April 29, 2021, Volkswagen beneficially owns approximately 26% of our Class A Common Stock and 12% of our Class B Common Stock outstanding,
representing 14% of the vote, and our executive officers, directors and their affiliates as a group beneficially own approximately 35% of our Class A Common
Stock and 63% of our Class B Common Stock outstanding, representing 60% of the vote. As a result, these stockholders will be able to exercise a significant level
of control over all matters requiring stockholder approval, including the election of directors, any amendment of our amended and restated certificate of
incorporation (the “Certificate of Incorporation”) and approval of significant corporate transactions. In addition, Volkswagen holds the right to designate two
directors to our Board. This control could have the effect of delaying or preventing a change of control or changes in our management and will make the approval
of certain transactions difficult or impossible without the support of these stockholders and of their votes.
Our Intellectual Property Risks
We rely heavily on our intellectual property portfolio. If we are unable to protect our intellectual property rights, our business and competitive position would
be harmed.
We may not be able to prevent unauthorized use of our intellectual property, which could harm our business and competitive position. We rely upon a combination
of the intellectual property protections afforded by patent, copyright, trademark and trade secret laws in the United States and other jurisdictions, as well as license
agreements and other contractual protections, to establish, maintain and enforce rights in our proprietary technologies. In addition, we seek to protect our
intellectual property rights through nondisclosure and invention assignment agreements with our employees and consultants, and through nondisclosure agreements with business partners and other third parties. Despite our efforts to protect our proprietary rights, third parties, including our business
partners, may attempt to copy or otherwise obtain and use our intellectual property without our consent. Monitoring unauthorized use of our intellectual property is
difficult and costly, and the steps we have taken or will take to prevent misappropriation may not be sufficient. Any enforcement efforts we undertake, including
litigation, could be time-consuming and expensive and could divert management’s attention, which could harm our business, results of operations and financial
condition. In addition, existing intellectual property laws and contractual remedies may afford less protection than needed to safeguard our intellectual property
portfolio.
Patent, copyright, trademark and trade secret laws vary significantly throughout the world. A number of foreign countries do not protect intellectual property rights
to the same extent as do the laws of the United States. Therefore, our intellectual property rights may not be
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as strong or as easily enforced outside of the United States and efforts to protect against the unauthorized use of our intellectual property rights, technology and
other proprietary rights may be more expensive and difficult outside of the United States. Failure to adequately protect our intellectual property rights could result
in our competitors using our intellectual property to offer products, potentially resulting in the loss of some of our competitive advantage and a decrease in our
revenue which, would adversely affect our business, prospects, financial condition and operating results.
We may need to defend ourselves against intellectual property infringement claims, which may be time-consuming and could cause us to incur substantial
costs.
Companies, organizations or individuals, including our current and future competitors, may hold or obtain patents, trademarks or other proprietary rights that
would prevent, limit or interfere with our ability to make, use, develop or sell our products, which could make it more difficult for us to operate our business. From
time to time, we may receive inquiries from third parties inquiring whether we are infringing their intellectual property rights and/or seek court declarations that
they do not infringe upon our intellectual property rights. Companies holding patents or other intellectual property rights relating to batteries, electric motors or
electronic power management systems may bring suits alleging infringement of such rights or otherwise asserting their rights and seeking licenses. In addition, if
we are determined to have infringed upon a third party’s intellectual property rights, we may be required to do one or more of the following:
•

cease selling, incorporating or using products that incorporate the challenged intellectual property;

•

pay substantial damages;

•

obtain a license from the holder of the infringed intellectual property right, which license may not be available on reasonable terms or at all; or

•

redesign our batteries.

In the event of a successful claim of infringement against us and our failure or inability to obtain a license to the infringed technology on reasonable terms, our
business, prospects, operating results and financial condition could be materially adversely affected. In addition, any litigation or claims, whether or not wellfounded, could result in substantial costs and diversion of resources and management’s attention.
We also license patents and other intellectual property from third parties, and we may face claims that our use of this intellectual property infringes the rights of
others. In such cases, we may seek indemnification from our licensors under our license contracts with them. However, our rights to indemnification may be
unavailable or insufficient to cover our costs and losses, depending on our use of the technology, whether we choose to retain control over conduct of the litigation,
and other factors.
Our patent applications may not result in issued patents or our patent rights may be contested, circumvented, invalidated or limited in scope, any of which
could have a material adverse effect on our ability to prevent others from interfering with our commercialization of our products.
Our patent applications may not result in issued patents, which may have a material adverse effect on our ability to prevent others from commercially exploiting
products similar to ours. The status of patents involves complex legal and factual questions and the breadth of claims allowed is uncertain. As a result, we cannot
be certain that the patent applications that we file will result in patents being issued, or that our patents and any patents that may be issued to us will afford
protection against competitors with similar technology. Numerous patents and pending patent applications owned by others exist in the fields in which we have
developed and are developing our technology. Any of our existing or pending patents may be challenged by others on the basis that they are invalid or
unenforceable. Furthermore, patent applications filed in foreign countries are subject to laws, rules and procedures that differ from those of the United States, and
thus we cannot be certain that foreign patent applications related to issued U.S. patents will be issued.
Even if our patent applications succeed and we are issued patents in accordance with them, we are still uncertain whether these patents will be contested,
circumvented, invalidated or limited in scope in the future. The rights granted under any issued patents may not provide us with meaningful protection or
competitive advantages, and some foreign countries provide significantly less effective patent enforcement than in the United States. In addition, the claims under
any patents that issue from our patent applications may not be broad enough to prevent others from developing technologies that are similar or that achieve results
similar to ours. The intellectual property rights of others could also bar us from licensing and exploiting any patents that issue from our pending applications. In
addition, patents issued to us may be infringed upon or designed around by others and others may obtain patents that we need to license or design around, either of
which would increase costs and may adversely affect our business, prospects, financial condition and operating results.
Our Business Risks
The battery market continues to evolve, is highly competitive, and we may not be successful in competing in this industry or establishing and maintaining
confidence in our long-term business prospects among current and future partners and customers.
The battery market in which we compete continues to evolve and is highly competitive. To date, we have focused our efforts on our lithium-metal solid-state
battery technology, which is being designed to outperform conventional lithium-ion battery technology. However, lithium-ion battery technology has been widely
adopted and our current competitors have, and future competitors may have, greater resources than we do and may also be able to devote greater resources to the
development of their current and future technologies.
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These competitors also may have greater access to customers and may be able to establish cooperative or strategic relationships amongst themselves or with third
parties that may further enhance their resources and competitive positioning. In addition, lithium-ion battery manufacturers may continue to reduce cost and
expand supply of conventional batteries and therefore reduce the prospects for our business or negatively impact the ability for us to sell our products at a marketcompetitive price and yet at sufficient margins.
Many automotive OEMs are researching and investing in solid-state battery efforts and, in some cases, in battery development and production. There are a number
of companies seeking to develop alternative approaches to solid-state battery technology, including lithium-metal batteries. We expect competition in battery
technology and EVs to intensify due to increased demand for these vehicles and a regulatory push for EVs, continuing globalization, and consolidation in the
worldwide automotive industry. Developments in alternative technologies or improvements in batteries technology made by competitors may materially adversely
affect the sales, pricing and gross margins of our batteries. If a competing technology is developed that has superior operational or price performance, our business
will be harmed. Similarly, if we fail to accurately predict and ensure that our battery technology can address customers’ changing needs or emerging technological
trends, or if our customers fail to achieve the benefits expected from our solid-state batteries, our business will be harmed.
We must continue to commit significant resources to develop our battery technology in order to establish a competitive position, and these commitments will be
made without knowing whether such investments will result in products potential customers will accept. There is no assurance we will successfully identify new
customer requirements, develop and bring our batteries to market on a timely basis, or that products and technologies developed by others will not render our
batteries obsolete or noncompetitive, any of which would adversely affect our business and operating results.
Customers will be less likely to purchase our batteries if they are not convinced that our business will succeed in the long term. Similarly, suppliers and other third
parties will be less likely to invest time and resources in developing business relationships with us if they are not convinced that our business will succeed in the
long term. Accordingly, in order to build and maintain our business, we must maintain confidence among current and future partners, customers, suppliers,
analysts, ratings agencies and other parties in our long-term financial viability and business prospects. Maintaining such confidence may be particularly
complicated by certain factors including those that are largely outside of our control, such as our limited operating history, market unfamiliarity with our products,
any delays in scaling manufacturing, delivery and service operations to meet demand, competition and uncertainty regarding the future of EVs and our eventual
production and sales performance compared with market expectations.
If we are unable to attract and retain key employees and qualified personnel, our ability to compete could be harmed.
Our success depends on our ability to attract and retain our executive officers, key employees and other qualified personnel, and our operations may be severely
disrupted if we lost their services. As we build our brand and become more well known, there is increased risk that competitors or other companies will seek to hire
our personnel. None of our employees are bound by a non-competition agreement. The failure to attract, integrate, train, motivate and retain these personnel could
seriously harm our business and prospects.
In addition, we are highly dependent on the services of Jagdeep Singh, our Chief Executive Officer, and other senior technical and management personnel,
including our executive officers, who would be difficult to replace. If Mr. Singh or other key personnel were to depart, we may not be able to successfully attract
and retain senior leadership necessary to grow our business.
We are an early stage company with a history of financial losses and expect to incur significant expenses and continuing losses for the foreseeable future.
We incurred a net loss of approximately $1,681.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 and an accumulated deficit of approximately $1,977.6 million
from our inception in 2010 through the year ended December 31, 2020. We believe that we will continue to incur operating and net losses each quarter until at least
the time we begin significant production of our lithium-metal solid-state batteries, which is not expected to occur until 2024, and may occur later.
We expect the rate at which we will incur losses to be significantly higher in future periods as we, among other things, continue to incur significant expenses in
connection with the design, development and manufacturing of our batteries; expand our research and development activities; invest in manufacturing capabilities;
build up inventories of components for our batteries; increase our sales and marketing activities; develop our distribution infrastructure; and increase our general
and administrative functions to support our growing operations. We may find that these efforts are more expensive than we currently anticipate or that these efforts
may not result in revenues, which would further increase our losses.
We have been, and may in the future be, adversely affected by the global COVID-19 pandemic.
We face various risks related to epidemics, pandemics, and other outbreaks, including the recent COVID-19 pandemic. The impact of COVID19, including changes in consumer and business behavior, pandemic fears and market downturns, and restrictions on business and individual activities, has created
significant volatility in the global economy and led to reduced economic activity. The spread of COVID-19 has also impacted our potential customers and our
suppliers by disrupting the manufacturing, delivery and overall supply chain of battery, EV and equipment manufacturers and suppliers and has led to a global
decrease in battery and EV sales in markets around the world.
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The pandemic has resulted in government authorities implementing numerous measures to try to contain the virus, such as travel bans and
restrictions, quarantines, stay-at-home or shelter-in-place orders, and business shutdowns. For example, employees at our headquarters located in San Jose,
California are subject to a stay-at-home order from the state and local governments. These measures limit operations in our San Jose headquarters and have and
may continue to adversely impact our employees, research and development activities and operations and the operations of our suppliers, vendors and business
partners, and may negatively impact our sales and marketing activities. In addition, various aspects of our business cannot be conducted remotely, including many
aspects of the development and manufacturing of our solid-state material and our battery cells. These measures by government authorities may remain in place for
a significant period of time and they are likely to continue to adversely affect our future manufacturing plans, sales and marketing activities, business and results of
operations. We may take further actions as may be required by government authorities or that we determine are in the best interests of our employees, suppliers,
vendors and business partners.
The extent to which the COVID-19 pandemic continues to impact our business, prospects and results of operations will depend on future developments, which are
highly uncertain and cannot be predicted, including the duration and spread of the pandemic, its severity, the actions to contain the virus or treat its impact, and
how quickly and to what extent normal economic and operating activities can resume. Even after the COVID-19 pandemic has subsided, we may continue to
experience an adverse impact to our business as a result of the global economic impact, including any recession that has occurred or may occur in the future.
There are no comparable recent events that may provide guidance as to the effect of the spread of COVID-19, and, as a result, the ultimate impact of the COVID19 pandemic or a similar health epidemic is highly uncertain.
Our expectations and targets regarding the times when we will achieve various technical, pre-production and production objectives depend in large part upon
assumptions and analyses developed by us. If these assumptions or analyses prove to be incorrect, we may not achieve these milestones when expected or at all.
Our expectations and targets regarding the times when we will achieve various technical, pre-production and production objectives reflect our current expectations
and estimates. Whether we will achieve these objectives when we expect depends on a number of factors, many of which are outside our control, including, but not
limited to:
•
•
•

success and timing of development activity;
unanticipated technical or manufacturing challenges or delays;
technological developments relating to lithium-ion, lithium-metal solid-state or other batteries that could adversely affect the commercial potential of
our technologies;

•
•

whether we can obtain sufficient capital to build our manufacturing facilities and sustain and grow our business;
adverse developments in our joint venture relationship with Volkswagen, including termination of the joint venture or delays in negotiating commercial
terms for QS-1 or QS-1 Expansion;

•

our ability to manage our growth;

•

whether we can manage relationships with key suppliers;

•

our ability to retain existing key management, integrate recent hires and attract, retain and motivate qualified personnel; and

•

the overall strength and stability of domestic and international economies.

Unfavorable changes in any of these or other factors, most of which are beyond our control, could materially and adversely affect our ability to achieve our
objectives when planned and our business, results of operations and financial results.
From time to time, we may be involved in litigation, regulatory actions or government investigations and inquiries, which could have an adverse impact on our
profitability and consolidated financial position.
We may be involved in a variety of litigation, other claims, suits, regulatory actions or government investigations and inquiries and commercial or contractual
disputes that, from time to time, are significant.
For example, on December 11, 2020, a putative class action lawsuit was filed in the New York State Supreme Court by a purported QuantumScape warrantholder
against the Company. We removed the case to federal court. On March 25, 2021, plaintiff amended the complaint to drop the class allegations. The amended
complaint alleges, among other things, that plaintiff was entitled to exercise his warrants within 30 days of the closing of the business combination between
QuantumScape and Kensington (the “Closing”) and that the proxy statement/prospectus/information statement dated September 21, 2020 and November 12, 2020
is misleading and/or omits material information concerning the exercise of the warrants. The complaint seeks monetary damages for alleged breach of contract,
securities law violations, fraud, and negligent misrepresentation.
On December 24, 2020, a lawsuit was filed in the New York State Supreme Court by three purported QuantumScape warrantholders against the Company. The
complaint alleges, among other things, that the plaintiffs were entitled to exercise warrants within 30 days of Closing. The complaint also alleges that the proxy
statement/prospectus/information statement dated September 21, 2020 and November 12, 2020 is misleading and/or omits material information concerning the
exercise of the warrants. The complaint generally seeks monetary damages for alleged breach of contract.
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Between January 5, 2021 and January 8, 2021, three putative class action lawsuits were filed in the Northern District of California by purported purchasers of
QuantumScape securities against the Company and its Chief Executive Officer or against the Company and certain members of management and the Board of
Directors, and VGA.
All three complaints allege that the defendants purportedly made false and/or misleading statements and failed to disclose material adverse facts about our
business, operations, and prospects, including information regarding our battery technology. One complaint alleges a purported class that includes all persons who
purchased or acquired our securities between December 8, 2020 and December 31, 2020. The other two complaints allege a purported class that includes all
persons who purchased or acquired our securities between November 27, 2020 and December 31, 2020. On April 20, 2021, the three actions were consolidated,
with the Court appointing lead plaintiff and counsel.
Two shareholder derivative suits were also filed in February 2021 against 11 officers and directors of the Company and have been consolidated into one action.
QuantumScape is the nominal defendant. The complaints in the derivative action allege that the individual defendants breached various duties to the Company and
contains additional similar allegations based on the same general allegations in the class action complaints described immediately above. VGA was also named as a
defendant in the derivative litigation.
On February 26, 2021, a former consultant submitted a demand for arbitration to JAMS, claiming that the Company breached an obligation to extend the term of
his consulting agreement. The arbitration demand seeks either 804,350 shares of QuantumScape or damages equal to the value of such shares.
In addition, from time to time, we may also be involved in legal proceedings and investigations arising in the normal course of business including, without
limitation, commercial or contractual disputes, including warranty claims and other disputes with potential customers and suppliers; intellectual property matters;
personal injury claims; environmental issues; tax matters; and employment matters.
It is difficult to predict the outcome or ultimate financial exposure, if any, represented by these matters, and there can be no assurance that any such exposure will
not be material. Such claims may also negatively affect our reputation.
We may become subject to product liability claims, which could harm our financial condition and liquidity if we are not able to successfully defend or insure
against such claims.
We may become subject to product liability claims, even those without merit, which could harm our business, prospects, operating results, and financial condition.
We face inherent risk of exposure to claims in the event our batteries do not perform as expected or malfunction resulting in personal injury or death. Our risks in
this area are particularly pronounced given our batteries have not yet been commercially tested or mass produced. A successful product liability claim against us
could require us to pay a substantial monetary award. Moreover, a product liability claim could generate substantial negative publicity about our batteries and
business and inhibit or prevent commercialization of other future battery candidates, which would have a material adverse effect on our brand, business, prospects
and operating results. Any insurance coverage might not be sufficient to cover all potential product liability claims. Any lawsuit seeking significant monetary
damages either in excess of our coverage, or outside of our coverage, may have a material adverse effect on our reputation, business and financial condition. We
may not be able to secure additional product liability insurance coverage on commercially acceptable terms or at reasonable costs when needed, particularly if we
do face liability for our products and are forced to make a claim under our policy.
Our batteries and our website, systems, and data we maintain may be subject to intentional disruption, other security incidents, or alleged violations of laws,
regulations, or other obligations relating to data handling that could result in liability and adversely impact our reputation and future sales.
We expect to face significant challenges with respect to information security and maintaining the security and integrity of our systems and other systems used in
our business, as well as with respect to the data stored on or processed by these systems. Advances in technology, an increased level of sophistication, and
expertise of hackers, and new discoveries in the field of cryptography can result in a compromise or breach of the systems used in our business or of security
measures used in our business to protect confidential information, personal information, and other data.
The availability and effectiveness of our batteries, and our ability to conduct our business and operations, depend on the continued operation of information
technology and communications systems, some of which we have yet to develop or otherwise obtain the ability to use. Systems used in our business, including data
centers and other information technology systems, will be vulnerable to damage or interruption. Such systems could also be subject to break-ins, sabotage and
intentional acts of vandalism, as well as disruptions and security incidents as a result of non-technical issues, including intentional or inadvertent acts or omissions
by employees, service providers, or others. We anticipate using outsourced service providers to help provide certain services, and any such outsourced service
providers face similar security and system disruption risks as us. Some of the systems used in our business will not be fully redundant, and our disaster recovery
planning cannot account for all eventualities. Any data security incidents or other disruptions to any data centers or other systems used in our business could result
in lengthy interruptions in our service and may adversely affect our business, prospects, financial condition and operating results.
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Our facilities or operations could be damaged or adversely affected as a result of natural disasters and other catastrophic events.
Our facilities or operations could be adversely affected by events outside of our control, such as natural disasters, wars, health epidemics such as
the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, and other calamities. We cannot assure you that any backup systems will be adequate to protect us from the effects of fire,
floods, typhoons, earthquakes, power loss, telecommunications failures, break-ins, war, riots, terrorist attacks or similar events. Any of the foregoing events may
give rise to interruptions, breakdowns, system failures, technology platform failures or internet failures, which could cause the loss or corruption of data or
malfunctions of software or hardware as well as adversely affect our ability to provide services.
Any financial or economic crisis, or perceived threat of such a crisis, including a significant decrease in consumer confidence, may materially and adversely
affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations.
In recent years, the United States and global economies suffered dramatic downturns as the result of the COVID-19 pandemic, a deterioration in the credit markets
and related financial crisis as well as a variety of other factors including, among other things, extreme volatility in security prices, severely diminished liquidity and
credit availability, ratings downgrades of certain investments and declining valuations of others. The United States and certain foreign governments have taken
unprecedented actions in an attempt to address and rectify these extreme market and economic conditions by providing liquidity and stability to the financial
markets. If the actions taken by these governments are not successful, the return of adverse economic conditions may negatively impact the demand for our solidstate battery cells and may negatively impact our ability to raise capital, if needed, on a timely basis and on acceptable terms or at all.
Our ability to utilize our net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards to offset future taxable income may be subject to certain limitations.
In general, under Section 382 of the Code, a corporation that undergoes an “ownership change” is subject to limitations on its ability to use its prechange net operating loss carryforwards (“NOLs”), to offset future taxable income. The limitations apply if a corporation undergoes an “ownership change,” which
is generally defined as a greater than 50 percentage point change (by value) in its equity ownership by certain stockholders over a three-year period. If we have
experienced an ownership change at any time since our incorporation, we may already be subject to limitations on our ability to utilize our existing NOLs and other
tax attributes to offset taxable income or tax liability. In addition future changes in our stock ownership, which may be outside of our control, may trigger an
ownership change. Similar provisions of state tax law may also apply to limit our use of accumulated state tax attributes. As a result, even if we earn net taxable
income in the future, our ability to use it or our pre-change NOL carryforwards and other tax attributes to offset such taxable income or tax liability may be subject
to limitations, which could potentially result in increased future income tax liability to us.
There is also a risk that changes in law or regulatory changes made in response to the need for some jurisdictions to raise additional revenue to help counter the
fiscal impact from the COVID-19 pandemic or for other unforeseen reasons, including suspensions on the use of net operating losses or tax credits, possibly with
retroactive effect, may result in our existing net operating losses or tax credits expiring or otherwise being unavailable to offset future income tax liabilities. A
temporary suspension of the use of certain net operating losses and tax credits has been enacted in California, and other states may enact suspensions as well.
We are subject to anti-corruption, anti-bribery, anti-money laundering, financial and economic sanctions and similar laws, and non-compliance with such
laws can subject us to administrative, civil and criminal fines and penalties, collateral consequences, remedial measures and legal expenses, all of which could
adversely affect our business, results of operations, financial condition and reputation.
We are subject to anti-corruption, anti-bribery, anti-money laundering, financial and economic sanctions and similar laws and regulations in various jurisdictions in
which we conduct or in the future may conduct activities, including the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (“FCPA”), the U.K. Bribery Act 2010, and other anticorruption laws and regulations. The FCPA and the U.K. Bribery Act 2010 prohibit us and our officers, directors, employees and business partners acting on our
behalf, including agents, from corruptly offering, promising, authorizing or providing anything of value to a “foreign official” for the purposes of influencing
official decisions or obtaining or retaining business or otherwise obtaining favorable treatment. The FCPA also requires companies to make and keep books,
records and accounts that accurately reflect transactions and dispositions of assets and to maintain a system of adequate internal accounting controls. The U.K.
Bribery Act also prohibits non-governmental “commercial” bribery and soliciting or accepting bribes. A violation of these laws or regulations could adversely
affect our business, results of operations, financial condition and reputation. Our policies and procedures designed to ensure compliance with these regulations may
not be sufficient and our directors, officers, employees, representatives, consultants, agents, and business partners could engage in improper conduct for which we
may be held responsible.
Non-compliance with anti-corruption, anti-bribery, anti-money laundering or financial and economic sanctions laws could subject us to whistleblower complaints,
adverse media coverage, investigations, and severe administrative, civil and criminal sanctions, collateral consequences, remedial measures and legal expenses, all
of which could materially and adversely affect our business, results of operations, financial condition and reputation. In addition, changes in economic sanctions
laws in the future could adversely impact our business and investments in our Class A Common Stock.
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Our insurance coverage may not be adequate to protect us from all business risks.
We may be subject, in the ordinary course of business, to losses resulting from products liability, accidents, acts of God, and other claims against us, for which we
may have no insurance coverage. As a general matter, the policies that we do have may include significant deductibles or self-insured retentions, and we cannot be
certain that our insurance coverage will be sufficient to cover all future losses or claims against us. A loss that is uninsured or which exceeds policy limits may
require us to pay substantial amounts, which could adversely affect our financial condition and operating results.
Our management has limited experience in operating a public company.
Some of our executive officers have limited experience in the management of a publicly traded company. Our management team may not successfully or
effectively manage our transition to a public company that will be subject to significant regulatory oversight and reporting obligations under federal securities laws.
Certain executives’ limited experience in dealing with the increasingly complex laws pertaining to public companies could be a significant disadvantage in that it is
likely that an increasing amount of their time may be devoted to these activities which will result in less time being devoted to the management and growth of our
Company. We may not have adequate personnel with the appropriate level of knowledge, experience, and training in the accounting policies, practices or internal
controls over financial reporting required of public companies in the United States.
We will incur significant increased expenses and administrative burdens as a public company, which could have an adverse effect on our business, financial
condition and results of operations.
We will face increased legal, accounting, administrative and other costs and expenses as a public company that we did not incur as a private company. The
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (the “Sarbanes-Oxley Act”), including the requirements of Section 404, as well as rules and regulations subsequently implemented by
the SEC, the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010 and the rules and regulations promulgated and to be promulgated thereunder,
the PCAOB and the securities exchanges, impose additional reporting and other obligations on public companies. The development and implementation of the
standards and controls necessary for us to achieve the level of accounting standards required of a public company in the United States may require costs greater
than expected. It is possible that we will be required to expand our employee base and hire additional employees to support our operations as a public company
which will increase our operating costs in future periods.
Compliance with public company requirements will increase costs and make certain activities more time-consuming. A number of those requirements will require
us to carry out activities we have not done previously. For example, we have created new Board committees and adopted new internal controls and disclosure
controls and procedures. In addition, expenses associated with SEC reporting requirements will be incurred. Furthermore, if any issues in complying with those
requirements are identified, such as our restatement of our previously issued consolidated financial statements and related material weakness as described in this
Report and as further described in the “Risks Related to Restatement of our Consolidated Financial Statements”, we have incurred and could incur additional costs
rectifying those or new issues, and the existence of these issues could adversely affect our reputation or investor perceptions of it. It will also be more expensive to
obtain director and officer liability insurance. Risks associated with our status as a public company may make it more difficult to attract and retain qualified
persons to serve on our Board or as executive officers. The additional reporting and other obligations imposed by these rules and regulations will increase legal and
financial compliance costs and the costs of related legal, accounting and administrative activities. These increased costs will require us to divert a significant
amount of money that could otherwise be used to expand the business and achieve strategic objectives. Advocacy efforts by stockholders and third parties may also
prompt additional changes in governance and reporting requirements, which could further increase costs.
If securities or industry analysts do not publish or cease publishing research or reports about us, our business, or the market in which we operate, or if they
change their recommendations regarding our securities adversely, the price and trading volume of our securities could decline.
The trading market for our securities will be influenced by the research and reports that industry or securities analysts may publish about us, our business, market
or competitors. Securities and industry analysts do not currently, and may never, publish research on us. If no securities or industry analysts commence coverage of
us, our share price and trading volume would likely be negatively impacted. If any of the analysts who may cover us change their recommendation regarding our
shares of Class A Common Stock adversely, or provide more favorable relative recommendations about our competitors, the price of our shares of Class A
Common Stock would likely decline. If any analyst who may cover us were to cease our coverage of us or fail to regularly publish reports on it, we could lose
visibility in the financial markets, which in turn could cause our share price or trading volume to decline.
Our Regulatory Risks
We are subject to substantial regulation and unfavorable changes to, or failure by us to comply with, these regulations could substantially harm our business
and operating results.
Our batteries, and the sale of EVs and motor vehicles in general, are subject to substantial regulation under international, federal, state and local laws, including
export control laws. We expect to incur significant costs in complying with these regulations. Regulations related to the battery and EV industry and alternative
energy are currently evolving and we face risks associated with changes to these regulations.
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To the extent the laws change, our products may not comply with applicable international, federal, state or local laws, which would have an adverse effect on our
business. Compliance with changing regulations could be burdensome, time consuming, and expensive. To the extent compliance with new regulations is cost
prohibitive, our business, prospects, financial condition and operating results would be adversely affected.
Internationally, there may be laws in jurisdictions we have not yet entered or laws we are unaware of in jurisdictions we have entered that may restrict our sales or
other business practices. The laws in this area can be complex, difficult to interpret and may change over time. Continued regulatory limitations and other obstacles
that may interfere with our ability to commercialize our products could have a negative and material impact on our business, prospects, financial condition and
results of operations.
We are subject to requirements relating to environmental and safety regulations and environmental remediation matters which could adversely affect our
business, results of operation and reputation.
We are subject to numerous federal, state and local environmental laws and regulations governing, among other things, solid and hazardous waste storage,
treatment and disposal, and remediation of releases of hazardous materials. There are significant capital, operating and other costs associated with compliance with
these environmental laws and regulations. Environmental laws and regulations may become more stringent in the future, which could increase costs of compliance
or require us to manufacture with alternative technologies and materials.
Federal, state and local authorities also regulate a variety of matters, including, but not limited to, health, safety and permitting in addition to the environmental
matters discussed above. New legislation and regulations may require us to make material changes to our operations, resulting in significant increases to the cost of
production.
Our manufacturing process will have hazards such as but not limited to hazardous materials, machines with moving parts, and high voltage and/or high current
electrical systems typical of large manufacturing equipment and related safety incidents. There may be safety incidents that damage machinery or product, slow or
stop production, or harm employees. Consequences may include litigation, regulation, fines, increased insurance premiums, mandates to temporarily halt
production, workers’ compensation claims, or other actions that impact our company brand, finances, or ability to operate.
Our failure to timely and effectively implement controls and procedures required by Section 404(a) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act could have a material adverse
effect on our business.
We will be required to provide management’s attestation on internal controls. The standards required for a public company under Section 404(a) of the SarbanesOxley Act are significantly more stringent than those that were required of us as a privately-held company. Management may not be able to effectively and timely
implement controls and procedures that adequately respond to the increased regulatory compliance and reporting requirements. If we are not able to implement the
additional requirements of Section 404(a) in a timely manner or with adequate compliance, we may not be able to assess whether our internal controls over
financial reporting are effective, which may subject us to adverse regulatory consequences and could harm investor confidence and the market price of our
securities.
We qualify as an “emerging growth company” within the meaning of the Securities Act, and if we take advantage of certain exemptions from disclosure
requirements available to emerging growth companies, this could make our securities less attractive to investors and may make it more difficult to compare our
performance with other public companies.
We qualify as an “emerging growth company” as defined in Section 2(a)(19) of the Securities Act, as modified by the JOBS Act. As such, we are eligible for and
intend to take advantage of certain exemptions from various reporting requirements applicable to other public companies that are not emerging growth companies
for as long as we continue to be an emerging growth company, including (i) the exemption from the auditor attestation requirements with respect to internal control
over financial reporting under Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, (ii) the exemptions from say-on-pay, say-on-frequency and say-ongolden parachute voting requirements and (iii) reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in our periodic reports and proxy statements. As a
result, the stockholders may not have access to certain information they may deem important. We will remain an emerging growth company until the earliest of
(i) the last day of the fiscal year in which the market value of the common stock that is held by non-affiliates exceeds $700 million as of June 30 of that fiscal year,
(ii) the last day of the fiscal year in which we have total annual gross revenue of $1.07 billion or more during such fiscal year (as indexed for inflation), (iii) the
date on which we have issued more than $1 billion in non-convertible debt in the prior three-year period or (iv) the last day of the fiscal year following the fifth
anniversary of the date of the first sale of units in Kensington’s initial public offering. In addition, Section 107 of the JOBS Act also provides that an emerging
growth company can take advantage of the exemption from complying with new or revised accounting standards provided in Section 7(a)(2)(B) of the Securities
Act as long as we are an emerging growth company. An emerging growth company can therefore delay the adoption of certain accounting standards until those
standards would otherwise apply to private companies. We have elected not to opt out of such extended transition period and, therefore, we may not be subject to
the same new or revised accounting standards as other public companies that are not emerging growth companies. Investors may find our Class A Common Stock
less attractive because we will rely on these exemptions, which may result in a less active trading market for our Class A Common Stock and its price may be more
volatile.
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Risks Related to Ownership of Our Common Stock and Our Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws Provisions
Our Class A Common Stock has been and may in the future continue to be subject to extreme volatility.
The trading price of our Class A Common Stock has been and may in the future continue to be subject to extreme volatility. For example, from November 27,
2020, the date our Class A Common Stock began trading on the NYSE, through March 31, 2021, our Class A Common Stock has experienced an intra-day trading
high of $132.73 per share and an intra-day trading low of $24.50 per share. At certain times during such period, the daily fluctuations in the trading price of our
Class A Common Stock were substantially greater than 10%. We cannot predict the magnitude of future fluctuations in the trading price of our Class A Common
Stock. The trading price of our Class A Common Stock may be affected by a number of factors, including events described in the risk factors set forth in this
Annual Report and in our other reports filed with the SEC from time to time, as well as our operating results, financial condition and other events or factors. Any of
the factors listed below could have a material adverse effect on your investment in our securities. Factors affecting the trading price of our securities may include:
•
•

announcements by us or our competitors regarding technical developments and levels of performance achieved by our or their battery technologies;
announcements by us regarding the timing of our production objectives, including regarding QS-0 and QS-1;

•

announcements by us or Volkswagen regarding developments in our relationship with Volkswagen;

•

our ability to bring our products and technologies to market on a timely basis, or at all;

•

our operating results or development efforts failing to meet the expectation of securities analysts or investors in a particular period;

•

actual or anticipated fluctuations in our quarterly financial results or the quarterly financial results of companies perceived to be similar to it;

•

changes in the market’s expectations about our operating results or the EV industry;

•

success of competitors actual or perceived development efforts;

•

changes in financial estimates and recommendations by securities analysts concerning the Company or the battery industry in general;

•

operating and share price performance of other companies that investors deem comparable to the Company;

•

disputes or other developments related to proprietary rights, including patents, litigation matters and our ability to obtain intellectual property protection
for our technologies;

•

changes in laws and regulations affecting our business;

•

our ability to meet compliance requirements;

•

commencement of, or involvement in, litigation involving the Company;

•

changes in our capital structure, such as future issuances of securities or the incurrence of additional debt;

•

the volume of shares of Class A Common Stock available for public sale;

•

the level of demand for our stock, including the amount of short interest in our Class A Common Stock;

•

any major change in our Board or management;

•

sales of substantial amounts of the shares of Class A Common Stock by our directors, executive officers or significant stockholders or the perception
that such sales could occur;

•

the expiration of contractual lock-up agreements with our executive officers, directors and stockholders, which we have entered into, a significant
portion of which expire in May 2021, and any future agreements we may enter into in the future from time to time; and

•

general economic and political conditions such as recessions, interest rates, fuel prices, international currency fluctuations and acts of war or terrorism.

Broad market and industry factors may materially harm the market price of our securities irrespective of our operating performance. The stock market in general,
and the NYSE in particular, have experienced price and volume fluctuations that have often been unrelated or disproportionate to the operating performance of the
particular companies affected. The trading prices and valuations of these stocks, and of our securities, may not be predictable. A loss of investor confidence in the
market for retail stocks or the stocks of other companies which investors perceive to be similar to the Company could depress our share price regardless of our
business, prospects, financial
28

conditions or results of operations. A decline in the market price of our securities also could adversely affect our ability to issue additional securities and our ability
to obtain additional financing in the future.
Following certain periods of volatility in the market price of our securities, we may become subject of securities litigation. We have experienced, and may in the
future experience additional litigation following periods of volatility. This type of litigation may result in substantial costs and a diversion of management’s
attention and resources.
Additionally, the volatility of the stock directly impacts the fair value of the Assumed Common Stock Warrants; hence, continued volatility in our stock price could
result in a corresponding volatility in the fair value of the liability associated with the Assumed Common Stock Warrants.
Short sellers may engage in manipulative activity that could drive down the market price of our Class A Common Stock.
Short selling is the practice of selling securities that the seller does not own but rather has borrowed or intends to borrow from a third party with the intention of
later buying lower priced identical securities to return to the lender. Accordingly, it is in the interest of a short seller of our Class A Common Stock for the price to
decline. Some short sellers publish, or arrange for the publication of, opinions or characterizations regarding which may create negative market momentum.
Issuers, like us, whose securities have historically had limited trading volumes and/or have been susceptible to relatively high volatility levels can be particularly
vulnerable to such short seller attacks. No assurances can be made that similar declines in the market price of our Class A Common Stock will not occur in the
future, in connection with the activities of short sellers.
Sales of substantial amounts of our Class A Common Stock in the public markets, or the perception that such sales could occur, could reduce the price that
our Class A Common Stock might otherwise attain.
Sales of a substantial number of shares of our Class A Common Stock in the public market after our March 2021 Public Offering or in connection with the
expiration of certain lock-up contractual agreements in May 2021, or the perception that such sales could occur, could adversely affect the market price of our
Class A Common Stock and may make it more difficult for you to sell your Class A Common Stock at a time and price that you deem appropriate. As of April 29,
2021, we have approximately 259,611,491 shares of Class A Common Stock and 146,362,452 shares of Class B Common Stock outstanding. All of the shares of
Class A Common Stock sold in the March 2021 Public Offering are freely tradable without restrictions or further registration under the Securities Act, except for
any shares sold to any of our “affiliates” as defined in Rule 144 under the Securities Act.
In connection with the Business Combination Agreement and the transactions contemplated by the Business Combination Agreement, certain holders of the
Company’s securities entered into a Registration Rights and Lock-Up Agreement, and certain other lock-up agreements, pursuant to which they agreed to certain
restrictions on the transfer of QuantumScape securities.
In addition, in connection with the March 2021 Public Offering, (i) we agreed that, without the prior written consent of Goldman Sachs & Co. LLC and Morgan
Stanley & Co. LLC on behalf of the underwriters and subject to certain exceptions, we will not offer, sell, or agree to sell, directly or indirectly, any Company
securities for a period of 90 days from the date of the final prospectus relating to the March 2021 Public Offering, and (ii) each of our directors and executive
officers agreed with the underwriters, subject to certain exceptions, not to dispose of or hedge any shares of our common stock or securities convertible into or
exchangeable for shares of our common stock during the period from the date of such agreement continuing through May 21, 2021, except with the prior written
consent of Goldman Sachs & Co. LLC and Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC.
Certain stockholders are entitled to require us to register shares owned by them for public sale in the United States, and we have filed a Registration Statement on
Form S-1 (Registration No. 333-251433) (the “Resale S-1”), which the SEC has previously declared effective, to register those shares. However, such Resale S-1
must be amended in connection with the restatement and the SEC will need to declare the amended Resale S-1 effective. In addition, we have filed a registration
statement to register shares reserved for future issuance under our equity compensation plans. Subject to there being effective registration statements covering the
sales of such shares, the satisfaction of applicable exercise periods and expiration of the lock-up agreements referred to above, the shares issued upon exercise of
outstanding stock options and settlement of outstanding restricted stock units will be available for immediate resale in the United States in the open market.
Purchasers of our Class A Common Stock in our March 2021 Public Offering incurred immediate and substantial dilution.
Investors who purchased Class A Common Stock in our March 2021 Public Offering paid a price per share that substantially exceeds the book value of our
tangible assets after subtracting our liabilities. This dilution is due to the substantially lower price paid by our investors who purchased shares prior to our March
2021 Public Offering as compared to the price offered to the public in our March 2021 Public Offering, and any previous exercise of stock options granted to our
service providers. In addition, as of March 31, 2021, options to purchase shares of our Class A Common Stock and warrants to purchase shares of our Class A
Common Stock were outstanding, as set forth elsewhere in this Report and the exercise of any of these options or warrants would result in additional dilution. As a
result of this dilution, investors who purchased shares in our March 2021 Public Offering may receive less than the purchase price they paid in our March 2021
Public Offering, if anything, in the event of our liquidation.
We have broad discretion in the use of the net proceeds from our March 2021 Public Offering and may not use them effectively.
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Our management has broad discretion in the application of the net proceeds from our March 2021 Public Offering, including to provide sufficient funding to build
the larger version of QS-0, to fund QS-0 operating expenses, to fund our share of the equity portion of the joint venture’s costs of building the QS-1 Expansion, net
of debt intended to be incurred by the joint venture, and for working capital and general corporate purposes, and we may spend or invest these proceeds in a way
with which our stockholders disagree. Because of the number and variability of factors that will determine our use of the net proceeds from our March 2021 Public
Offering, our ultimate use of such proceeds may vary substantially from our currently intended use.
The failure by our management to apply these proceeds effectively could harm our business, and we may invest such proceeds in a manner that does not produce
income or that loses value, which may negatively impact the market price of our common stock.
Our business model of manufacturing solid-state batteries is capital-intensive, and we may not be able to raise additional capital on attractive terms, if at all,
which could be dilutive to stockholders. If we cannot raise additional capital when needed, our operations and prospects could be materially and adversely
affected.
The development, design, manufacture and sale of batteries is a capital-intensive business, which we currently finance through joint venture arrangements and
other third-party financings. As a result of the capital-intensive nature of our business, we can be expected to continue to sustain substantial operating expenses
without generating sufficient revenues to cover expenditures. Over time, we expect that we will need to raise additional funds, including through entry into new or
extending existing joint venture arrangements, through the issuance of equity, equity-related or debt securities or through obtaining credit from financial
institutions to fund, together with our principal sources of liquidity, ongoing costs such as research and development relating to our batteries, the construction of
large factories, any significant unplanned or accelerated expenses, and new strategic investments. We cannot be certain that additional capital will be available on
attractive terms, if at all, when needed, which could be dilutive to stockholders, and our financial condition, results of operations, business and prospects could be
materially and adversely affected.
The dual class structure of our Common Stock has the effect of concentrating voting control with the current holders of Class B Common Stock. This will limit
or preclude the ability of other stockholders to influence corporate matters, including the outcome of important transactions, including a change in control.
Shares of Class B Common Stock have 10 votes per share, while shares of Class A Common Stock have one vote per share. Although no one holder or group of
holders has control of more than 30% of the voting power of our capital stock, as of April 29, 2021 the holders of the Class B Common Stock control
approximately 84% of the voting power of our capital stock and therefore collectively control matters submitted to our stockholders for approval, including the
election of directors, amendments of our organizational documents and any merger, consolidation, sale of all or substantially all of our assets or other major
corporate transactions. Even though these holders are not party to any agreement that requires them to vote together, they may have interests that differ from yours
and may vote in a way with which you disagree and which may be adverse to your interests. This concentrated control may have the effect of delaying, preventing
or deterring a change in control of us, could deprive our stockholders of an opportunity to receive a premium for their capital stock as part of a sale of us, and
might ultimately affect the market price of shares of our Class A Common Stock.
Anti-takeover provisions in our Certificate of Incorporation, Bylaws and Delaware law could make an acquisition of us more difficult, limit attempts by our
stockholders to replace or remove our management and limit the market price of our Class A Common Stock.
The Certificate of Incorporation, amended and restated Bylaws (the “Bylaws”) and Delaware law contain provisions which could have the effect of rendering more
difficult, delaying or preventing an acquisition deemed undesirable by our Board. These provisions include:
•

authorizing “blank check” preferred stock, which could be issued by our Board without stockholder approval and may contain voting, liquidation,
dividend and other rights superior to the Common Stock;

•

limiting the liability of, and providing indemnification to, our directors and officers;

•

prohibiting cumulative voting in the election of directors;

•

providing that vacancies on our Board may be filled only by majority of directors then in office of our Board, even though less than a quorum;

•

prohibiting the ability of our stockholders to call special meetings;

•

establishing an advance notice procedure for stockholder proposals to be brought before an annual meeting, including proposed nominations of persons
for election to our Board;

•

requiring that, once there are no longer any outstanding shares of the Class B Common Stock, any action to be taken by our stockholders be effected at a
duly called annual or special meeting and not by written consent;

•

specifying that special meetings of our stockholders can be called only by a majority of our Board, the chair of our Board, or our Chief Executive
Officer;
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•

requiring that, once there are no longer any outstanding shares of Class B Common Stock, the approval of holders of at least two-thirds of the
outstanding voting securities to amend the Bylaws and certain provisions of the Certificate of Incorporation; and

•

reflecting two classes of Common Stock.

These provisions may frustrate or prevent any attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our current management by making it more difficult for
stockholders to replace members of our Board, which is responsible for appointing the members of our management. In addition, because we are incorporated in
Delaware, we are governed by the provisions of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law (“DGCL”), which generally prohibits a Delaware
corporation from engaging in any of a broad range of business combinations with any “interested” stockholder for a period of three years following the date on
which the stockholder became an “interested” stockholder.
Our Bylaws provide, subject to limited exceptions, that the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware and the federal district courts of the United States will
be the sole and exclusive forum for certain stockholder litigation matters, which could limit our stockholders’ ability to obtain a chosen judicial forum for
disputes with us or our directors, officers, employees or stockholders.
Our Bylaws provide that, unless otherwise consented to by us in writing, the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware (or, if the Court of Chancery does not
have jurisdiction, another State court in Delaware or the federal district court for the District of Delaware) shall, to the fullest extent permitted by law, be the sole
and exclusive forum for the following types of actions or proceedings: (i) any derivative action or proceeding brought on behalf of the Company; (ii) any action
asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by, or otherwise wrongdoing by, any of our directors, officers, or other employees to us or our stockholders;
(iii) any action arising pursuant to any provision of the DGCL or the Certificate of Incorporation or the Bylaws; (iv) any action to interpret, apply, enforce or
determine the validity of the Certificate of Incorporation or the Bylaws; or (v) any other action asserting a claim that is governed by the internal affairs doctrine, in
all cases subject to the court having jurisdiction over indispensable parties named as defendants. This provision would not apply to suits brought to enforce a duty
or liability created by the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or any other claim for which the U.S. federal courts have exclusive jurisdiction. The
Bylaws further provide that, unless otherwise consented to by the Company in writing, the federal district courts of the United States will be the sole and exclusive
forum for the resolution of any complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act.
Any person or entity purchasing or otherwise acquiring any interest in our securities shall be deemed to have notice of and consented to this provision. This choice
of forum provision may limit a stockholder’s ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum of its choosing for disputes with the Company or any of our directors,
officers, other employees or stockholders, which may discourage lawsuits with respect to such claims. There is uncertainty as to whether a court would enforce
such provisions, and the enforceability of similar choice of forum provisions in other companies’ charter documents has been challenged in legal proceedings. It is
possible that a court could find these types of provisions to be inapplicable or unenforceable, and if a court were to find the choice of forum provision contained in
the Bylaws to be inapplicable or unenforceable in an action, we may incur additional costs associated with resolving such action in other jurisdictions, which could
harm our business, operating results and financial condition.
Our dual class structure may depress the trading price of the Class A Common Stock.
We cannot predict whether our dual class structure will result in a lower or more volatile market price of the Class A Common Stock or in adverse publicity or
other adverse consequences. For example, certain index providers have announced restrictions on including companies with multiple-class share structures in
certain of their indexes. S&P Dow Jones and FTSE Russell have announced changes to their eligibility criteria for inclusion of shares of public companies on
certain indices, including the S&P 500, pursuant to which companies with multiple classes of shares of common stock are excluded. In addition, several
stockholder advisory firms have announced their opposition to the use of multiple class structures. As a result, the dual class structure of our Common Stock may
cause stockholder advisory firms to publish negative commentary about our corporate governance practices or otherwise seek to cause us to change our capital
structure. Any such exclusion from indices or any actions or publications by stockholder advisory firms critical of our corporate governance practices or capital
structure could adversely affect the value and trading market of the Class A Common Stock.
We do not expect to declare any dividends in the foreseeable future.
We do not anticipate declaring any cash dividends to holders of our Common Stock in the foreseeable future. Consequently, investors may need to rely on sales of
their shares after price appreciation, which may never occur, as the only way to realize any future gains on their investment.
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There can be no assurance that we will be able to comply with the continued listing standards of the NYSE.
In connection with the Closing, we listed our Class A Common Stock and Public Warrants on the NYSE under the symbols “QS” and “QS.WS”, respectively. If
the NYSE delists our securities from trading on its exchange for failure to meet the listing standards and we are not able to list such securities on another national
securities exchange, we expect such securities could be quoted on an over-the-counter market. If this were to occur, we and our stockholders could face significant
material adverse consequences including:
•

a limited availability of market quotations for our securities;

•

reduced liquidity for our securities;

•

a limited amount of news and analyst coverage; and

•

a decreased ability to issue additional securities or obtain additional financing in the future.

Risks Related to Our Assumed Common Stock Warrants
We may redeem unexpired Assumed Common Stock Warrants prior to their exercise at a time that is disadvantageous to Warrantholders.
The Public Warrants are currently exercisable for one share of Class A Common Stock at a price of $11.50 per share. We have the ability to redeem outstanding
warrants at any time starting July 30, 2021 for the Public Warrants and prior to their expiration, at a price of $0.01 per warrant, provided that the last reported sales
price of Class A Common Stock equals or exceeds $18.00 per share for any 20 trading days within a 30-trading day period ending on the third trading day prior to
the date we send the notice of redemption to warrantholders and provided certain other conditions are met. None of the Private Placement Warrants will be
redeemable by us on such terms so long as they are held by the Sponsor or its permitted transferees. If and when the warrants become redeemable by us, we may
exercise our redemption rights even if we are unable to register or qualify the underlying securities for sale under all applicable state securities laws. As a result, we
may redeem the warrants as set forth above even if the holders are otherwise unable to exercise the warrants. Redemption of the outstanding warrants could force
warrantholders (i) to exercise their warrants and pay the exercise price therefor at a time when it may be disadvantageous for them to do so, (ii) to sell their
warrants at the then-current market price when they might otherwise wish to hold their warrants or (iii) to accept the nominal redemption price which, at the time
the outstanding warrants are called for redemption, we expect would be substantially less than the market value of their warrants.
In addition, we have the ability to redeem outstanding Assumed Common Stock Warrants starting September 28, 2021 for $0.10 per warrant upon a minimum of
30 days’ prior written notice of redemption provided that holders will be able to exercise their warrants prior to redemption for a number of Class A Common
Stock determined based on the redemption date and the fair market value of Class A Common Stock and provided certain other conditions are met. We would
redeem the warrants in this manner when we believe it is in our best interest to update our capital structure to remove the warrants and pay fair market value to the
warrantholders. We can also redeem the warrants for Class A Common Stock when the Class A Common Stock is trading at a price starting at $10.00, which is
below the exercise price of $11.50, because it will provide certainty with respect to our capital structure and cash position while providing our warrantholders with
fair market value in the form of shares of our Class A Common Stock. If we choose to redeem our warrants when the Class A Common Stock is trading at a price
below the exercise price of our warrants, this could result in our warrantholders receiving fewer shares of our Class A Common Stock than they would have
received if they had chosen to wait to exercise their warrants for shares of Class A Common Stock if and when the Class A Common Stock trades at a price higher
than the exercise price of $11.50. Any such redemption may have similar consequences to a cash redemption described above. In addition, such redemption may
occur at a time when our warrants are “out-of-the-money,” in which case they would lose any potential embedded value from a subsequent increase in the value of
the Class A Common Stock had their warrants remained outstanding. Finally, this redemption feature provides a ceiling to the value of their Warrants since it locks
in the redemption price in the number of Class A Common Stock to be received if we choose to redeem the warrants for Class A Common Stock.
Risks Related to Restatement of Our Consolidated Financial Statements
We have had to restate our previously issued consolidated financial statements and as part of that process have identified a material weakness in our internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2020. If we are unable to develop and maintain an effective system of internal control over financial
reporting, we may not be able to accurately report our financial results in a timely manner, which may adversely affect investor confidence in us and
materially and adversely affect our business and operating results.
On April 28, 2021, after consultation with Ernst & Young, our Audit Committee and management concluded that, in light of the Staff Statement, it was appropriate
to restate our previously issued consolidated financial statements as of and for the period ended December 31, 2020. As part of the restatement process, we have
identified a material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting.
A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting such that there is a reasonable possibility that a
material misstatement of our annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. Effective internal controls
are necessary for us to provide reliable financial reports and prevent fraud. We continue to evaluate steps to remediate the material weaknesses. These remediation
measures may be time consuming and costly and there is no assurance that these initiatives will ultimately have the intended effects.
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If we identify any new material weaknesses in the future, any such newly identified material weakness could limit our ability to prevent or detect a misstatement
of our accounts or disclosures that could result in a material misstatement of our annual or interim financial statements. In such case, we may be unable to maintain
compliance with securities law requirements regarding timely filing of periodic reports in addition to applicable stock exchange listing requirements, investors may
lose confidence in our financial reporting and our stock price may decline as a result. We cannot assure you that the measures we have taken to date, or any
measures we may take in the future, will be sufficient to avoid potential future material weaknesses.
We may face litigation and other risks as a result of the restatement and material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting.
As part of the restatement, we identified material weaknesses in our internal controls over financial reporting. As a result of such material weakness, the
restatement, the change in accounting for the Assumed Common Stock Warrants, and other matters raised or that may in the future be raised by the SEC, we face
potential for litigation or other disputes which may include, among others, claims invoking the federal and state securities laws, contractual claims or other claims
arising from the Restatement and the material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting and the preparation of our financial statements. As of the
date of this Report, we have no knowledge of any such litigation or dispute. However, we can provide no assurance that such litigation or dispute will not arise in
the future. Any such litigation or dispute, whether successful or not, could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial
condition.
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Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.
None.
Item 2. Properties.
Our corporate headquarters is in San Jose, California, where we lease approximately 87,125 square feet under a lease that expires in January 2023. Most of the
facility is used for our research and development and prototype manufacturing. We are seeking to lease an additional facility of approximately 200,000 square feet
in order to install a pre-pilot production line to increase production for internal engineering and customer samples. In addition, in order to accommodate growth,
including anticipated growth associated with our joint venture activities with Volkswagen, we will need to seek additional facilities in the future.
Item 3. Legal Proceedings.
Information regarding legal proceedings is available in Item 1A: Risk Factors.
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.
Not applicable.
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PART II
Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.
Market Information
Our Class A Common Stock and Public Warrants are listed on NYSE under the symbols “QS” and “QS.WS”, respectively. Our Class B Common Stock is neither
listed nor traded.
Holders
As of February 16, 2021, there were 86 holders of record of our shares of Class A Common Stock and 40 holders of record of our shares of Class B Common
Stock. The actual number of stockholders of our Common Stock is greater than this number of record holders and includes stockholders who are beneficial owners
but whose shares of common stock are held in street name by banks, brokers and other nominees. There were 20 holders of record of approximately 18,149,989
warrants, each exercisable for one share of Class A Common Stock at a price of $11.50 per share.
Recent Sales of Unregistered Equity Securities
None other than as set forth in the Form 8-K filed with the SEC on December 2, 2020.
Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
None.
Item 6. Selected Financial Data.
Not applicable.
Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.
On November 25, 2020, Kensington acquired us. The Business Combination was accounted for as a reverse recapitalization in accordance with U.S. GAAP. Under
this method of accounting, Kensington was treated as the “acquired” company for financial reporting purposes. Except as otherwise provided herein, our financial
statement presentation includes (1) the results of Legacy QuantumScape and its consolidated subsidiaries as our accounting predecessor for periods prior to the
completion of the Business Combination, and (2) the results of the Company (including the consolidation of Legacy QuantumScape and its subsidiaries) for
periods after the completion of the Business Combination.
The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with our audited consolidated financial statement the related notes appearing elsewhere in this
Report. This discussion may contain forward-looking statements based upon current expectations that involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results may differ
materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of various factors, including those set forth in the section titled “Risk Factors” as
set forth in this Report. Unless the context otherwise requires, references in this “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations” to “Legacy QuantumScape”, “the Company”, “we”, “us” and “our” refer to the business and operations of Legacy QuantumScape and its consolidated
subsidiaries prior to the Business Combination and to QuantumScape Corporation and its consolidated subsidiaries, following the closing of the Business
Combination.
Restatement of Previously Issued Consolidated Financial Statements
This Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations has been amended and restated to give effect to the restatement and
revision of our consolidated financial statements as more fully described in the Explanatory Note and in “Note 4—Restatement of Consolidated Financial
Statements” to our accompanying consolidated financial statements. For further detail regarding the restatement adjustments, see Explanatory Note and Item 9A:
Controls and Procedures, both contained herein.
Overview
We are developing next generation battery technology for EVs and other applications. We believe that our technology will enable a new category of battery that
meets the requirements for broader market adoption. The lithium-metal solid-state battery technology that we are developing is being designed to offer greater
energy density, longer life, faster charging, and greater safety when compared to today’s conventional lithium-ion batteries.
We are a development stage company with no revenue to date, have incurred a net loss of approximately $1,681.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2020
and an accumulated deficit of approximately $1,977.6 million from our inception through December 31, 2020. A significant portion of the net loss incurred during
the year ended December 31, 2020 is associated with the non-cash fair value adjustment of the Legacy QuantumScape preferred stock tranche liabilities of $999.9
million and the non-cash fair value adjustment of the Assumed Common Stock Warrants of $581.9 million.
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Key Trends, Opportunities and Uncertainties
We are a pre-revenue company; we believe that our performance and future success depend on several factors that present significant opportunities for us but also
pose significant risks and challenges, including those discussed below and in the section titled “Risk Factors” appearing elsewhere in this Report.
Product Development
We are developing our battery technology with the goal of enabling commercial production in 2024. We have validated capabilities of our solid-state separator and
battery technology in single-layer solid-state cells. We are now working to develop multi-layer cells, to continue improving yield and performance and to optimize
all components of the cell.
We have described our research and development programs to make further improvements to our battery technology, including improvements to battery
performance and cost under the “Research and Development” section in Item 1 above. Major remaining development activities include, but are not limited to:
•

Multi-layering. To date, we have only produced single-layer solid-state cells at the commercially required size (70x85mm) and four-layer cells at a
smaller size (30x30mm). In order to produce commercially-viable solid-state battery cells, we must produce battery cells which may require from
several dozen to over one hundred layers, depending on our customers’ requirements, and to do so in the commercially required size. We will need
substantial development and to overcome the challenges in creating these cells and implement the appropriate cell design for our solid-state battery cell.

•

Continued improvement in the solid-state separator. We are working to improve the reliability and performance of our solid-state separator, including
decreasing the thickness.

•

Integration of advanced cathode materials. We benefit from industry cathode chemistry improvements and/or cost reduction. Our solid-state separator
platform is being designed to enable some of the most promising next-generation cathode technologies, including high voltage or high capacity cathode
active materials.

Our team of over 275 scientists, engineers, technicians, and other staff is highly motivated and committed to solving these challenges ahead. However, any delays
in the completion of these tasks will require additional cash use and delay market entry. As we grow our team, size of engineering pilot line, and materials
consumption, the rate of cash utilization as a function of time will also increase significantly.
Process Development
Our architecture depends on our proprietary solid-state ceramic separator which we will manufacture ourselves. Though our separator’s design is unique, its
manufacturing relies on well-established, high-volume production processes currently deployed globally in other industries at large scale.
The solid-state separator is being designed to enable our ‘anode-free’ architecture. As manufactured, the cell has no anode; the lithium-metal anode is formed
during the first charge of the cell; 100% of the lithium that forms the anode comes from the cathode material we purchase. Eliminating the anode bill of materials
and associated manufacturing costs found in conventional lithium-ion cells could result in a meaningful cost of goods sold advantage for us. In addition, our solidstate battery cell is being designed to reduce the time and capital-intensity of the formation process step as compared to conventional lithium-ion manufacturing.
We are focused on both the continued expansion of the throughput and capability of our San Jose engineering line and QS-0 as well as the planning and execution
of our initial Pilot Facility for our first commercial manufacturing facility.
Continued expansion of the throughput and capability of our San Jose engineering line and QS-0 serves two purposes. First, the engineering line and QS-0 provides
a sufficient quantity of solid-state separators and cells for internal development and for customer sampling. And second, our San Jose engineering line provides the
basis for continued manufacturing process development and helps inform tool selection and specifications for equipment for our Pilot Facility. Delays in the
successful buildout of our San Jose engineering line may impact both our development and the Pilot Facility timelines.
Capturing our forecasted cost advantage at scale as compared to conventional lithium-ion cells will require our team to continue process development to achieve
rates of throughput, use of electricity and consumables, yield, and rate of automation demonstrated of mature battery, battery material, and ceramic manufacturing
processes. Notably, heat treatment of ceramic parts is a process step in ceramic manufacturing critical to both quality and product cost. We believe achieving
required process cost advances is possible; our processes are designed around tools which are already used at scale in the battery or ceramics industries. In
addition, we are investigating alternative processing methods that may further increase the capital efficiency of the process. However, delay or failure on these
fronts, and in particular with respect to ceramic heat treatment, would result in a higher cost of goods sold, which may limit our ability to profitably sell our
batteries.
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Commercialization and Market Focus
As noted above, we will continue developing our battery technology with the goal of enabling commercial production in 2024; we have validated the performance
capabilities of our solid-state separator and battery technology in single-layer solid-state cells at the commercially required size (70x85mm) and four-layer solidstate battery cells at a smaller size (30x30mm); and are now working to develop multi-layer cells at the commercially required size, to continue improving yield
and performance and to optimize all components of the cell. We will continue to work to further develop and validate the volume manufacturing processes to
enable high volume manufacturing and minimize manufacturing costs. We will continue to work on increasing the yield of our separators to reduce scrappage and
to increase utilization of manufacturing tools. The funds available to us will enable us to expand and accelerate research and development activities and undertake
additional initiatives. Finally, we will continue to use and expand on our engineering line in San Jose, California to prepare for high volume manufacturing and
plan our first commercial production Pilot Facility through our joint venture partnership with Volkswagen, including the recently announced planned expansion
into our QS-0 facility.
The joint venture partnership with Volkswagen is described in the section titled “Business” and the sub-section titled “Joint Venture Relationship” appearing
elsewhere in this Report. The Pilot Facility to be built and run by QSV, the joint venture between us and Volkswagen and the 20GWh expansion of the Pilot
Facility (the “20GWh Expansion Facility”) would represent a small fraction of Volkswagen’s demand for batteries and implies vehicle volumes under 2% of
Volkswagen’s total production in 2019, assuming a 100KWh pack size. Our goal is to significantly expand the production capacity of the joint venture, in
partnership with Volkswagen, to meet more of their projected demand. While we expect Volkswagen will be the first to commercialize vehicles using our battery
technology, we intend to work closely with other automotive original equipment manufacturers (“OEMs”) to make our solid-state battery cells widely available
over time. We are focused on automotive EV applications, which have the most stringent set of requirements for batteries. However, we recognize that our solidstate battery technology has applicability in other large and growing markets including stationary storage and consumer electronics such as smartphones and
wearables.
Our technology enables a variety of business models. In addition to joint ventures, such as the one with Volkswagen, we may operate solely-owned manufacturing
facilities or license technology to other manufacturers. Where appropriate, we may build and sell separators rather than complete battery cells. We intend to
continue to invest in research and development to improve battery cell performance, improve manufacturing processes, and reduce cost.
Access to Capital
Following the Business Combination and assuming we experience no significant delays in the research and development of our solid-state battery cells, we believe
that our cash resources are sufficient to fund our initial start of production, including our share of contributions to our Pilot Facility with Volkswagen. However,
any delays could materially impact us.
Regulatory Landscape
We operate in an industry that is subject to many established environmental regulations, which have generally become more stringent over time, particularly in
hazardous waste generation and disposal and pollution control. Regulations in our target markets include economic incentives to purchasers of EVs, tax credits for
EV manufacturers, and economic penalties that may apply to a car manufacturer based on its fleet-wide emissions which may indirectly benefit us in that the
regulations will expand the market size of EVs. While we expect environmental regulations to provide a tailwind to our growth, it is possible for certain regulations
to result in margin pressures. Trade restrictions and tariffs, while historically minimal between the European Union and the United States where most of our
production and sales are expected, are subject to unknown and unpredictable change that could impact our ability to meet projected sales or margins.
Basis of Presentation
We currently conduct our business through one operating segment. As a pre-revenue company with no commercial operations, our activities to date have been
limited and were conducted primarily in the United States. Our historical results are reported under GAAP and in U.S. dollars. Upon commencement of
commercial operations, we expect to expand our global operations substantially, including in the United States and the European Union, and as a result we expect
our future results to be sensitive to foreign currency transaction and translation risks and other financial risks that are not reflected in our historical financial
statements. As a result, we expect that the financial results we report for periods after we begin commercial operations will not be comparable to the financial
results included in this Report.
Components of Results of Operations
We are a research and development stage company and our historical results may not be indicative of our future results for reasons that may be difficult to
anticipate. Accordingly, the drivers of our future financial results, as well as the components of such results, may not be comparable to our historical or projected
results of operations.
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Research and Development Expense
To date, our research and development expenses have consisted primarily of personnel-related expenses for scientists, experienced engineers and technicians as
well as costs associated with the expansion and ramp up of our engineering facility in San Jose, California, including the material and supplies to support the
product development and process engineering efforts. As we ramp up our engineering operations to complete the development of our solid-state, lithium-metal
batteries and required process engineering to meet automotive cost targets, we anticipate that research and development expenses will increase significantly for the
foreseeable future as we expand our hiring of scientists, engineers, and technicians and continue to invest in additional plant and equipment for product
development (e.g. multi-layer cell stacking, packaging engineering), building prototypes, and testing of battery cells as our team works to meet the full set of
automotive product requirements.
General and Administrative Expense
General and administrative expenses consist mainly of personnel-related expenses for our executive, sales and marketing and other administrative functions and
expenses for director and officer insurance and outside professional services, including legal, accounting and other advisory services. We are rapidly expanding our
personnel headcount, in anticipation of planning for and supporting the ramping up of commercial manufacturing operations and being a public company.
Accordingly, we expect our general and administrative expenses to increase significantly in the near term and for the foreseeable future. Upon commencement of
commercial operations, we also expect general and administrative expenses to include customer and sales support and advertising costs.
Change in Fair Value of Series F Convertible Preferred Stock Tranche Liability
A portion of the convertible preferred stock tranche liabilities were settled upon the issuance of the shares of Series F Preferred Stock concurrent with the Business
Combination, and the remaining commitment to issues shares of Class A Common Stock pursuant to the Series F Stock Purchase Agreements and the Legacy
QuantumScape convertible preferred stock warrants became equity classified upon the consummation of the Business Combination. Accordingly, the Company
does not expect to incur incremental fair value adjustments related to the convertible preferred stock tranche liabilities and Legacy QuantumScape convertible
preferred stock warrants in future periods.
Change in Fair Value of Assumed Common Stock Warrant Liability
The change in fair value of Assumed Common Stock Warrant liabilities consists of the change in fair value of the Public Warrants and Private Placement Warrants
assumed in connection with the Business Combination. We expect to incur an incremental income (expense) for the fair value adjustments for the outstanding
Assumed Common Stock Warrant liabilities at the end of each reporting period or through the exercise of the warrants.
Interest and Other Income (Expense)
Our interest and other income (expense) consists of interest income from marketable securities, sublease income, and interest expense related to fair value
adjustments for our Legacy QuantumScape convertible preferred stock warrants.
Income Tax Expense / Benefit
Our income tax provision consists of an estimate for U.S. federal and state income taxes based on enacted rates, as adjusted for allowable credits, deductions,
uncertain tax positions, changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities, and changes in the tax law. We maintain a valuation allowance against the full value of our
U.S. and state net deferred tax assets because we believe the recoverability of the tax assets is not more likely than not.
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Results of Operations
Comparison of the Year Ended December 31, 2020 to the Year Ended December 31, 2019
The following table sets forth our historical operating results for the periods indicated (amounts in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,
2020
2019
(Restated)

Operating expenses:
Research and development
General and administrative
Total operating expenses
Loss from operations
Other (expense) income:
Interest expense
Interest income
Change in fair value of Series F convertible preferred stock tranche liabilities
Change in fair value of assumed common stock warrant liabilities
Other income
Total other (expense) income:
Net loss
Less: Net (loss) income attributable to non-controlling interest
Net loss attributable to common stockholders

$

$

65,103
15,918
81,021
(81,021)
(20,765)
1,093
(999,987)
(581,863)
760
(1,600,762)
(1,681,783)
(6)
(1,681,777)

$

$

45,944
9,874
55,818
(55,818)
(94)
3,608
—
—
1,041
4,555
(51,263)
20
(51,283)

$
Change

$

$

19,159
6,044
25,203
(25,203)
(20,671)
(2,515)
(999,987)
(581,863)
(281)
(1,605,317)
(1,630,520)
(26)
(1,630,494)

%
Change

42%
61%
45%
45%
21990%
(70)%
100%
100%
(27)%
(35243)%
3181%
(130)%
3179%

Research and Development
The increase in research and development expense primarily resulted from the $7.2 million increase in personnel cost due to the growth in research and
development headcount to support technology development, an increase of $2.2 million in material supplies to support the increase of research and development
cell builds in our commercial form factor, an increase of $1.9 million related to depreciation and amortization and a $2.5 million increase in facility, professional
fees and outside services related to the growth in research and development. These costs were partially offset by a decrease in travel related expenditures.
Additionally, non-cash stock-based compensation expense increased by $5.8 million from $4.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 to $9.9 million for
the year ended December 31, 2020 due to the effect of refresh option grants in June 2019 and retention restricted stock unit (“RSU”) grants to employees in 2020.
General and Administrative
The increase in general and administrative expenses is due in part to the increase of $4.4 million for stock-based compensation in the year ended December 31,
2020 for employees and director refresh grants in December 2019 and RSU grants to employees in 2020. Additionally, personnel costs increased by $0.8 million
due to the headcount increase to support business growth and director and officer insurance expenses increased by $0.7 million.
Interest Expense
Interest expense primarily represents the non-cash fair value adjustment of the warrants to purchase shares of our Series A Preferred Stock and our Series C
Preferred Stock. Prior to the Business Combination, the commitments were considered free standing financial instruments and are subject to fair value
measurement at issuance and at each reporting period. The increase in the fair value of the warrants was due to the accretion in the valuation of the underlying
convertible preferred stock prior to the Business Combination. In connection with the Business Combination, the fair value of the warrants to purchase these shares
of our Preferred Stock were adjusted based on the fair value of the underlying common stock. The warrant liability was reclassified to additional paid-in capital and
there will be no further re-measurement of these warrants.
Interest Income
The decrease in interest income was due to the reduction of market interest rates and due to the decrease of our marketable securities balance prior to the Business
Combination.
Change in Fair value of Series F Convertible Preferred Stock Tranche Liability
The Change in fair value of Series F convertible preferred stock tranche liability represents the non-cash fair value adjustment of our preferred stock tranche
liabilities. In May 2020 and August 2020, we entered into the commitment to sell, and investors commitment to buy, the Series F Preferred Stock totaling up to
$388.0 million in gross proceeds. Approximately $188.0 million closed in connection
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with the Business Combination and $100.0 million closed on December 1, 2020. An additional $100.0 million is expected to close by March 31, 2021, contingent
on QuantumScape meeting a certain technical milestone. Since the second tranche will be funded after the closing of Business Combination, QuantumScape has
reserved shares of Class A Common Stock to be issued in lieu of our Series F Preferred Stock.
Prior to the Business Combination, the commitments were considered free standing financial instruments and were classified as liabilities and subject to fair value
measurement at issuance and at each reporting period. Concurrent with the Business Combination, the entire commitment was adjusted based on the fair value of
the underlying common stock and a portion of the convertible preferred stock tranche liabilities were settled upon the issuance of the shares of Series F Preferred
Stock. Additionally, the remaining commitment to issues shares of Class A Common Stock pursuant to the Series F Stock Purchase Agreements became equity
classified and were reclassified to additional paid-in capital, with no further remeasurement required.
Change in Fair value of Assumed Common Stock Warrant Liability
We assumed 11,499,989 Public Warrants and 6,650,000 Private Placement Warrants in connection with the Business Combination, all of which remained
outstanding as of December 31, 2020. The change in fair value of Assumed Common Stock Warrant liabilities was due to the increase in the estimated fair value of
the Public Warrants and Private Placement Warrants subsequent to the Business Combination.
Other Income
Other income for the year ended December 31, 2020 consisted of the receipt for a legal settlement, as compared to other income for the year ended December 31,
2019 which was related to sublease income.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
As of December 31, 2020, our principal sources of liquidity were our cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities in the amount of $997.6 million. Our
cash equivalents are invested in U.S. Treasury money market funds and short-term U.S. Treasury notes and bonds. Our marketable securities are primarily invested
in U.S. Treasury notes and bonds.
We have yet to generate any revenue from our business operations. To date, we have funded our capital expenditure and working capital requirements through
equity as further discussed below. Our ability to successfully develop our products, commence commercial operations and expand our business will depend on
many factors, including our working capital needs, the availability of equity or debt financing and, over time, our ability to generate cash flows from operations.
Prior to the Business Combination, we financed our operations primarily from the sales of redeemable convertible preferred stock. In connection with the Business
Combination, we received net cash proceeds of approximately $676.9 million. Additionally, after the Business Combination, we received proceeds from the Series
F Preferred Stock agreements described above under “Other Expense”.
We believe that our cash on hand will be sufficient to meet our working capital and capital expenditure requirements for a period of at least twelve months from the
date of this filing, and also sufficient to fund our operations until we initially commence production of the pilot line solid-state battery through the first commercial
sales, assuming QuantumScape is able to do so as currently contemplated. We may, however, need additional cash resources due to changed business conditions or
other developments, including unanticipated delays in negotiations with OEMs and tier-one automotive suppliers or other suppliers, supply chain challenges,
disruptions due to the COVID-19 pandemic, competitive pressures, and regulatory developments, among other developments. To the extent that our current
resources are insufficient to satisfy our cash requirements, we may need to seek additional equity or debt financing. If the financing is not available, or if the terms
of financing are less desirable than we expect, we may be forced to decrease our level of investment in product development or scale back our operations, which
could have an adverse impact on our business and financial prospects.
Cash Flows
The following table provides a summary of our cash flow data for the periods indicated (amounts in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,
2020
2019
(Restated)

Net cash used in operating activities
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities
Net cash provided by financing activities

$

(61,263)
(802,648)
953,724

$

(41,731)
33,301
394

Cash Used in Operating Activities
Our cash flows used in operating activities to date have been primarily comprised of payroll, material and supplies, facilities expense, and professional service
related to research and development and general and administrative activities. As we continue to ramp up hiring for technical headcounts to accelerate our
engineering efforts ahead of starting the pilot line operations, we expect our cash used in operating activities to increase significantly before we start to generate
any material cash flows from our business.
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The most significant component of our cash used during the year ended December 31, 2020 was a net loss of $1,681.8 million, which included non-cash expenses
of $581.9 million for the change in fair value of the Assumed Common Stock Warrants, $20.8 million for the change in the fair value of Legacy QuantumScape
convertible preferred stock warrants, and $999.9 million for the issuance and change in the fair value of the Legacy QuantumScape Series F Preferred Stock
tranche liabilities, $17.0 million related to stock based compensation and $7.5 million related to depreciation and amortization.
The most significant component of cash used during the year ended December 31, 2019 was a net loss of $51.3 million, which included non-cash expenses of
$5.6 million related to depreciation and amortization and $6.8 million related to stock-based compensation.
Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Our cash flows from investing activities, to date, have been comprised of purchases of property and equipment and purchases and maturities of our marketable
securities. We expect the costs to acquire property and equipment to increase substantially in the near future as we fully build out our engineering lines as well as
acquire the property and equipment for QS-0 and the pilot line of the separator and cell manufacturing operations.
Cash used for the purchase of marketable securities increased $695.2 million to $891.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2020, as compared to $196.4
million for the year ended December 31, 2019 due to the investment of proceeds from the Business Combination and the convertible Series F Preferred Stock
financing. Proceeds from the maturities of marketable securities decreased $126.5 million to $113.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2020, as compared to
$239.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 due to the timing of the maturity of securities. Cash used for property and equipment purchases in the year
ended December 31, 2020 was $24.1 million, a significant increase over the $9.8 million of cash used for equipment purchases in the year ended December 31,
2019.
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Prior to the Business Combination, we financed our operations primarily through the sale of equity securities including agreements for the sale of Legacy
QuantumScape Series F Preferred Stock for $388 million (before fees and expenses) in gross proceeds, of which $288 million (before fees and expenses) of the
purchase commitment has been sold, and $100 million of the purchase commitment is subject to completion of a certain technical milestone by the end of the first
quarter of 2021.
The increase in cash provided by financing activities is due to $676.9 million in net proceeds received from the Business Combination and related PIPE financing,
as well as $276.3 million in net proceeds received from the Legacy QuantumScape Series F Preferred Stock agreements discussed above.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
QuantumScape is not a party to any off-balance sheet arrangements, as defined under SEC rules.
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
Our financial statements have been prepared in accordance with GAAP. In the preparation of these financial statements, we are required to use judgment in making
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities as of the date of the
financial statements, as well as the reported expenses incurred during the reporting periods.
We consider an accounting judgment, estimate or assumption to be critical when (1) the estimate or assumption is complex in nature or requires a high degree of
judgment and (2) the use of different judgments, estimates and assumptions could have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements. Our significant
accounting policies are described in Note 2 to our audited consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Report. We have the critical accounting
policies and estimates which are described below.
Stock-Based Compensation
We recognize the cost of share-based awards granted to employees and directors based on the estimated grant-date fair value of the awards. Cost is recognized on a
straight-line basis over the service period, which is generally the vesting period of the award. We reverse previously recognized costs for unvested awards in the
period that forfeitures occur. We determine the fair value of stock options using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, which is impacted by the following
assumptions:
•

Expected Term— We use the simplified method when calculating the expected term due to insufficient historical exercise data.

•

Expected Volatility—Given the limited market trading history of our common stock, volatility is based on a benchmark of comparable companies within
the automotive and energy storage industries.

•

Expected Dividend Yield—We have never paid any cash dividends on common stock and do not anticipate doing so in the foreseeable future.

•

Risk-Free Interest Rate—The interest rates used are based on the implied yield available on U.S. Treasury zero-coupon issues with an equivalent
remaining term equal to the expected life of the award.
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Common Stock Valuations
Prior to the Business Combination, the grant date fair value of our common stock was typically determined by our board of directors with the assistance of
management and a third-party valuation specialist. Given its pre-revenue stage of development, our management believed that an Option Pricing Model (“OPM”)
was the most appropriate method for allocating enterprise value to determine the estimated fair value of Common Stock prior to the Business Combination.
Application of the OPM involves the use of estimates, judgment, and assumptions that are highly complex and subjective, such as those regarding our expected
future revenue, expenses, and cash flows, discount rates, market multiples, the selection of comparable companies, and the probability of future events. The
deemed fair value for common stock for options and restricted stock units granted in August 2020 and September 2020 (prior to the announcement of the Business
Combination) were based on the accreted estimated Business Combination price per the Business Combination Agreement. There were no grants of options to
purchase common stock or restricted stock units subsequent to September 2, 2020 for us. Subsequent to the Business Combination, the Board determines the fair
value of the Common Stock based on the closing market price on or around the date of grant.
Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock Warrant Liabilities
Prior to the Business Combination, warrants to purchase shares of redeemable convertible preferred stock were classified as liabilities on the Consolidated Balance
Sheets at fair value upon issuance because the underlying shares of redeemable convertible preferred stock were redeemable outside of our control. The initial
liability recorded was adjusted for changes in the fair value at each reporting date and recorded as interest expense in the accompanying Consolidated Statements
of Operations and Comprehensive Loss. In connection with the Business Combination, the warrant liabilities were adjusted based on the fair value of the
underlying common stock. The warrant liabilities became classified as equity as the shares issuable upon exercise of the warrants are shares of the Class A
Common Stock, and the fair value of the warrants were reclassified to additional paid-in capital, with no further remeasurement required.
Convertible Preferred Stock Tranche Liabilities
Prior to the Business Combination, the obligation to issue, and the Company’s investors’ right to purchase, shares of redeemable convertible Series F Preferred
Stock represented a freestanding financial instrument classified as liabilities (the “tranche liabilities”). The tranche liabilities were initially recorded at fair value
and remeasured at each reporting period with gains and losses arising from subsequent changes in its fair value recognized in Change in fair value of Series F
convertible preferred stock tranche liabilities in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss. Concurrent with the Business Combination,
the entire commitment was adjusted based on the fair value of the underlying common stock and a portion of the convertible preferred stock tranche liabilities were
settled upon the issuance of the shares of Series F Preferred Stock. The remaining commitment to issue shares of Class A Common Stock pursuant to the Series F
Stock Purchase Agreements became equity classified and were reclassified to additional paid-in capital with no further remeasurement required.
Assumed Common Stock Warrant Liabilities
The Company assumed 11,499,989 Public Warrants and 6,650,000 Private Placement Warrants upon the Business Combination, all of which were issued in
connection with Kensington’s initial public offering (other than 75,000 Private Placement Warrants of which that were issued in connection with the closing of the
Business Combination) and entitle the holder to purchase one share of Class A Common Stock at an exercise price of $11.50 per share. All of the Assumed
Common Stock Warrants remained outstanding as of December 31, 2020. The Public Warrants are publicly traded and are exercisable for cash unless certain
conditions occur, such as the failure to have an effective registration statement related to the shares issuable upon exercise or redemption by the Company under
certain conditions at which time the warrants may be cashless exercised. The Private Placement Warrants are transferable, assignable or salable in certain limited
exceptions. The Private Placement Warrants are exercisable for cash or on a cashless basis, at the holder’s option, and are non-redeemable so long as they are held
by the initial purchasers or their permitted transferees. If the Private Placement Warrants are held by someone other than the initial purchasers or their permitted
transferees, the Private Placement Warrants will cease to be Private Placement Warrants, and become Public Warrants and be redeemable by the Company and
exercisable by such holders on the same basis as the other Public Warrants.
The Company evaluated the Assumed Common Stock Warrants under ASC 815-40, Derivatives and Hedging—Contracts in Entity’s Own Equity, and concluded
they do not meet the criteria to be classified in stockholders’ equity. Specifically, the exercise of the Assumed Common Stock Warrants may be settled in cash
upon the occurrence of a tender offer or exchange that involves 50% or more of our Class A stockholders. Because not all of the voting stockholders need to
participate in such tender offer or exchange to trigger the potential cash settlement and the Company does not control the occurrence of such an event, the
Company concluded that the Assumed Common Stock Warrants do not meet the conditions to be classified in equity. Since the Assumed Common Stock Warrants
meet the definition of a derivative under ASC 815, the Company recorded these warrants as liabilities on the balance sheet at fair value, with subsequent changes in
their respective fair values recognized in the Change in fair value of assumed common stock warrant liabilities within the Consolidated Statement of Operations
and Comprehensive Loss at each reporting date. The Public Warrants were publicly traded and thus had an observable market price to estimate fair value, and the
Private Placement Warrants were effectively valued similar to the Public Warrants, as described in Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Emerging Growth Company Status
Section 102(b)(1) of the JOBS Act exempts emerging growth companies from being required to comply with new or revised financial accounting standards until
private companies are required to comply with the new or revised financial accounting standards. The JOBS Act provides that a company can choose not to take
advantage of the extended transition period and comply with the requirements that apply to non-emerging growth companies, and any such election to not take
advantage of the extended transition period is irrevocable.
The Company is an “emerging growth company” as defined in Section 2(a) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”) and has elected to take
advantage of the benefits of the extended transition period for new or revised financial accounting standards. The Company expects to remain an emerging growth
company at least through the end of second quarter of 2021 and expects to continue to take advantage of the benefits of the extended transition period, although it
may decide to early adopt such new or revised accounting standards to the extent permitted by such standards. This may make it difficult or impossible to compare
our financial results with the financial results of another public company that is either not an emerging growth company or is an emerging growth company that has
chosen not to take advantage of the extended transition period exemptions because of the potential differences in accounting standards used.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
See Note 3 to the audited consolidated financial statements in this report for more information about recent accounting pronouncements, the timing of their
adoption, and our, to the extent it has made one, of their potential impact on our financial condition and its results of operations and cash flows.
Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.
The Company is exposed to a variety of markets and other risks including the effects of change in interest rates, inflation and foreign currency translation and
transaction risks as well as risks to the availability of funding sources, hazard events and specific asset risks.
Interest Rate Risk
The market interest risk in our financial instruments and our financial positions represents the potential loss arising from adverse changes in interest rates. As of
December 31, 2020, we had cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities of $997.6 million, consisting of interest-bearing money market accounts and
marketable securities, for which the fair market value would be affected by change in the general level of U.S. interest rates. However, due to the short-term
maturities and the low-risk profile of our investments, an immediate 10% change in the interest rate would not have a material effect on the fair market value of our
cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities.
Foreign Currency Risk
Our functional currency is the U.S. dollar, while certain of our current and future subsidiaries will be expected to have other functional currencies, reflecting their
principal operating markets. Once we commence phase 1 pilot operations, we expect to be exposed to both currency transaction and translation risk. To date, we
have not had material exposure to foreign currency fluctuations and have not hedged such exposure, although we may do so in the future.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of QuantumScape Corporation
Opinion on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of QuantumScape Corporation (the Company) as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the related
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss, redeemable non-controlling interest and stockholders' equity and cash flows for each of the two
years in the period ended December 31, 2020, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). In our opinion, the
consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company at December 31, 2020 and 2019, and the results of
its operations and its cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2020, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles.
Restatement of 2020 Financial Statements
As discussed in Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements, the 2020 consolidated financial statements have been restated to correct a misstatement.
Basis for Opinion
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s financial statements
based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required
to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and
Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were
we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control
over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting.
Accordingly, we express no such opinion.
Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing
procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2012.
Redwood City, California
February 23, 2021,
except for Note 4, as to which the date is
May 7, 2021
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QuantumScape Corporation
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(In Thousands, Except Share and per Share Amounts)
December 31,
2020
(Restated)

Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents ($3,406 and $3,409 as of December 31, 2020 and
2019, respectively, for joint venture)
Marketable securities
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets
Property and equipment, net
Right-of-use lease asset
Other assets
Total assets

$

$

Liabilities, redeemable non-controlling interest and stockholders’ equity
Current liabilities
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Accrued compensation
Operating lease liability, short-term
Strategic premium, short-term
Total current liabilities
Operating lease liability, long-term
Convertible preferred stock warrant liabilities
Strategic premium, long-term and other liabilities
Assumed common stock warrant liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitment and contingencies (see Note 9)
Redeemable non-controlling interest
Stockholders’ equity
Preferred stock- $0.0001 par value; 100,000,000 shares authorized, none issued
and outstanding at December 31, 2020 and 2019
Common stock - $0.0001 par value; 1,250,000,000 shares authorized (1,000,000,000
Class A and 250,000,000 Class B); 207,769,091 Class A and 156,224,614 Class
B shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020, 81,720,530 Class A and
158,056,527 Class B shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2019
Additional paid-in-capital
Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income
Accumulated deficit
Total stockholders’ equity
Total liabilities, redeemable non-controlling interest and stockholders’ equity

113,216
884,336
11,616
1,009,168
43,696
11,712
2,193
1,066,769

$

5,383
2,701
2,391
1,220
655
12,350
11,244
—
—
689,699
713,293

$

$

$

$

22,822
107,099
1,255
131,176
25,492
12,942
2,774
172,384

2,851
1,307
1,112
1,080
873
7,223
12,463
1,860
436
—
21,982

1,704

1,710

—

—

36
2,329,406
(31)
(1,977,639)
351,772
1,066,769

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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2019

$

24
444,440
90
(295,862)
148,692
172,384

QuantumScape Corporation
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss
(In Thousands, Except Share and per Share Amounts)
Year Ended December 31,
2020
2019
(Restated)

Operating expenses:
Research and development
General and administrative
Total operating expenses
Loss from operations
Other (expense) income:
Interest expense
Interest income
Change in fair value of Series F convertible preferred stock tranche liabilities
Change in fair value of assumed common stock warrant liabilities
Other income
Total other (expense) income
Net loss
Less: Net (loss) income attributable to non-controlling interest, net of tax of $0 for the years ended
December 31, 2020 and 2019
Net loss attributable to common stockholders

$

65,103
15,918
81,021
(81,021)

$

(20,765)
1,093
(999,987)
(581,863)
760
(1,600,762)
(1,681,783)

45,944
9,874
55,818
(55,818)
(94)
3,608
—
—
1,041
4,555
(51,263)

$

(6)
(1,681,777)

$

20
(51,283)

Net loss
Other comprehensive (loss) income:
Unrealized (loss) gain on marketable securities
Total comprehensive loss
Less: Comprehensive (loss) income attributable to non-controlling interest
Comprehensive loss attributable to common stockholders

$

(1,681,783)

$

(51,263)

$

(121)
(1,681,904)
(6)
(1,681,898)

$

121
(51,142)
20
(51,162)

Basic and Diluted net loss per share
Basic and Diluted weighted-average common shares outstanding

$

(6.67)
252,143,509

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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$

(0.21)
239,636,062

QuantumScape Corporation
Consolidated Statements of Redeemable Non-Controlling Interest and Stockholders’ Equity
(In Thousands, Except Share and per Share Amounts)
Redeemable Convertible
Preferred Stock
Shares
Balance at December 31,
2018
(as previously reported)
Retroactive application
of recapitalization
Balance at December 31,
2018,
effect of reverse
acquisition
(Note 5)
Exercise of stock
option
Stock-based
compensation
Adoption of ASC 842
Net loss
Unrealized gain on
marketable
securities
Balance at December 31,
2019
Issuance of Series F
preferred
stock, net of issuance
costs of
$11.5 million, and
settlement
of associated
convertible
preferred stock
tranche liability
Issuance of Class A
Common
Stock pursuant to
Legacy
QuantumScape
Series F
Preferred Stock
Purchase
Agreement, net of
issuance costs of
$0.2 million
Business Combination,
net of
redemptions and
equity
issuance costs of
$53.0 million
(Restated)
Reclassification of
Legacy
QuantumScape
convertible
preferred stock
tranche
liability
Reclassification of
Legacy
QuantumScape
convertible
preferred stock
warrants
Exercise of stock
option
Exercise of warrants
Stock-based
compensation
Net loss (Restated)
Unrealized loss on
marketable
securities
Balance at December 31,
2020 (Restated)

Redeemable
NonControlling

Amount

48,390,851

$ 405,575

interest
$

(48,390,851 ) $ (405,575 )

—

$

—

$

Common Stock
Shares

Treasury Stock

Amount

1,690

11,075,476

—

228,083,177

1,690

239,158,653

$

$

Shares
438,191

$

(4,189 )

23

(438,191 )

$

4,189

$

—

—

Accumulated

Accumulated
other
Comprehensive

Capital

Deficit

gain (loss)

Amount

1

24

Additional
Paid-In

$

35,957

$

437,320

—

—

618,404

—

—

—

394

—
—
—

—
—
—

—
—
20

—
—
—

—
—
—

—

—

—

—

6,726
—
—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

1,710

239,777,057

$

—

$

$

24

$

—

$

—

(246,083 )

401,363

—

—

$

$

444,440

$

—

$

(246,083 )

(31 )

Total
Stockholders’
(deficit)
equity
$

—

$

—

(31 )

405,575

$

—

85
1,419
(51,283 )

(295,862 )

$

90

191,230
394

—
—
—

6,811
1,419
(51,283 )

121
$

(214,345 )

121
$

148,692

—

—

—

28,616,093

3

—

—

660,930

—

—

660,933

—

—

—

15,221,334

1

—

—

99,799

—

—

99,800

—

—

—

78,734,745

8

—

—

568,595

—

—

568,603

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

515,394

—

—

515,394

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

22,625

—

—

22,625

—

—
—

—
—

646,016
998,460

—
—

—
—

—
—

599
—

—
—

—
—

599
—

—
—

—
—

—
(6 )

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

17,024
—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

1,704

363,993,705

—

$ 2,329,406

—

$

—

$

$

36

$

—

$

—
(1,681,777 )
—
$

(1,977,639 )

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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—
—

17,024
(1,681,777 )

(121 )
$

(31 )

(121 )
$

351,772

QuantumScape Corporation
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(In Thousands)
Year Ended December 31,
2020
2019
(Restated)

Operating activities
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Amortization of right-of-use assets
Amortization of premiums and accretion of discounts on marketable securities
Amortization of strategic premium
Gain on property and equipment disposals
Stock-based compensation expense
Change in fair value of convertible preferred stock warrant liabilities
Change in fair value of convertible preferred stock tranche liabilities
Change in fair value of assumed common stock warrant liabilities
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Accounts payable, accrued liabilities and accrued compensation
Operating lease liability
Net cash used in operating activities
Investing activities
Purchases of property and equipment
Proceeds from maturities of marketable securities
Purchases of marketable securities
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities
Financing activities
Proceeds from exercise of stock options
Proceeds from issuance of Series F preferred stock, net of issuance costs
Proceeds from issuance of Class A Common Stock pursuant to Legacy
QuantumScape Series F Preferred Stock Purchase Agreement, net of issuance costs
Business Combination, net of issuance costs paid
Net cash provided by financing activities
Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of period
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of period
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information
Purchases of property and equipment, accrued but not paid
Business Combination transaction costs, accrued but not paid
Net assets assumed from Business Combination

$

(1,681,783)

$

(51,263)

7,506
1,229
1,201
(655)
3
17,024
20,765
999,865
581,863

5,577
1,159
(1,964)
(873)
(90)
6,811
94
—
—

(9,648)
2,447
(1,080)
(61,263)

(550)
319
(951)
(41,731)

(24,093)
113,006
(891,561)
(802,648)

(9,846)
239,500
(196,353)
33,301

599
176,462

394
—

$

99,800
676,863
953,724
89,813
25,596
115,409

$

—
—
394
(8,036)
33,632
25,596

$
$
$

4,170
1,016
592

$
$
$

2,547
—
—

The following table presents the Company’s cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash by category in the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets:
December 31,
2020

Cash and cash equivalents
Other assets
Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash

$
$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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2019

113,216
2,193
115,409

$
$

22,822
2,774
25,596

QuantumScape Corporation
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2020
1. Nature of Business
Organization
On November 25, 2020 (the “Closing Date”), Kensington Capital Acquisition Corp. (“Kensington”), a special purpose acquisition company, consummated the
Business Combination Agreement (the “Business Combination Agreement”) dated September 2, 2020, by and among Kensington, Kensington Merger Sub Corp., a
Delaware corporation and wholly owned subsidiary of Kensington (“Merger Sub”), and QuantumScape Battery, Inc., a Delaware corporation (f/k/a QuantumScape
Corporation and f/k/a QuantumScape Subsidiary, Inc.) (“Legacy QuantumScape”).
Pursuant to the terms of the Business Combination Agreement, a business combination between Kensington and Legacy QuantumScape was effected through the
merger of Merger Sub with and into Legacy QuantumScape, with Legacy QuantumScape surviving as the surviving company and as a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Kensington (the “Merger” and, collectively with the other transactions described in the Business Combination Agreement, the “Business Combination”). On the
closing date, Kensington changed its name to QuantumScape Corporation, (the “Company”).
The Company is focused on the development and commercialization of its solid-state lithium-metal batteries. Planned principal operations have not yet
commenced. As of December 31, 2020, the Company has not derived revenue from its principal business activities.
Beginning in March 2020, the COVID-19 pandemic and the measures imposed to contain this pandemic have disrupted and are expected to continue to impact the
Company’s business. The magnitude of the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the Company’s productivity, results of operations and financial position, and its
disruption to the Company’s business and battery development and timeline, will depend in part, on the length and severity of these restrictions and on the
Company’s ability to conduct business in the ordinary course.
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation
The Company’s consolidated financial statements have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America
(“U.S. GAAP”) as determined by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) and pursuant to the
regulations of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”).
Pursuant to the Business Combination Agreement, the merger between Merger Sub and Legacy QuantumScape was accounted for as a reverse recapitalization in
accordance with U.S. GAAP (the “Reverse Recapitalization”). Under this method of accounting, Kensington was treated as the “acquired” company and Legacy
QuantumScape is treated as the acquirer for financial reporting purposes.
Accordingly, for accounting purposes, the Reverse Recapitalization was treated as the equivalent of Legacy QuantumScape issuing stock for the net assets of
Kensington, accompanied by a recapitalization. The net assets of Kensington are stated at historical cost, with no goodwill or other intangible assets recorded.
Legacy QuantumScape was determined to be the accounting acquirer based on the following predominant factors:
•

Legacy QuantumScape’s shareholders have the largest portion of voting rights in the Company;

•

the Board and Management are primarily composed of individuals associated with Legacy QuantumScape; and

•

Legacy QuantumScape was the larger entity based on historical operating activity and Legacy QuantumScape has the larger employee base at the time
of the Business Combination.

The consolidated assets, liabilities and results of operations prior to the Reverse Recapitalization are those of Legacy QuantumScape. The shares and
corresponding capital amounts and losses per share, prior to the Business Combination, have been retroactively restated based on shares reflecting the exchange
ratio established in the Business Combination.
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Immaterial Adjustments
The Company made an immaterial correcting adjustment (the “correcting adjustment”) to its Consolidated Balance Sheet and Consolidated Statement of
Redeemable Non-controlling Interest and Stockholders’ Equity as of and for the year ended December 31, 2019 to reclassify the non-controlling interest of $1.7
million from total stockholders’ equity to temporary equity. This adjustment was made due to an option of the non-controlling interest holders that may require the
Company to purchase their interest. The correcting adjustment has no effect on the Company’s Consolidated Statement of Operations and Comprehensive Loss or
the Consolidated Statement of Cash flows for the period ended December 31, 2019.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities and disclosure of commitments and contingencies at the date of the financial statements as well as reported amounts of expenses during the
reporting periods. Estimates made by the Company include, but are not limited to, those related to the valuation of common stock prior to the Business
Combination, valuation of convertible preferred stock warrants, and valuation of convertible preferred stock tranche liabilities, among others. The Company bases
these estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that it believes are reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the
basis for making judgments about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results could differ
materially from those estimates.
Principles of Consolidation
The Company’s policy is to consolidate all entities that it controls by ownership of a majority of the outstanding voting stock. In addition, the Company
consolidates entities that meet the definition of a variable interest entity (“VIE”) for which the Company is the related party most closely associated with and is the
primary beneficiary. The primary beneficiary is the party who has the power to direct the activities of a VIE that most significantly impact the entity’s economic
performance and who has an obligation to absorb losses of the entity or a right to receive benefits from the entity that could potentially be significant to the entity.
For consolidated entities that are less than wholly owned, the third party’s holding of an equity interest is presented as Redeemable non-controlling interests in the
Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets and Consolidated Statements of Redeemable Non-Controlling Interest and Stockholders’ Equity. The portion of net
earnings attributable to the redeemable non-controlling interests is presented as Net income (loss) attributable to non-controlling interests in the Company’s
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss.
The Company was a single-legal entity prior to becoming a partner with Volkswagen in QSV Operations LLC (the “JV entity”). As noted in “Joint Venture”
discussion, the Company determined the JV entity was a VIE for which it was required to consolidate the operations upon its formation in 2018. The Company
continued to consolidate the operations of the JV entity in 2020 as the determination of the variable interest entity has not changed.
Joint Venture and Redeemable Non-Controlling Interest
On June 18, 2018, the JV entity was incorporated as a limited liability company. Volkswagen Group of America, Inc. (“VWGoA”), Volkswagen Group of America
Investments, LLC (“VGA”) and QuantumScape executed a Joint Venture Agreement (“JVA”), effective September 2018, with the goal of jointly establishing a
manufacturing facility in the United States to produce the pilot line of the Company’s product through the JV entity. Volkswagen is a related party stockholder
(13.2% and 13.1% voting interest holder of the Company as of December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively). Upon the effectiveness of the JVA, each
party contributed $1.7 million in cash to capitalize the JV entity in exchange for 50% equity interests.
The joint venture is considered a variable interest entity with a related party and therefore the related party whose business is more closely related to the planned
operations of the joint venture is required to consolidate the operations.
The Company determined its operations were most closely aligned with the operations of the joint venture and therefore has consolidated the results of the JV
entity’s operations in its Consolidated Balance Sheets, Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss and Consolidated Statements of
Redeemable Non-Controlling Interest and Stockholders’ Equity. The JV entity had minimal operations through December 31, 2020.
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The Company classifies non-controlling interests with redemptions features that are not solely within the control of the Company within temporary equity on the
Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet in accordance with ASC 480-10-S99-3A, SEC Staff Announcement: Classification and Measurement of Redeemable
Securities (“ASC 480-10-S99-3A”). The non-controlling interest was recorded outside of stockholders’ equity because the non-controlling interest provides the
holder with put rights in the event of, amongst others, (a) the failure by the Company to meet specified development milestones within certain timeframes, (b) the
parties to the JVA cannot agree to certain commercial terms within certain timeframes, or (c) a change of control of the Company, which such events are
considered not solely within the Company’s control. The Company adjusts redeemable non-controlling interests for the portion of net earnings attributable to the
redeemable non-controlling interests.
Concentrations of Credit Risk
Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to credit risk consist principally of cash and cash equivalents, of which $12.2 million is held in a US
government Money Market fund and marketable securities, of which $977.3 million is invested in US government and agency securities. The Company seeks to
mitigate its credit risk with respect to cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities by making deposits with large, reputable financial institutions and
investing in high credit rated shorter-term instruments.
Cash and Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash
Management considers all highly liquid investments with an insignificant interest rate risk and original maturities of three months or less to be cash equivalents.
Restricted cash, if the date of availability or disbursement is longer than one year and the balances are maintained under an agreement that legally restricts the use
of such funds, is not included within cash and cash equivalents and is reported within other assets.
Restricted cash is comprised of $2.2 million, of which $2.0 million is pledged as a form of security for the Company’s facility lease agreement and $0.2 million as
collateral for a commercial letter of credit issued to an equipment supplier as of December 31, 2020. As of December 31, 2019, restricted cash was $2.8 million.
Marketable Securities
The Company’s investment policy is consistent with the definition of available-for-sale securities. The Company does not buy and hold securities principally for
the purpose of selling them in the near future. The Company’s policy is focused on the preservation of capital, liquidity, and return. From time to time, the
Company may sell certain securities, but the objectives are generally not to generate profits on short-term differences in price.
These debt securities are carried at estimated fair value with unrealized holding gains and losses included in other comprehensive loss in stockholders’ deficit until
realized. Gains and losses on marketable security transactions are reported on the specific-identification method. Dividend and interest income are recognized
when earned.
Fair Value Measurement
The Company applies fair value accounting for all financial assets and liabilities measured on a recurring and nonrecurring basis. Fair value is defined as an exit
price, representing the amount that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. As such, fair value is a market-based measurement that should be determined based on assumptions that market participants would use in
pricing an asset or a liability. The accounting guidance established a fair value hierarchy based on three levels of inputs, of which the first two are considered
observable and the last unobservable, used to determine the fair value of its financial instruments. A financial instrument’s level within the fair value hierarchy is
based on the lowest level of any input that is significant to the fair value measurement.
•

Level 1 – Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity has the ability to access.

•

Level 2 – Inputs other than Level 1 that are observable, either directly or indirectly, such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities, quoted prices in
markets that are not active, or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the
assets and liabilities.

•

Level 3 – Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets and liabilities.
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Property and Equipment
Property and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life of
the related asset. The estimated useful lives of assets are as follows:

Computers and hardware
Furniture and fixtures
Lab equipment
Building and improvements
Leasehold improvements

3 years
7 years
5 years
25 years
Shorter of the lease term (including estimated renewals) or the estimated useful
lives of the improvements

Maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred, and improvements are capitalized. When assets are retired or otherwise disposed of, the cost and
accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts, and any resulting gain or loss is reflected in the accompanying statements of operations and
comprehensive loss in the period realized.
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
The Company evaluates the carrying value of long-lived assets when indicators of impairment exist. The carrying value of a long-lived asset is considered impaired
when the estimated separately identifiable, undiscounted cash flows from such an asset are less than the carrying value of the asset. In that event, a loss is
recognized based on the amount by which the carrying value exceeds the fair value of the long-lived asset. Fair value is determined primarily using the estimated
cash flows discounted at a rate commensurate with the risk involved. There were no material impairment charges in any of the periods presented.
Leases
The Company accounts for its leases under ASC 842, Leases. Under this guidance, lessees classify arrangements meeting the definition of a lease as operating or
financing leases, and leases are recorded on the Consolidated Balance Sheet as both a right-of-use asset and lease liability, calculated by discounting fixed lease
payments over the lease term at the rate implicit in the lease or the Company’s incremental borrowing rate. Lease liabilities are increased by interest and reduced
by payments each period, and the right of use asset is amortized over the lease term. For operating leases, interest on the lease liability and the amortization of the
right-of-use asset result in straight-line rent expense over the lease term. For finance leases, interest on the lease liability and the amortization of the right-of-use
asset results in front-loaded expense over the lease term. Variable lease expenses, including common maintenance fees, insurance and property tax, are recorded
when incurred.
In calculating the right-of-use asset and lease liability, the Company elects to combine lease and non-lease components for all classes of assets. The Company
excludes short-term leases having initial terms of 12 months or less as an accounting policy election, and instead recognizes rent expense on a straight-line basis
over the lease term.
Convertible Preferred Stock
Prior to the Business Combination, the Company recorded shares of convertible preferred stock at their respective fair values on the dates of issuance, net of
issuance costs. The Company applied the guidance in ASC 480-10-S99-3A and therefore classified all of its outstanding convertible preferred stock as temporary
equity. The convertible preferred stock was recorded outside of stockholders’ deficit because, in the event of certain deemed liquidation events considered not
solely within the Company’s control, such as a merger, acquisition and sale of all or substantially all of the Company’s assets, the convertible preferred stock
would become redeemable at the option of the holders. In the event of a change of control of the Company, proceeds received from the sale of such shares would
be distributed in accordance with the liquidation preferences set forth in the Company’s Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation.
All convertible preferred stock previously classified as temporary equity was retroactively adjusted, converted into Class A and Class B Common Stock, and
reclassified to permanent as a result of the Business Combination. Convertible preferred stock converted into shares of Legacy QuantumScape Class A and Class B
Common Stock and were immediately exchanged for Class A and Class B Common Stock of the Company, see Note 6.
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In March 2016 and March 2017, Legacy QuantumScape issued shares of Legacy QuantumScape Series D convertible preferred stock to two new strategic
investors and to an existing strategic investor for net proceeds of $59.7 million.
Legacy QuantumScape determined that the Legacy QuantumScape Series D convertible preferred stock share purchase agreements with these investors contained
strategic terms as all of these investors had strategic interests in the Company’s technology and negotiated specific strategic terms expected to benefit these new
investors, over and above the value that would be expected to be realized from the equity investment itself. Thus, the sale of the Legacy QuantumScape Series D
convertible preferred stock to these investors reflected a higher price (“strategic premium”) than what a market participant who did not receive these strategic
benefits would be willing to pay. Legacy QuantumScape allocated the net proceeds from these investors between the Legacy QuantumScape Series D convertible
preferred stock and the strategic premium resulting in a strategic premium of $7.9 million which it recorded as a deferred liability on the balance sheet.
The strategic premium is considered akin to payment for research and development efforts. Legacy QuantumScape’s accounting policy is to record research and
development effort payments as contra research and development and recorded the benefits (amortization of the strategic premium) over the estimated period of
the development agreements with the investors which is re-assessed annually.
For the years ended December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the Company recorded amortization of $0.7 million and $0.9 million, respectively.
Free-Standing Convertible Preferred Stock Warrants Liability
Free-standing warrants issued by Legacy QuantumScape for the purchase of shares of its convertible preferred stock were classified as liabilities on the
accompanying balance sheets at fair value using an Option-Pricing Model (“OPM”). Prior to the Business Combination, the liability recorded was adjusted for
changes in the fair value at each reporting date and recorded as interest expense in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive
Loss. As a result of the Business Combination, the Legacy QuantumScape warrants converted into a warrant to purchase shares of the Company’s common stock
converted at the Exchange Ratio. The Company determined the warrants to be equity classified and the fair value of the warrants upon consummation of the
Business Combination, as adjusted based on the price of the underlying common stock, was reclassified to additional paid-in capital.
Assumed Common Stock Warrants Liability
The Company assumed 11,499,989 Public Warrants and 6,650,000 Private Placement Warrants upon the Business Combination, all of which were issued in
connection with Kensington’s initial public offering (other than 75,000 Private Placement Warrants of which that were issued in connection with the closing of the
Business Combination) and entitle the holder to purchase one share of Class A Common Stock at an exercise price of at $ 11.50 per share. All of the Assumed
Common Stock Warrants remained outstanding as of December 31, 2020. The Public Warrants are publicly traded and are exercisable for cash unless certain
conditions occur, such as the failure to have an effective registration statement related to the shares issuable upon exercise or redemption by the Company under
certain conditions, at which time the warrants may be cashless exercised. The Private Placement Warrants are transferable, assignable or salable in certain limited
exceptions. The Private Placement Warrants are exercisable for cash or on a cashless basis, at the holder’s option, and are non-redeemable so long as they are held
by the initial purchasers or their permitted transferees. If the Private Placement Warrants are held by someone other than the initial purchasers or their permitted
transferees, the Private Placement Warrants will cease to be Private Placement Warrants, and become Public Warrants and be redeemable by the Company and
exercisable by such holders on the same basis as the other Public Warrants.
The Company evaluated the Assumed Common Stock Warrants under ASC 815-40, Derivatives and Hedging—Contracts in Entity’s Own Equity (“ASC 815-40”),
and concluded they do not meet the criteria to be classified in stockholders’ equity. Specifically, the exercise of the Assumed Common Stock Warrants may be
settled in cash upon the occurrence of a tender offer or exchange that involves 50% or more of our Class A stockholders. Because not all of the voting stockholders
need to participate in such tender offer or exchange to trigger the potential cash settlement and the Company does not control the occurrence of such an event, the
Company concluded that the Assumed Common Stock Warrants do not meet the conditions to be classified in equity. Since the Assumed Common Stock Warrants
meet the definition of a derivative under ASC 815, the Company recorded these warrants as liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheet at fair value, with
subsequent changes in their respective fair values recognized in the Change in fair value of assumed common stock warrant liabilities within the Consolidated
Statement of Operations and Comprehensive Loss at each reporting date. The Public Warrants were publicly traded and thus had an observable market price to
estimate fair value, and the Private Placement Warrants were effectively valued similar to the Public Warrants, as described in Note 6 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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Segments
Operating segments are defined as components of an entity for which separate financial information is available and that is regularly reviewed by the Chief
Operating Decision Maker (“CODM”) in deciding how to allocate resources to an individual segment and in assessing performance. The Company’s CODM is its
Chief Executive Officer. The Company has determined that it operates in one operating segment and one reportable segment, as the CODM reviews financial
information presented on a consolidated basis for purposes of making operating decisions, allocating resources, and evaluating financial performance.
Research and Development Cost
Costs related to research and development are expensed as incurred.
Stock-Based Compensation
The Company measures and recognizes compensation expense for all stock-based awards made to employees, directors, and non-employees, including stock
options, restricted share units and restricted shares, based on estimated fair values recognized over the requisite service period.
The fair value of options granted is estimated on the grant date using the Black-Scholes option valuation model. This valuation model for stock-based
compensation expense requires the Company to make assumptions and judgments about the variables used in the calculation, including the expected term
(weighted-average period of time that the options granted are expected to be outstanding), the volatility of the Company’s common stock, and an assumed risk-free
interest rate. The Company accounts for forfeitures when they occur. The Company uses the simplified calculation of the expected life, which takes into
consideration the grant’s contractual life and vesting period and assumes that all options will be exercised between the vesting date and the contractual term of the
option. No awards have been issued with a market condition or other non-standard terms.
Given the lack of public market for the Company’s stock prior to the Business Combination and minimal history as a public company subsequent to the Business
Combination, the estimate for volatility is based on an average of the historical volatilities of the common stock of several entities with characteristics similar to
those of the Company. Since these comparable companies operate in the same industry segment, the Company expects that it would share similar characteristics,
such as risks profiles, volatility, capital intensity, clientele, and market growth patterns and drivers.
The risk-free rate is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant for periods corresponding with the expected life of the option.
Income Taxes
The Company accounts for income taxes under an asset and liability approach. Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes and operating loss carryforwards,
measured by applying currently enacted tax laws. Valuation allowances are provided when necessary to reduce net deferred tax assets to an amount that is more
likely than not to be realized.
The Company recognizes tax liabilities based upon its estimate of whether, and the extent to which, additional taxes will be due when such estimates are more
likely than not to be sustained. An uncertain income tax position will not be recognized if it has less than a 50% likelihood of being sustained.
Comprehensive Income or Loss
The Company’s comprehensive income or loss consists of net income or loss and other comprehensive loss. Unrealized gains or losses on available-for-sale
investments are included in the Company’s other comprehensive income or loss.
Net Loss per Share of Common Stock
Basic net loss per share is computed by dividing the net loss by the weighted-average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the period.
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Diluted earnings per share adjusts basic earnings per share for the potentially dilutive impact of stock options and warrants. As the Company has reported losses for
all periods presented, all potentially dilutive securities including stock options and warrants, are antidilutive and accordingly, basic net loss per share equals diluted
net loss per share.
3. Recent Accounting Pronouncements
In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments- Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments. This
guidance introduces a new model for recognizing credit losses on financial instruments based on an estimate of current expected credit losses. ASU 2016-13 also
provides updated guidance regarding the impairment of available-for-sale debt securities and includes additional disclosure requirements. The Company adopted
this guidance as of January 1, 2020 with no impact upon adoption.
In November 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-18, Collaborative Arrangement (Topic 808): clarifying the Interaction between Topic 808 and Topic 606, which
clarifies that certain transactions between participants in a collaborative arrangement should be accounted for under ASC Topic 606 when the counterparty is a
customer. In addition, Topic 808 precludes an entity from presenting consideration from a transaction in a collaborative arrangement as revenue from contracts
with customers if the counterparty is not a customer for that transaction. The Company adopted this guidance as of January 1, 2020 with no impact upon adoption.
In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-12, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes, which is intended to simplify various
aspects related to accounting for income taxes. ASU 2019-12 removes certain exceptions to the general principles in ASC 740 and also clarifies and amends
existing guidance to improve consistent application. This guidance is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after
December 15, 2020, with early adoption permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of this standard on its consolidated financial statements.
In August 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-06, Debt—Debt with Conversion and Other Options (Subtopic 470-20) and Derivatives and Hedging—Contracts in
Entity’s Own Equity (Subtopic 815-40): Accounting for Convertible Instruments and Contracts in an Entity’s Own Equity, which simplifies accounting for
convertible instruments by removing major separation models required under current GAAP. The ASU removes certain settlement conditions that are required for
equity contracts to qualify for the derivative scope exception and it also simplifies the diluted earnings per share calculation in certain areas. The ASU is effective
for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023, including interim periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption is permitted, but no earlier than fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2021 and adoption must be as of the beginning of the Company’s annual fiscal year. The Company is currently evaluating the impact
of this standard on its consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.
4. Restatement of Consolidated Financial Statements
On April 12, 2021, the staff of the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC Staff”) issued a public statement entitled “Staff Statement on Accounting and
Reporting Considerations for Warrants issued by Special Purpose Acquisition Companies (“SPACs”)” (the “Staff Statement”). In the Staff Statement, the SEC
Staff expressed its view that certain terms and conditions common to SPAC warrants may require the warrants to be classified as liabilities on the SPAC’s financial
statements as opposed to equity.
On April 28, 2021, the Audit Committee of our Board of Directors, in consultation with management of the Company, concluded that the Company’s consolidated
financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2020 should no longer be relied upon based on the facts described below. As such, the Company is
restating its consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2020 included in this Annual Report.
The Assumed Common Stock Warrants, assumed by the Company in connection with the Business Combination, were originally issued as part of Kensington’s
initial public offering. As of December 31, 2020 and the year then ended, the Assumed Common Stock Warrants were reflected as a component of equity and did
not include the subsequent non-cash changes in estimated fair value of the Assumed Common Stock Warrants, based on the Company’s application of ASC 81540. The views expressed in the Staff Statement were not consistent with the Company’s historical interpretation of certain specific provisions within its warrant
agreements and the Company’s application of ASC 815-40 to the warrant agreements. The Company reassessed its accounting for the Assumed Common Stock
Warrants in light of the SEC Staff’s published views. Based on this reassessment, the Company determined that the Assumed Common Stock Warrants should be
classified as liabilities measured at fair value on the date of the Business Combination, with subsequent non-cash changes in fair value reported in the Company’s
Consolidated Statement of Operation and Comprehensive Loss at each reporting period.
56

QuantumScape Corporation
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — Continued
December 31, 2020
The material terms of the Assumed Common Stock Warrants are more fully described in Note 10—Assumed Common Stock Warrants. In addition, disclosures
and amounts were restated in Note 2 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, Note 5 – Business Combinations, Note 6 – Fair Value Measurements, Note 12
– Earnings (loss) Per Share, and Note 14 – Income Taxes as a result of the Assumed Common Stock Warrants.
Impact of the Restatement
The impact of the restatement on the Consolidated Balance Sheet, Consolidated Statement of Operations and Comprehensive Loss and Consolidated Statement of
Cash Flows for the year ended December 31, 2020 is presented below. The restatement had no impact on net cash flows from operating, investing or financing
activities.
As of December 31, 2020
As
Previously
Reported

Balance Sheet
Total current assets
Total assets
Liabilities, redeemable non-controlling interest and
stockholders' equity
Total current liabilities
Assumed common stock warrant liabilities
Total liabilities
Redeemable non-controlling interest
Stockholders' equity
Preferred stock - $0.0001 par value
Common stock - $0.0001 par value
Additional paid-in-capital
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Accumulated deficit
Total stockholders' equity
Total liabilities, redeemable non-controlling interest and
stockholders' equity

Restatement
As
Adjustment
Restated
(In Thousands, Except per Share Amounts)

$
$

1,009,168
1,066,769

$
$

—
—

$
$

1,009,168
1,066,769

$

12,350
—
23,594
1,704

$

—
689,699
689,699
—

$

12,350
689,699
713,293
1,704

—
36
2,437,242
(31)
(1,395,776)
1,041,471
$
57

1,066,769

—
—
(107,836)
—
(581,863)
(689,699)
$

—

—
36
2,329,406
(31)
(1,977,639)
351,772
$

1,066,769
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For the Year Ended December 31, 2020
As
Previously
Restatement
As
Reported
Adjustment
Restated
(In Thousands, Except Share and per Share Amounts)

Statement of Operations and Comprehensive Loss
Total operating expenses
Loss from operations
Other (expense) income:
Interest expense
Interest income
Change in fair value of Series F convertible preferred stock tranche liabilities
Change in fair value of assumed common stock warrant liabilities
Other income
Total other expense
Net loss
Less: Net loss attributable to non-controlling
interest, net of tax
Net loss attributable to common stockholders

$

81,021
(81,021)

$

(20,765)
1,093
(999,987)
—
760
(1,018,899)
(1,099,920)

—
—

$

—
—
—
(581,863)
—
(581,863)
(581,863)

81,021
(81,021)
(20,765)
1,093
(999,987)
(581,863)
760
(1,600,762)
(1,681,783)

$

(6)
(1,099,914)

$

—
(581,863)

$

(6)
(1,681,777)

Net loss
Other comprehensive loss:
Unrealized loss on marketable securities
Total comprehensive loss
Less: Comprehensive loss attributable to
non-controlling interest
Comprehensive loss attributable to common stockholders

$

(1,099,920)

$

(581,863)

$

(1,681,783)

Basic and Diluted net loss per share
Basic and Diluted weighted-average common shares outstanding

$

(121)
(1,100,041)

$

(6)
(1,100,035)

—
(581,863)

$

—
(581,863)

(4.36)
252,143,509

(121)
(1,681,904)

$
$

(6)
(1,681,898)
(6.67)
252,143,509

For the Year Ended December 31, 2020
As
Previously
Reported

Statement of Cash Flows
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in
operating activities
Net cash used in operating activities
Net cash used in investing activities
Net cash provided by financing activities

$

(1,099,920)
1,038,657
(61,263)
(802,648)
953,724

Subsequent Warrant Exercises
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Restatement
Adjustment
(In Thousands)

$

(581,863)
581,863
—
—
—

As
Restated

$

(1,681,783)
1,620,520
(61,263)
(802,648)
953,724
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From January 1, 2021 through May 6, 2021, 9,699,528 Public Warrants were exercised for net proceeds of $111.5 million.
5. Business Combination
As discussed in Note 1, on November 25, 2020, the Company consummated the Business Combination Agreement dated September 2, 2020, with Legacy
QuantumScape surviving the merger as a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company.
At the effective time of the Merger (the “Effective Time”), and subject to the terms and conditions of the Business Combination Agreement, each share of Legacy
QuantumScape Class A common stock, par value $0.0001 per share, and each share of the Legacy QuantumScape Preferred Stock that was convertible into a share
of Legacy QuantumScape Class A common stock, was canceled and converted into the right to receive the number of shares of the Company’s Class A Common
Stock, $0.0001 par value per share (the “Class A Common Stock”) equal to 4.02175014920 (the “Exchange Ratio”), and each share of Legacy QuantumScape
Class B common stock, par value $0.0001 per share, and each share of the Legacy QuantumScape Preferred Stock that was convertible into a share of Legacy
QuantumScape Class B common stock was canceled and converted into the right to receive the number of shares of the Company’s Class B Common Stock,
$0.0001 par value per share (the “Class B Common Stock,” and, together with the Class A Common Stock, the “Common Stock”) equal to the Exchange Ratio.
Upon the closing of the Business Combination, the Company's certificate of incorporation was amended and restated to, among other things, increase the total
number of authorized shares of all classes of capital stock to 1,350,000,000 shares, $0.0001 par value per share, of which, 1,000,000,000 shares are designated as
Class A Common Stock, 250,000,000 shares are designated as Class B Common Stock, and 100,000,000 shares are designated as Preferred Stock. The holder of
each share of Class A common stock is entitled to one vote, and the holder of each share of Class B common stock is entitled to ten votes.
In connection with the Business Combination, a number of subscribers (each, a “Subscriber”) purchased from the Company an aggregate of 50,000,000 shares of
Class A Common Stock (the “PIPE”), for a purchase price of $10.00 per share and an aggregate purchase price of $500.0 million (the “PIPE Shares”), pursuant to
separate subscription agreements (each, a “Subscription Agreement”) entered into effective as of September 2, 2020.
The Business Combination is accounted for as a reverse recapitalization in accordance with U.S. GAAP. Under this method of accounting, Kensington was treated
as the “acquired” company and Legacy QuantumScape is treated as the acquirer for financial reporting purposes. Accordingly, for accounting purposes, the
Business Combination was treated as the equivalent of Legacy QuantumScape issuing stock for the net assets of Kensington, accompanied by a recapitalization.
The net assets of Kensington were stated at historical cost, with no goodwill or other intangible assets recorded.
The following table reconciles the elements of the Business Combination to the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows and the Consolidated Statement of
Redeemable Non-Controlling Interest and Stockholders’ Equity for the year ended December 31, 2020 (amounts in thousands):
Recapitalization

Cash- Kensington trust and cash, net of redemptions
Cash- PIPE Financing
Non-cash net assets assumed from Kensington
Less: Fair value of assumed common stock warrants (Restated)
Less: transaction costs and advisory fees for QuantumScape allocated to equity (Restated)
Less: transaction costs and advisory fees for Kensington (Restated)
Net Business Combination (Restated)
Less: non-cash net assets assumed from Kensington
Less: transaction costs and advisory fees for QuantumScape allocated to warrants (Restated)
Add: Non-cash fair value of assumed common stock warrants (Restated)
Add: accrued transaction costs and advisor fees
Net cash contributions from Business Combination
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$

$

$

230,128
500,000
592
109,081
41,664
11,372
568,603
592
1,245
109,081
1,016
676,863
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The number of shares of common stock issued immediately following the consummation of the Business Combination:
Number of Shares

Common stock, outstanding prior to Business Combination
Less: redemption of Kensington shares
Common stock of Kensington
Kensington Founder Shares
Shares issued in PIPE Financing
Business Combination and PIPE Financing shares - Class A common stock
Legacy QuantumScape shares - Class A common stock(1)
Legacy QuantumScape shares - Class B common stock(1)
Total shares of common stock immediately after Business Combination

23,000,000
15,255
22,984,745
5,750,000
50,000,000
78,734,745
110,734,478
158,301,450
347,770,673

(1) The number of Legacy QuantumScape Class A common stock was determined from the 27,533,913 shares of Legacy QuantumScape Class A common
stock outstanding immediately prior to the closing of the Business Combination converted at the Exchange Ratio. All fractional shares were rounded
down.
(2) The number of Legacy QuantumScape Class B common stock was determined from the 39,361,342 shares of Legacy QuantumScape Class B common
stock outstanding immediately prior to the closing of the Business Combination converted at the Exchange Ratio. All fractional shares were rounded
down.
6. Fair Value Measurement
The Company’s financial assets and liabilities subject to fair value measurements on a recurring basis and the level of inputs used for such measurements were as
follows (amounts in thousands):
Fair Value Measured as of December 31, 2020
Level 1
Level 2
Level 3

Assets included in:
Money market fund(1)
Marketable securities(2)
Total fair value

$
$

Liabilities included in:
Assumed common stock warrants (Public) (Restated)
Assumed common stock warrants (Private Placement) (Restated)
Total fair value (Restated)

$
$

12,235
—
12,235

$

436,999
—
436,999

$

$

$

—
977,326
977,326

$

—
252,700
252,700

$

$

$

Total

—
—
—

$

—
—
—

$

$

$

Fair Value Measured as of December 31, 2019
Level 1
Level 2
Level 3

Assets included in:
Money market fund(1)
Marketable securities(2)
Total fair value

$

Liabilities included in:
Convertible preferred stock warrant liabilities
Total fair value
(1)
(2)

$

$

5,163
—
5,163

$

$

—
120,599
120,599

$
$

—
—

$
$

—
—

12,235
977,326
989,561
436,999
252,700
689,699

Total

$

$

—
—
—

$

5,163
120,599
125,762

$
$

1,860
1,860

$
$

1,860
1,860

Money market funds are included in Cash and cash equivalents on the Consolidated Balance Sheet.
Marketable securities with original maturities of three months or less, in the amount of $105.2 million and $18.7 million, are included in Cash and cash
equivalents on the Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively.
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The Company performs routine procedures such as comparing prices obtained from independent source to ensure that appropriate fair values are recorded. Because
the transfer of Private Placement Warrants to anyone outside of a small group of individuals constituting the sponsors of Kensington would result in the Private
Placement Warrants having substantially the same terms as the Public Warrants, the Company determined that the fair value of each Private Placement Warrant is
consistent with that of a Public Warrant. Accordingly, the Private Placement Warrants are classified as Level 2 financial instruments.
As of December 31, 2019 and 2020, the carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, accounts payable and accrued liabilities approximate their respective fair
values due to their short-term nature.
Marketable Securities
The following table summarizes, by major security type, the Company’s assets that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis and are categorized using the fair
value hierarchy. Amortized cost net of unrealized gain (loss) is equal to fair value as of December 31, 2020. The fair value as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, are
as follows (amounts in thousands):
December 31, 2020
Unrealized
Gain

Amortized Cost

Level 1 securities
Money market fund
Level 2 securities
US government securities
Total

Fair Value

$

12,235

$

—

$

—

$

12,235

$

977,357
989,592

$

24
24

$

(55)
(55)

$

977,326
989,561

December 31, 2019
Unrealized
Gain

Amortized Cost

Level 1 securities
Money market fund
Level 2 securities
Repurchase agreement
US government securities
Total Level 2 securities
Total

Unrealized
Loss

$

5,163

$

13,500
107,009
120,509
125,672

$

—

$

—
90
90
90

Unrealized
Loss

Fair Value

$

—

$

—
—
—
—

$

5,163

$

13,500
107,099
120,599
125,762

Any realized gains and losses and interest income are included in interest income.
We regularly review our available-for-sale marketable securities in an unrealized loss position and evaluate the current expected credit loss by considering factors
such as historical experience, market data, issuer-specific factors, and current economic conditions. The aggregate fair value of the 12 marketable securities in
unrealized loss position was $419.2 million as of December 31, 2020, none of which have been in the continuous unrealized loss for more than twelve months. The
unrealized losses were attributable to changes in interest rates that impacted the value of the investments, and not increased credit risk. Accordingly, we have not
recorded an allowance for credit losses associated with these investments. As of December 31, 2019, the Company did not have any available-for-sale securities in
an unrealized loss position.
The estimated amortized cost and fair value of available-for-sale securities by contractual maturity as of December 31, 2020, are as follows (amounts in
thousands):
December 31, 2020
Amortized Cost

Due within one year
Due after one year and through five years
Total

$
$
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895,867
93,725
989,592

Fair Value

$
$

895,830
93,731
989,561
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Preferred Stock Warrants
In 2011 through 2013, in connection with an equipment and loan security agreement with TriplePoint Capital, the Company issued warrants to purchase 124,586
shares of Legacy QuantumScape Series A convertible preferred stock at $2.20131 per share (“the TPC1 warrants”). The TPC1 warrants were set to expire at the
later of 7 years from effective date or five years after an initial public offering or acquisition.
In January 2015, the Company entered into another equipment loan and security agreement with TriplePoint Capital. In connection with the borrowing of funds per
the agreement, the Company issued warrants to purchase 129,718 shares of Legacy QuantumScape Series C convertible preferred stock at $10.40717 per share
(“TPC2 warrants”). The TPC2 warrants were set to expire at the later of 2022 or five years after an initial public offering or acquisition.
In connection with the Business Combination, each outstanding and unexercised warrant (“Legacy QuantumScape Warrant”) to purchase shares of Legacy
QuantumScape capital stock was automatically converted into a warrant to purchase a number of shares of the applicable class of Common Stock (such warrant,
the “Exchanged Warrant”) equal to the product (rounded down to the nearest whole number) of (i) the number of shares of Legacy QuantumScape common stock
subject to such Legacy QuantumScape Warrant immediately prior to the Effective Time multiplied by (ii) the Exchange Ratio, at an exercise price per share
(rounded up to the nearest whole cent) equal to (A) the exercise price per share of such Legacy QuantumScape Warrant immediately prior to the Effective Time
divided by (B) the Exchange Ratio. Accordingly, upon the closing of the Business Combination, the TPC1 warrants became warrants to purchase 501,047 shares of
the Company’s Class A Common Stock at $0.5473 per share and the TPC2 warrants became warrants to purchase 521,693 shares of the Company’s Class A
Common Stock at $2.5877 per share with an estimated fair value of $22.6 million. Upon the closing the Business Combination and conversion to warrants for the
purchase if Class A Common Stock, the fair value of the TPC1 and TPC2 warrants were determined using the OPM with the following assumptions:
At Conversion
TPC1 Warrants
TPC2 Warrants

Option term (in years)
Volatility
Risk-free interest rate
Expected dividends
Discount for lack of marketability

5
70.0%
0.39%
—
—

5
70.0%
0.39%
—
—

In December 2020, all outstanding TPC1 and TPC2 warrants were net exercised in exchange for 998,460 shares of Class A Common Stock.
As of December 31, 2019, the fair value of the TPC1 and TPC2 warrants were re-measured using the OPM with the following assumptions:
As of December 31, 2019
TPC1 Warrants
TPC2 Warrants

Option term (in years)
Volatility
Risk-free interest rate
Expected dividends
Discount for lack of marketability

5
58.5%
1.69%
—
35.0%

5
45.0%
1.69%
—
35.0%

The 5-year term was derived based on the Company’s estimation of the timing of the exercise of the warrants. Significant changes in the option term and volatility
would result in a significantly higher or lower fair value measurement, respectively. As of December 31, 2019, the fair value of the TPC warrants were reported on
the Company’s balance sheets as a long-term liability.
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The following table presents the reconciliation of the TPC warrants measured and recorded at fair value on a recurring basis using the significant unobservable
inputs described above (amounts in thousands):
TPC1 Warrants

Balance at December 31, 2018
Re-measurement loss included in interest expense
Balance at December 31, 2019
Re-measurement loss included in interest expense
Reclassification to additional paid-in capital upon recapitalization
Balance at December 31, 2020

$

$

984
52
1,036
10,475
(11,511)
—

TPC2 Warrants

$

$

782
42
824
10,290
(11,114)
—

Fair Value

$

$

1,766
94
1,860
20,765
(22,625)
—

Convertible Preferred Stock Tranche Liabilities
In May 2020 and September 2020, Legacy QuantumScape executed a stock purchase agreement and related agreements and amendments thereto, with VGA for an
investment of $200 million in Legacy QuantumScape’s Series F convertible preferred stock.
The terms of the Series F Preferred Stock Purchase Agreement with VGA obligated Legacy QuantumScape to issue and sell, and VGA to purchase, up to a total of
7,569,508 shares of Series F convertible preferred stock (the “tranche shares”) at $26.4218 per share, to be funded in two tranches: (1) 3,784,754 shares of Legacy
QuantumScape Series F Preferred Stock issued for $100 million on December 1, 2020 (the time-based portion of the agreement, “tranche shares 1”), and (2)
3,784,754 shares of Legacy QuantumScape Series F Preferred Stock will be issued for $100 million subject to certain conditions including the achievement of a
specified technical milestone by March 31, 2021, as set forth in such agreements (“tranche shares 2”). The Company concluded that the firm commitment to issue
the tranche shares met the definition of a freestanding financial instrument. As the underlying convertible preferred shares of the outstanding tranche liabilities
were redeemable outside the control of the Company, the fair value of the tranche liabilities was reported on the Company’s balance sheets as a long-term liability,
and the fair value change was recorded in other expense in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss, as noted in the table below.
The Series F Preferred Stock Purchase Agreement with VGA, as amended, contains provisions pursuant to which, if the relevant closing of such Series F Preferred
Stock Purchase Agreement (in whole or in part) occur only after effectiveness of the Merger, VGA agreed to purchase, and the Company agreed to issue, instead of
the relevant number of shares of Legacy QuantumScape Series F Preferred Stock to be purchased at such closing, such number of shares of Class A Common
Stock as would have been issued in the Merger in exchange for such shares of Legacy QuantumScape Series F Preferred Stock if they had been outstanding prior
to the Merger. As a result of these provisions to issue shares of Class A Common Stock, and upon consummation of the Business Combination, the Company
determine its obligation to issue Class A Common Stock pursuant to the Series F Preferred Stock Purchase Agreement was equity classified and the fair value of
the tranche liabilities was reclassified to additional paid-in capital.
In August 2020, Legacy QuantumScape entered into Series F Preferred Stock Purchase Agreements and related agreements thereto with several new and existing
investors, pursuant to which it agreed to sell, and the investors agreed to purchase, an aggregate of 7,115,335 shares of Legacy QuantumScape Series F Preferred
Stock at $26.4218 per share for an aggregate purchase price of $188 million (tranche shares 3 and 4), of which: (1) $94.0 million was to be funded at the earlier of
December 1, 2020 or a SPAC business combination (“tranche shares 3”), and (2) the remaining $94.0 million tranche (“tranche shares 4”) was to be funded at the
earlier of a SPAC business combination closing or March 2021. Similar to the tranche shares to VGA, the Company concluded that the firm commitment to issue
the incremental tranche shares 3 and 4 met the definition of a freestanding financial instrument.
Pursuant to the terms of these Series F Preferred Stock Purchase Agreements, funding of the tranche shares 3 and 4 occurred concurrent with the closing of the
Business Combination. Upon funding and issuance of the 7,115,335 shares of Legacy QuantumScape Series F Preferred Stock, the convertible preferred stock
tranche liability associated with tranche shares 3 and 4 was settled and the fair value of the tranche liability was recorded as redeemable convertible preferred
stock.
The Company remeasured all tranche share liabilities as of closing date of the Business Combination based on the closing market price of Kensington immediately
prior to the Business Combination. The fair value of the Legacy QuantumScape’s Series F convertible preferred stock tranches was calculated based on the traded
stock price of Kensington at November 25, 2020 of $23.50, adjusted for the Exchange Ratio, less the Series F exercise price of $26.42.
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The following table presents the reconciliation of the Series F convertible preferred tranche liabilities measured and recorded at fair value on a recurring basis
using the significant unobservable inputs described above (amounts in thousands):
Fair Value

Balance at December 31, 2019
Issuance and re-measurement loss recorded in other expense
Issuance of Legacy QuantumScape Series F Preferred Stock - tranche shares 3 and 4
Reclassification to additional paid-in capital upon Closing of the Business Combination tranche shares 1 and 2
Balance at December 31, 2020

$

—
999,865
(484,471)
(515,394)
—

$

7. Property and Equipment
Property and equipment at December 31, 2020 and 2019, consisted of the following (amounts in thousands):
December 31,
2020

Computers and hardware
Furniture and fixtures
Lab equipment
Leasehold improvements
Construction-in-progress

$

Accumulated depreciation and amortization
Property and equipment, net

2019

624
10,099
37,051
12,154
16,078
76,006
(32,310)
43,696

$

$

$

598
4,755
25,919
12,005
8,610
51,887
(26,395)
25,492

Depreciation and amortization expense related to property and equipment was $7.5 million and $5.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019,
respectively.
8. Leases
The Company currently leases its headquarters under a single lease classified as an operating lease expiring in January 2023. Fixed rent escalates each year and the
Company is responsible for a portion of the landlord’s operating expenses such as property tax, insurance and common area maintenance. Under the lease, the
Company has one 60-month renewal option, which has been included in the calculation of lease liabilities and right of use assets at the adoption date of the lease
accounting standard on January 1, 2019, as the exercise of the option was reasonably certain. As the renewal rent has not been negotiated, the Company used an
estimated rent rate which approximated the fair market rent at adoption for the extension period. This lease does not have any contingent rent payments and does
not contain residual value guarantees.
The Company does not have any leases classified as financing leases during the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019.
The components of lease related expense are as follows (amounts in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,
2020
2019

Operating leases

Operating lease cost
Variable lease cost
Operating lease expense

$
$
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2,143
409
2,552

$
$

2,143
425
2,568
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The components of supplemental cash flow information related to leases are as follows (amounts in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,
2020
2019

Operating cash flows - operating leases
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for operating lease liabilities

$
$

1,994
—

$
$

1,936
14,100

Year Ended December 31,
2020
2019

Weighted-average remaining lease term - operating leases (in years)
Weighted-average discount rate - operating leases

7.1
7.00%

8.1
7.00%

As of December 31, 2020, future minimum payments during the next five years and thereafter are as follows (amounts in thousands):
Operating
Leases

Year Ended December 31, 2021
Year Ended December 31, 2022
Year Ended December 31, 2023
Year Ended December 31, 2024
Year Ended December 31, 2025
Thereafter
Total
Less present value discount
Operating lease liabilities

$

$

2,053
2,115
2,301
2,318
2,318
4,828
15,933
(3,469)
12,464

The Company’s lease agreement does not provide an implicit rate, so the Company used an estimated incremental borrowing rate, which was derived from thirdparty information available at the time the Company adopted ASC 842, Leases, in determining the present value of lease payments. The rate used is for a secured
borrowing of a similar term as the lease.
Sublease
In May 2017, the Company entered into an agreement to sublet approximately 15,000 square feet of the Company’s leased space for the sublease term of 3 years.
In March 2018, the sublease agreement was amended to add approximately another 11,000 square feet to the sublease. The Company received $0.9 million for the
years ended December 31, 2019 in sublease income and the amounts have been recorded in other income (expense). The sublease was terminated at the end of
2019.
9. Commitments and Contingencies
From time to time, and in the ordinary course of business, the Company may be subject to certain claims, charges and litigation concerning matters arising in
connection with the conduct of the Company’s business activities.
On December 11, 2020, a putative class action lawsuit was filed by a purported QuantumScape warrantholder (Index No. 656963/2020 (Sup. Ct. N.Y. Cnty.))
against the Company and Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company. The complaint alleges, among other things, that the plaintiff is entitled to exercise
warrants within 30 days of Closing. The complaint also alleges that the proxy statement/prospectus/information statement dated September 21, 2020 and
November 12, 2020 is misleading and/or omits material information concerning the exercise of the warrants. The complaint generally seeks, among other things,
the ability to exercise the warrants within 30 days of Closing. QuantumScape removed the case to federal court, Case No. 1:20-cv-10842 (S.D.N.Y.).
On December 24, 2020, a lawsuit was filed by three purported QuantumScape warrantholders (Index No. 657256/2020 (Sup. Ct. N.Y. Cnty.)) against the
Company. The complaint alleges, among other things, that the plaintiffs are entitled to exercise warrants within 30 days of Closing. The complaint also alleges that
the proxy statement/prospectus/information statement dated September 21, 2020 and November 12, 2020 is misleading and/or omits material information
concerning the exercise of the warrants. The complaint generally seeks, among other things, the ability to exercise the warrants within 30 days of Closing.
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Between January 5 and January 8, 2021, three putative class action lawsuits were filed by purported purchasers of QuantumScape securities. (Case No. 3:21-cv00058-WHO (N.D. Cal. filed January 5, 2021); Case No. 4:21-cv-00070-JST (N.D. Cal. filed January 6, 2021); and Case No. 3:21-cv-00150-VC (N.D. Cal. filed
January 8, 2021)) against the Company and its Chief Executive Officer or against the Company and certain members of management and the Board of Directors,
and VGA.
All three complaints allege that the defendants purportedly made false and/or misleading statements and failed to disclose material adverse facts about
QuantumScape’s business, operations, and prospects, including information regarding the Company’s battery technology. The complaints allege a purported class
that includes persons who purchased or acquired QuantumScape securities on certain dates.
A shareholder derivative suit was also filed against 11 officers and directors of the Company: Case No. 3:21-cv-00989 (N.D. Cal. filed February 8, 2021).
QuantumScape is the nominal defendant. The suit alleges that the individual defendants breached various duties to the Company and contains additional similar
allegations based on the same general allegations in the class action complaints described immediately above. VGA was also named as a defendant in the
derivative suit.
For many legal matters, particularly those in early stages, the Company cannot reasonably estimate the possible loss (or range of loss), if any. The Company
records an accrual for legal matters at the time or times it determines that a loss is both probable and reasonably estimable. Amounts accrued as of December 31,
2020 were not material. Regarding matters for which no accrual has been made (including the potential for losses in excess of amounts accrued), the Company
currently believes, based on its own investigations, that any losses (or ranges of losses) that are reasonably possible and estimable will not, in the aggregate, have a
material adverse effect on its financial position, results of operations, or cash flows. However, the ultimate outcome of legal proceedings involves judgments,
estimates, and inherent uncertainties and cannot be predicted with certainty. Should the ultimate outcome of any legal matter be unfavorable, the Company's
business, financial condition, results of operations, or cash flows could be materially and adversely affected. The Company may also incur substantial legal fees,
which are expensed as incurred, in defending against legal claims.
10. Assumed Common Stock Warrants
At December 31, 2020, there are 18,149,989 warrants outstanding.
As part of Kensington’s initial public offering, 11,499,989 Public Warrants were sold. The Public Warrants entitle the holder thereof to purchase one share of Class
A Common Stock at a price of $11.50 per share, subject to adjustments. The Public Warrants may be exercised only for a whole number of shares of Class A
Common Stock. No fractional shares will be issued upon exercise of the warrants. The Public Warrants will expire at 5:00 p.m. New York City time on November
25, 2025, or earlier upon redemption or liquidation. The Public Warrants are listed on the NYSE under the symbol “QS.WS.”
The Company may redeem the Public Warrants starting July 30, 2021, in whole and not in part, at a price of $0.01 per warrant, so long as the Company provides
not less than 30 days’ prior written notice of redemption to each warrantholder, and if, and only if, the reported last sale price of Common Stock equals or exceeds
$18.00 per share for any 20 trading days within a 30-trading day period ending on the third trading day prior to the date the Company sends the notice of
redemption to the warrantholders.
Simultaneously with Kensington’s initial public offering, Kensington consummated a private placement of 6,575,000 Private Placement Warrants with
Kensington’s sponsor. Kensington issued an additional 75,000 Working Capital Warrants in connection with the closing of the Business Combination. Each
Private Placement Warrant and Working Capital Warrant is exercisable for one share of Class A Common Stock at a price of $11.50 per share, subject to
adjustment. The Private Placement Warrants and Working Capital Warrants are identical to the Public Warrants, except that:
(1) the Private Placement Warrants and Working Capital Warrants and the shares of Class A Common Stock issuable upon exercise of the Private Placement
Warrants and Working Capital Warrants are not transferable, assignable or salable until 30 days after the completion of a Business Combination, subject to certain
limited exceptions,
(2) the Private Placement Warrants and Working Capital Warrants are non-redeemable (except as described below) so long as they are held by the sponsor or its
permitted transferees. Commencing September 28, 2021, the Company may redeem the outstanding Public Warrants, Private Placement Warrants and Working
Capital Placement Warrants:
•

in whole and not in part;

•

at $0.10 per warrant upon a minimum of 30 days’ prior written notice of redemption provided that holders will be able to exercise their warrants on a
cashless basis prior to redemption and receive that number of shares of Class A Common Stock to be determined by reference to a table in the warrant
agreement;
66

QuantumScape Corporation
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — Continued
December 31, 2020
•

if, and only if, the last reported sale price of the Company’s Class A Common Stock equals or exceeds $10.00 per share (as adjusted for stock splits,
stock dividends, reorganizations, recapitalizations and the like) on the trading day prior to the date on which the Company sends the notice of
redemption to the warrantholders;

•

if, and only if, the Private Placement Warrants and Working Capital Warrants are also concurrently called for redemption at the same price (equal to a
number of shares of Class A Common Stock) as the outstanding Public Warrants, as described above; and

•

if, and only if, there is an effective registration statement covering the shares of Class A Common Stock (or a security other than the Class A Common
Stock into which the Class A Common Stock has been converted or exchanged for in the event the Company is not the surviving company in the initial
Business Combination) issuable upon exercise of the warrants and a current prospectus relating thereto available throughout the 30-day period after
written notice of redemption is given.

(3) the Private Placement Warrants and Working Capital Warrants may be exercised by the holders on a cashless basis, and
(4) the holders of the Private Placement Warrants and Working Capital Warrants (including with respect to the shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of
the Private Placement Warrants and Working Capital Warrants) are entitled to registration rights. If the Private Placement Warrants and Working Capital Warrants
are held by someone other than the Sponsor or its permitted transferees, the Private Placement Warrants and Working Capital Warrants will cease to be Private
Placement Warrants or Working Capital Warrants, as applicable, and become Public Warrants and be redeemable by the Company in all redemption scenarios and
exercisable by such holders on the same basis as the other Public Warrants.
On February 13, 2021 the Warrant Agreement, dated June 25, 2020, by and between the Company and Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company, was
amended to allow for earlier exercise of the Public Warrants. Prior to the amendment, the Public Warrants were exercisable starting on June 30, 2021. Following
the amendment, the Public Warrants are now exercisable starting on March 5, 2021, at which time holders of Public Warrants may exercise their right to purchase
one share of the Company’s Class A Common Stock for $11.50 for each Public Warrant. All other terms, including the redemption terms, for the Public Warrants
remain unchanged; the Company may not redeem Public Warrants before July 30, 2021. The terms for the Private Placement Warrants and Working Capital
Warrants remain unchanged.
The Company concluded the Public Warrants and Private Placement Warrants, or Assumed Common Stock Warrants, meet the definition of a derivative under
ASC 815 (as described in Note 2) and are recorded as liabilities. Upon consummation of the Business Combination, the fair value of the Assumed Common Stock
Warrants was recorded on the Balance Sheet. The fair value of the Assumed Common Stock Warrants was remeasured as of December 31, 2020, resulting in a
$581.9 million non-cash change in fair value of assumed common stock warrant liabilities in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss.
11. Stockholders’ Equity
As of December 31, 2020, 1,350,000,000 shares, $0.0001 par value per share are authorized, of which, 1,000,000,000 shares are designated as Class A Common
Stock, 250,000,000 shares are designated as Class B Common Stock, and 100,000,000 shares are designated as Preferred Stock.
Common Stock
Holders of the common stock are entitled to dividends when, as, and if, declared by the Company’s Board of Directors, subject to the rights of the holders of all
classes of stock outstanding having priority rights to dividends. As of December 31, 2020, the Company had not declared any dividends. The holder of each share
of Class A Common Stock is entitled to one vote, and the holder of each share of Class B Common Stock is entitled to ten votes. All common stock outstanding as
of December 31, 2020 consists of 207,769,091 Class A Common Stock and 156,224,614 Class B Common Stock.
Legacy QuantumScape Series F Convertible Preferred Stock
As further described in Note 6 (Fair Value), in May 2020 and September 2020, Legacy QuantumScape and VGA entered into a Series F Preferred Stock Purchase
Agreement and related agreements and amendments thereto, and in August 2020, Legacy QuantumScape and several new and existing investors entered into Series
F Preferred Stock Purchase Agreements and related agreements thereto, pursuant to which Legacy QuantumScape agreed to sell, and VGA and other investors
agreed to purchase, up to an aggregate 14,684,843 shares of Legacy QuantumScape Series F Preferred Stock at $26.4218 per share for an aggregate purchase price
of $388 million (the “Series F Preferred Stock Purchase Agreements”). As previously mentioned, the Series F Preferred Stock Purchase Agreement with VGA, as
amended, contains provisions pursuant to which, if the relevant closing of such Series F Preferred Stock Purchase Agreement
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(in whole or in part) occur only after effectiveness of the Business Combination, VGA agreed to purchase, and Kensington agreed to issue, instead of the relevant
number of shares of Legacy QuantumScape Series F Preferred Stock to be purchased at such closing, such number of shares of Class A Common Stock as would
have been issued in the Business Combination in exchange for such shares of Legacy QuantumScape Series F Preferred Stock if they had been outstanding prior to
the Business Combination.
Pursuant to the terms of the Series F Preferred Stock Purchase Agreements Legacy QuantumScape issued 7,115,335 shares of Series F Preferred Stock for an
aggregate purchase price of $188.0 million, net of issuance costs of $11.5 million, concurrent with the closing of the Business Combination, and the Company
issued 15,221,334 shares of Class A Common Stock to VGA for $100.0 million on December 1, 2020. As of December 31, 2020, VGA’s commitment to purchase
15,221,334 shares of Class A Common Stock for $100.0 million subject to certain conditions including the achievement of a specified technical milestone by
March 31, 2021, is outstanding.
The Company concluded that the firm commitment to issue the tranche shares to VGA and the other investors met the definition of a freestanding financial
instrument (as described in Note 6). Prior to the Business Combination, as the underlying convertible preferred shares of the outstanding tranche liabilities were
redeemable outside the control of the Company, the fair value of the tranche liabilities was reported on the Legacy QuantumScape’s balance sheets as a long-term
liability, and the change in fair value was recorded in other expense in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss. Upon consummation
of the Business Combination, the tranche liabilities were reclassified to additional paid-in capital.
Equity Incentive Plans
Prior to the Business Combination, the Company maintained its 2010 Equity Incentive Plan (the 2010 Plan), under which the Company granted options and
restricted share units to purchase or directly issue shares of common stock to employees, directors, and non-employees.
Upon closing of the Business Combination, awards under the 2010 Plan were converted at the Exchange Ratio and assumed into the 2020 Equity Incentive Award
Plan (the 2020 Plan). The 2020 Plan permits the granting of awards in the form of incentive stock options, nonqualified stock options, stock appreciation rights,
restricted shares, restricted share units and performance awards to employees, directors, and non-employees.
As of December 31, 2020, 41,500,000 shares of Class A Common Stock are authorized for issuance pursuant to awards under the 2020 Plan, plus any shares of
Class A Common Stock subject to stock options, restricted stock units or other awards that were assumed in the Business Combination and terminate as a result of
being unexercised or are forfeited or repurchased by the Company, with the maximum number of shares to be added to the 2020 Plan equal to 69,846,580 shares of
Class A Common Stock. As of December 31, 2020, 59,625,395 shares of Class A Common Stock are available for future issuance under the 2020 Plan.
Options may be granted at a price per share not less than 100% of the fair market value at the date of grant. If the option is granted to a 10% stockholder, then the
purchase or exercise price per share shall not be less than 110% of the fair market value per share of the common stock on the grant date. Options granted generally
vest over a period of four years and have ten-year contractual terms.
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Stock Options
Stock option activity under the Plans are as follows:

Number of
Shares
Outstanding

Balance at December 31, 2018 (as previously reported)
Conversion of awards due to recapitalization
Balance at December 31, 2018, effect of reverse acquisition
Granted
Cancelled and forfeited
Exercised
Balance at December 31, 2019
Granted
Cancelled and forfeited
Exercised
Balance at December 31, 2020
Vested and exercisable -December 31, 2020

11,112,466
33,578,834
44,691,300
11,955,658
(571,664)
(618,404)
55,456,890
3,866,992
(3,361,530)
(646,016)
55,316,336
41,944,514

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual
Term
(Years)

Weighted
Average
Exercise Price

$

4.15
(3.12)
1.03
2.38
1.43
0.64
1.32
5.08
0.85
0.93
1.62
1.17

$

$
$

Intrinsic value
(in thousands)

6.44
6.44

6.32

5.77
4.88

$
$

4,582,001
3,493,198

There were 646,016 options exercised during the year ended December 31, 2020 at the aggregate intrinsic value of $3.5 million.
Options with a fair value of $9.1 million and $6.8 million vested in 2020 and 2019, respectively.
Additional information regarding options outstanding at December 31, 2020, is as follows:
Number of Options
Outstanding

Range of Exercise Price per Share

$0.11 - $0.64
$1.05 - $1.35
$2.38
$6.23

Weighted Average Exercise
Price

Weighted Average
Remaining Contractual Life
(Years)

10,380,188
28,295,781
13,953,743
2,686,624

$

0.40
1.25
2.38
6.23

1.56
5.57
8.56
9.68

55,316,336

$

1.62

5.77

Stock-based compensation expense is based on the grant-date fair value. The Company recognizes compensation expense for all stock-based awards on a straightline basis over the requisite service period of the awards, which is generally the option vesting term of four years.
As of December 31, 2020, the Company had stock-based compensation of $22.0 million related to unvested stock options not yet recognized that are expected to
be recognized over an estimated weighted average period of 3.1 years.
The following weighted average assumptions were used as inputs to the Black-Scholes OPM in determining the estimated grant-date fair value of the Company’s
stock options to employees:
Year Ended December 31,
2020
2019

Volatility
Risk-free interest rate
Expected term (in years)
Expected dividend
Weighted average fair value at grant date

$

69

70.00%
0.39%
6.08
—
2.67

$

70.00%
1.92%
6.02
—
1.50
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Restricted Stock Units
Restricted stock unit activity under the Plans are as follows:
Number of
Restricted
Stock Units

Balance at December 31, 2019
Granted
Balance at December 31, 2020

Weighted
Average grant
date fair value

—
13,913,076
13,913,076

Vested - December 31, 2020

$

—
8.94
8.94

$

—

As of December 31, 2020, unrecognized compensation costs related to Restricted Stock Units granted were $116.8 million and are expected to be recognized over
a weighted average period of 3.5 years.
Total stock-based compensation expense recognized in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss for all equity awards is
as follows (amounts in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,
2020
2019

Research and development
General and administrative
Total stock-based compensation expense

$
$

9,889
7,135
17,024

$

4,115
2,696
6,811

$

12. Earnings (Loss) Per Share
Basic and diluted earnings per share are the same for each class of common stock because they are entitled to the same liquidation and dividend rights. The
following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted loss per Class A Common Stock and Class B Common Stock (amounts in thousands, except share
and per share amounts):
Year Ended December 31,
2020
2019
(Restated)

Numerator:
Net loss attributable to common stockholders
Denominator:
Weighted average Class A and Class B common shares outstanding
- Basic and Diluted
Net loss per share attributable to Class A and Class B Common stockholders
- Basic and Diluted

$

(1,681,777)

$

252,143,509
$

(6.67)

(51,283)

239,636,062
$

(0.21)

Basic and diluted earnings per share was the same for each period presented as the inclusion of all potential Class A Common Stock and Class B Common Stock
outstanding would have been anti-dilutive.
The following table presents the potential common stock outstanding that was excluded from the computation of diluted net loss per share of common stock as of
the periods presented because including them would have been antidilutive:
Year Ended December 31,
2020
2019

Warrants
Options outstanding
Restricted stock units
VGA contingent purchase commitment (1)
Total

18,149,989
55,316,336
13,913,076
15,221,334
102,600,735
70

1,022,740
55,456,890
—
—
56,479,630
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(1) This refers to VGA’s commitment to purchase 15,221,334 shares of Class A Common Stock for $100.0 million subject to certain conditions including
the achievement of a specified technical milestone by March 31, 2021. See Note 11 for more information.
13. Joint Venture and Redeemable Non-Controlling Interest
As described in Note 2, on September 11, 2018, the Company entered into a JVA with VWGoA and VGA and formed the JV entity. The Company determined the
entity was a variable interest entity with a related party, and the Company’s operations were more closely associated with the JV entity. As such, the Company
consolidates the JV entity for financial reporting purposes, and a non-controlling interest is recorded for VGA’s interest in the net assets and operations of QSV
operations to the extent of the VGA investment. The Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet includes $3.4 million cash and cash equivalents and less than
$0.1 million of prepaid expenses of the JV entity at December 31, 2020 ($3.4 million and less than $0.1 million, respectively at December 31, 2019). Although the
Company has consolidated the net assets of the JV entity, it has no right to the use of those assets for its standalone operations.
The following table sets forth the change in redeemable non-controlling interest for years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 (amounts in thousands):
Redeemable Non-Controlling
Interest

Balance at December 31, 2018
Net income attributable to redeemable non-controlling interest in consolidated JV
Balance at December 31, 2019
Net loss attributable to redeemable non-controlling interest in consolidated JV
Balance at December 31, 2020

$
$
$

1,690
20
1,710
(6)
1,704

On May 14, 2020, the Company amended the JVA and other related agreements regarding the JV entity in connection with VGA’s investment of $200.0 million in
the Company’s Series F convertible preferred stock as described in Note 11. The Company determined the amendments represented a reconsideration event and
determined that the JV entity is still a variable interest entity. As the significance and nature of the business of the JV entity continues to be more aligned with the
core business of the Company and the Company continues to absorb a majority of the variability associated with the JV entity’s anticipated economic performance,
the Company continues to be the related party most closely associated with the JV entity.
In September 2020, the Company entered into an agreement with VWGoA under which the Company agreed to reserve $134.0 million from the aggregate
proceeds of the Series F Preferred Stock Financings and the Business Combination to fund its expected equity contributions to the JV entity, which amounts are
included in Marketable securities in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2020.
14. Income Taxes
The Company has no provision for income taxes for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019. The Company has no current tax expense from losses and no
deferred expense from the valuation allowance.
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A reconciliation from U.S. statutory rate of 21% to the effective rate is as follows:
Year Ended December 31,
2020
2019
(Restated)

Federal Statutory rate
State tax expense
Permanent tax items
R&D tax credit
Other
Change to valuation allowance
Change in fair value of assumed common stock warrant liabilities
Change in fair value of Series F tranche liabilities
Effective tax rate

21.0%
0.0%
(0.2%)
0.2%
(0.1%)
(1.1%)
(7.3%)
(12.5%)
0.0%

21.0%
7.0%
(2.2%)
4.5%
0.0%
(30.4%)
0.0%
0.0%
0.0%

Significant components of the Company’s net deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, are as follows (amounts in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,
2020
2019

Deferred tax assets:
Net operating losses
Tax credits
Accruals and stock-based compensation
Lease liability
Intangibles
Gross deferred tax assets
Valuation allowance
Total deferred tax assets
Deferred tax liabilities:
Right of use assets
Fixed assets
Total deferred tax liabilities
Total net deferred tax assets

$

$
$

$

88,392
16,314
3,313
2,621
1,413
112,053
(105,781)
6,272
(2,463)
(3,809)
(6,272)
—

$

$

71,374
10,219
4,671
3,796
90
90,150
(85,677)
4,473

$

(3,627)
(846)
(4,473)
—

Recognition of deferred tax assets is appropriate when realization of such assets is more likely than not. Based upon the weight of available evidence, which
includes the Company’s historical operating performance, cumulative net losses, and projected future losses, the Company has provided a full valuation allowance
against its deferred tax assets. The Company’s valuation allowance increased by $20.1 million and $14.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019,
respectively. A reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances of the valuation allowance is as follows (amounts in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,
2020
2019

Beginning of the year
Increase
End of the year

$
$

(85,677)
(20,104)
(105,781)

$
$

(71,340)
(14,337)
(85,677)

At December 31, 2020, the Company had federal and state net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $340.7 million and $231.2 million, respectively. The
federal net operating loss carryforwards of $170.3 million generated prior to 2018 will expire at various dates beginning in 2030, if not utilized. We have federal
net operating loss carryforwards of $170.4 million, which can be carried forward indefinitely. The state net operating loss carryforwards of $231.2 million will
expire at various dates beginning in 2030, if not utilized.
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Section 382 and Section 383 of the Internal Revenue Code and similar provisions under state law has limitations on federal and state net operating loss
carryforwards and research and development credit carryforwards. The Tax Reform Act contains provisions that limit the federal net operating loss carryforwards
that may be used in any given year in the event of special occurrences, including significant ownership changes. A Section 382 “ownership change” generally
occurs if one or more stockholders or groups of stockholders, who own at least 5% of the Company’s stock, increase their ownership by more than 50 percentage
points over their lowest ownership percentage within a rolling three-year period. The Company performed the analysis and determined that it has experienced an
ownership change in December 2010 and in August 2012 as a result of the preferred stock financing rounds. The federal and state net operating loss carryforwards
and research and development credit carryforwards are not subject to significant limitations under Section 382 and Section 383 of the Internal Revenue Code and
similar provisions under state law.
On September 9, 2019, the Treasury Department and the IRS issued proposed regulations under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code which, if finalized, will
severely limit the ability of corporations to avail themselves of NOLs following an ownership change. Specifically, the regulations would eliminate a safe harbor
established in Notice 2003-65 that allows corporations to increase their Section 382 limitation by the gain inherent in their assets, even if those assets were not
actually sold. The Company performed the analysis and determined that it has experienced an ownership change in December 2010 and in August 2012 as a result
of the preferred stock financing rounds.
As of December 31, 2020, the Company also has Federal and California research and development credits of $13.4 million and $11.3 million, respectively. The
federal tax credit carryforwards will expire beginning in 2031, if not utilized. The state tax credit carryforwards do not expire.
The Company records unrecognized tax benefits in accordance with ASC 740-10, Income Taxes. ASC 740-10 which prescribes a recognition threshold and
measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and measurement of uncertain tax positions taken or expected to be taken in the Company’s income
tax return and also provides guidance on de-recognition, classification, interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosure, and transition. The
Company had total unrecognized tax benefits of $6.6 million and $7.1 million as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
A reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows (amounts in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,
2020
2019

Beginning of the year
Increase—current year positions
Increase—prior year positions
Decrease—prior year positions
End of the year

$

$

7,076
1,553
193
(2,247)
6,575

$

$

5,372
1,704
—
—
7,076

Due to the Company’s full valuation allowance, the unrecognized tax benefits would not materially impact the Company’s effective tax rate when recognized. The
Company does not anticipate the total amounts of unrecognized tax benefits will significantly increase or decrease in the next 12 months.
The Company’s policy is to classify interest and penalties associated with uncertain tax positions, if any, as a component of its income tax provision. For the years
ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company had no interest or penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits.
The federal and state income tax returns are open under the statute of limitations subject to tax examinations for the tax years ended December 31, 2017 through
December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2016 through December 31, 2019, respectively. To the extent the Company has tax attribute carryforwards, the tax year in
which the attribute was generated may still be adjusted upon examination by the IRS or state tax authorities to the extent utilized in a future period.
The Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (“CARES Act”) signed in to law on March 27, 2020, provided that net operating losses (“NOLs”)
generated in a taxable year beginning in 2018, 2019, or 2020, may now be carried back five years and forward indefinitely. In addition, the 80% taxable income
limitation is temporarily removed, allowing NOLs to fully offset net taxable income. The CARES Act did not materially impact the Company’s tax position.
Section 2301 of the CARES Act provides Employee Retention Credit, a fully refundable tax credit for employers equal to 50 percent of qualified wages that
Eligible Employers pay their employees. In 2020, the Company claimed $0.9 million of employee retention credit that reduces the payroll tax expense.
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15. Related Party Agreements
Joint Venture Agreement
In September 11, 2018, the Company entered into a JVA with VWGoA and VGA as described in Note 2. In connection with this agreement, the parties also have
entered into two operating agreements: (i) the Limited Liability Company Agreement of the JV entity to govern the respective rights and obligations as Members
of the JV entity and (ii) the Common IP License Agreement for the Company to license certain intellectual property rights pertaining to automotive battery cells as
defined in the JVA to VWGoA, VGA and the JV Entity.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.
As previously reported on our Current Report on Form 8-K, dated December 15, 2020, upon the approval of the audit committee of our board of directors, Marcum
LLP (“Marcum”) was dismissed as our independent registered public accounting firm, and Ernst & Young LLP (“E&Y”) was engaged as our independent
registered public accounting firm effective December 9, 2020. Marcum served as our independent registered public accounting firm since April 17, 2020, our
inception as Kensington, whereas E&Y served as the independent registered public accounting firm for us, since 2012, prior to the consummation of the Business
Combination. The audit committee decided to engage E&Y because, for accounting purposes, our historical financial statements include a continuation of the
financial statements of our business.
Marcum’s report on Kensington’s financial statements for the period from April 17, 2020 (inception) until December 9, 2020, did not contain an adverse opinion or
disclaimer of opinion, nor were such reports qualified or modified as to uncertainty, audit scope or accounting principles, except that such audit report contained an
explanatory paragraph in which Marcum expressed a going concern as to as to Kensington’s ability to continue. During the period of Marcum’s engagement by
Kensington, there were no disagreements with Marcum on any matter of accounting principles or practices, financial statement disclosure or auditing scope or
procedure, which disagreements if not resolved to the satisfaction of Marcum, would have caused it to make a reference to the subject matter of the disagreement in
connection with its reports covering such periods. In addition, no “reportable events,” as defined in Item 304(a)(1)(v) of Regulation S-K, occurred within the
period of Marcum’s engagement and subsequent interim period preceding Marcum’s dismissal.
During the period from April 17, 2020 (Kensington’s inception) until its dismissal, neither the Company nor anyone on its behalf consulted E&Y regarding either:
(i) the application of accounting principles to a specified transaction, either completed or proposed; or the type of audit opinion that might be rendered on the
Company’s financial statements, and neither a written report was provided to the Company or oral advice was provided that E&Y concluded was an important
factor considered by the Company in reaching a decision as to the accounting, auditing, or financial reporting issue; or (ii) any matter that was the subject of a
disagreement (as described in Item 304(a)(1)(iv) of Regulation S-K) or a “reportable event” (as described in Item 304(a)(1)(v) of Regulation S-K).
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.
Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls and Procedures
In designing and evaluating our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act), management recognizes
that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives.
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
On April 12, 2021, the SEC issued a Staff Statement (the “Staff Statement”) on Accounting and Reporting Considerations for Warrants Issued by Special Purpose
Acquisition Companies (“SPACs”) expressing their view on certain accounting and reporting considerations related to warrants of a kind similar to those that were
originally issued at the time of Kensington Capital Acquisition Corp.’s (“Kensington”) initial public offering in June 2020.
The Staff Statement discussed “certain features of warrants issued in SPAC transactions” that “may be common across many entities.” The Staff Statement
indicated that when one or more of such features is included in a warrant, the warrant “should be classified as a liability measured at fair value, with changes in fair
value each period reported in earnings.”
The Company has previously classified its Assumed Common Stock Warrants, which were assumed by the Company in connection with the consummation of the
Business Combination on November 25, 2020, as equity. The Company initially evaluated the accounting for its Assumed Common Warrants and believed its
positions to be appropriate and consistent with generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) at that time. Our belief was supported by the fact that most
SPACs and parties who have merged with SPACs similarly interpreted the warrant accounting principles at issue. While the terms of the Assumed Common Stock
Warrants as described in the agreement have not changed, as a result of the Staff Statement, the Company has determined to classify its Assumed Common Stock
Warrants as liabilities, and will subsequently measure them at fair value through earnings pursuant to Accounting Standards Codification 815 (“ASC 815”).
As required by Rules 13a-15 and 15d-15 under the Exchange Act, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer carried out an evaluation of the
effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2020. On February 23, 2021, we filed our original audited
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020 (the “Original Report”). Based upon their evaluation at that earlier time, our Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer had concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange
Act) were effective.
Subsequent to that evaluation, as a result of the material weakness described below, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of
December 31, 2020, our disclosure controls and procedures were not effective.
75

A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a
material misstatement of the Company's annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis.
In connection with the restatement discussed in Note 4 – “Restatement of Consolidated Financial Statements” to the financial statements included herein, our Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer reevaluated the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures relating to the Company’s method of accounting for
the Assumed Common Stock Warrants. They concluded there was a material weakness in controls related to the classification and accounting for the Assumed
Common Stock Warrants, which did not operate effectively to appropriately apply the provisions of ASC 815-40.
Notwithstanding this material weakness, management has concluded that our audited financial statements included in this Annual Report on Amended Form 10K/A No. 2 are fairly stated in all material respects in accordance with GAAP for each of the periods presented herein.
Remediation of Material Weakness
To remediate the material weakness, the Company studied and clarified its understanding of the accounting of contracts that may be settled in the Company’s own
stock, such as warrants, as equity of the entity or as an asset or liability as highlighted in the Staff Statement and enhanced the accounting policy related to the
accounting for such contracts to determine proper accounting in accordance with GAAP as clarified by the Staff Statement. Finally, the Company restated its
consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2020 upon completing its evaluation of the Staff Statement. All necessary revisions
are properly reflected in Note 4 – “Restatement of Consolidated Financial Statements” to the financial statements included herein. The Company plans to complete
the remediation of the material weakness during the second quarter of the year ended December 31, 2021.
Management's Report on Internal Controls Over Financial Reporting
This Annual Report on Form 10-K does not include a report of management’s assessment regarding our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) due to a transition period established by rules of the SEC.
Attestation of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
This Annual Report on Form 10-K does not include an attestation by our independent registered public accounting firm regarding our internal control over
financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) due to a transition period established by the rules of the SEC.
Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
There was no change in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) that occurred during the
quarterly period ended December 31, 2020 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting
other than the changes described above related to the material weakness related to the accounting for the Assumed Common Stock Warrants as equity instead of
liability.
Item 9B. Other Information.
None.
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PART III
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.
The following table sets forth the names, ages, and positions of our executive officers and directors as of April 24, 2021:

Name

Age

Position(s)

Executive Officers
Jagdeep Singh
Dr. Timothy Holme
Dr. Mohit Singh
Kevin Hettrich
Michael McCarthy

53
39
42
39
55

President, Chief Executive Officer, Co-Founder and Chairman
Chief Technology Officer
Chief Development Officer
Chief Financial Officer
Chief Legal Officer and Head of Corporate Development

Non-Employee Directors
Frank Blome (3)
Brad Buss (1)(2)
John Doerr (3)
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Letter Agreements on Board and Committee Representation
On September 2, 2020, we entered into a letter agreement (the “Original Letter Agreement”) with Legacy QuantumScape, and VGA pursuant to
which we would nominate one designee of VGA for election to our board of directors, and from and after the First Closing (as defined under the Series F Preferred
Stock Purchase Agreement between Legacy QuantumScape and VGA, dated May 14, 2020), a second designee of VGA. On December 7, 2020, the parties
amended and restated the Original Letter Agreement to provide that (i) in connection with any annual or special meeting of stockholders at which directors will be
elected, we will nominate for election to our board of directors two designees of VGA (each, a “VW Director”), with such designation rights terminating upon
certain circumstances and (ii) we shall cause one VW Director to be appointed to the nominating and corporate governance committee of our board of directors,
provided that such VW Director fulfills the independence requirements under applicable NYSE rules.
Executive Officers
Jagdeep Singh has served as our President, Chief Executive Officer and the Chairman of our board of directors since November 2020.
Mr. Singh co-founded Legacy QuantumScape and has served as its President and Chief Executive Officer and on Legacy QuantumScape’s board of directors since
its incorporation in May 2010. Prior to joining Legacy QuantumScape, he was the founder and Chief Executive Officer at Infinera Corporation (NASDAQ: INFN),
a telecommunications company, from 2001 to 2009. Mr. Singh holds a B.S. in Computer Science from the University of Maryland College Park, an M.B.A. from
the University of California, Berkeley, Haas School of Business, and a M.S. in Computer Science from Stanford University.
We believe Mr. Singh is qualified to serve on our board of directors because of the perspective and experience he brings as Legacy
QuantumScape’s President and Chief Executive Officer, his leadership experience in the energy storage industry, his educational background and his strong
scientific knowledge.
Dr. Timothy Holme has served as our Chief Technology Officer since November 2020. Dr. Holme co-founded Legacy QuantumScape and served
as Legacy QuantumScape’s Chief Technology Officer from January 2011 to November 2020. Prior to joining Legacy QuantumScape, he was a Research Associate
at Stanford University from June 2008 to January 2011. Dr. Holme holds a B.S. in Physics, a M.S. in Mechanical Engineering, and a Ph.D. in Mechanical
Engineering from Stanford University.
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Dr. Mohit Singh has served as our Chief Development Officer since November 2020. Dr. Singh served as Legacy QuantumScape’s Chief
Development Officer from June 2015 to November 2020. Prior to this, Dr. Singh served as Legacy QuantumScape’s Vice President, Research and Development
and Engineering from April 2014 to June 2015. From 2004 to 2007, Dr. Singh conducted post doctorate research in Chemical Engineering at the Lawrence
Berkeley National Laboratory for the University of California, Berkeley. Dr. Singh holds a B. Tech in Chemical Engineering from the Indian Institute of
Technology Bombay and a Ph.D. in Chemical and Biomolecular Engineering from Tulane University.
Kevin Hettrich has served as our Chief Financial Officer since November 2020. Mr. Hettrich served as Legacy QuantumScape’s Chief Financial
Officer and head of Business Operations from September 2018 to November 2020. Prior to this, Mr. Hettrich served as Legacy QuantumScape’s Vice President of
Business Operations from March 2016 to March 2018, as Senior Director of Finance and Product Management from March 2014 to March 2016, as a Director of
Product Management from March 2013 to March 2014, and as a Manager of Product Management from January 2012 to March 2013. Prior to joining Legacy
QuantumScape, Mr. Hettrich served as a Private Equity Associate of Bain Capital, an investment firm, from September 2007 to July 2009. Mr. Hettrich also served
as a Business Analyst at McKinsey & Company, a management consulting firm, from September 2004 to July 2007. Mr. Hettrich holds a B.A. in Economics from
Pomona College, a M.B.A. from Stanford Graduate School of Business, and a M.S. in Environment and Resources from Stanford University.
Michael McCarthy has served as our Chief Legal Officer and Head of Corporate Development since November 2020. Mr. McCarthy has served
as Legacy QuantumScape’s Chief Legal Officer since March 2013 and Head of Corporate Development since January 2018 and also currently serves on the board
of QSV Operations LLC. Prior to joining Legacy QuantumScape, he was the Chief Administrative Officer at Infinera Corporation from April 2003 to March 2013.
From September 1997 to April 2003, Mr. McCarthy served as Senior Vice President and General Counsel of Ciena Corporation, a network strategy and technology
company. Mr. McCarthy currently serves as a member of the boards of several privately-held companies. Mr. McCarthy holds a B.A. in Mathematical Economics
from Colgate University and a J.D. from Vanderbilt University Law School.
Non-Employee Directors
Frank Blome has served on our board of directors since November 2020, and on Legacy QuantumScape’s board of directors from September
2020 until January 2021. Mr. Blome has also served on the board of QSV Operations LLC since September 2020. Mr. Blome has 25 years of professional
experience in the automotive industry, with a particular focus on alternative powertrain technologies and battery cell technology. Since January 2018, Mr. Blome
has served as the Head of the Battery Center of Excellence of Volkswagen AG. Prior to this, Mr. Blome served from May 2016 to June 2016 as Chief Executive
Officer at Mercedes-Benz Energy GmbH, a subsidiary of the Daimler Group active in the EV battery storage space. From July 2013 to June 2017, Mr. Blome
served as Chief Executive Officer of LiTec Battery GmbH, a battery cell manufacturing company started as a joint venture between Daimler Group and Evonik
Industries AG, a specialty chemicals company. In addition to these roles, Mr. Blome served from June 2009 to June 2017 as the Chief Executive Officer of
Deutsche Accumotive GmbH & Co KG, a subsidiary of Daimler Group, producing batteries for hybrid and EVs, after which Mr. Blome was on garden leave until
January 2018 when he started in his current position at Volkswagen. Mr. Blome holds a diploma in electrical engineering from the University of Applied Sciences
Bielefeld.
We believe Mr. Blome is qualified to serve on our board of directors due to his vast experience in the automotive and alternative powertrain
industries.
Brad Buss has served on our board of directors since November 2020, and on Legacy QuantumScape’s board of directors from August 2020 until
January 2021. From August 2014 until his retirement in February 2016, Mr. Buss served as the Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of SolarCity
Corporation, a solar energy company acquired by Tesla, Inc. (NASDAQ: TSLA), a high-performance electric vehicle company (“Tesla”). Mr. Buss also served as
the Executive, Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Cypress Semiconductor Corporation (NASDAQ: CY), a semiconductor design and manufacturing
company, from August 2005 to June 2014. Mr. Buss has served on the boards of Advance Auto Parts, Inc. (NYSE: AAP) (“Advance”), an automotive parts and
accessories provider, since March 2016, Marvell Technology Group Ltd. (NASDAQ: MRVL) (“Marvell”), a semiconductor company, since July 2018, AECOM
(NYSE: ACM), an engineering firm, since August 2020, and TuSimple Holdings Inc., an autonomous driving technology company, (NASDAQ: TSP) (“TSP”),
since December 2020. Mr. Buss is not standing for reelection to the board of Advance and his term is anticipated to end in May 2021 and at such time, Mr. Buss
will cease to serve on the Advance board and all committees of the Advance board. Mr. Buss serves as Chair of the Audit Committee of Advance, Chair of the
Nominating and Governance Committee and a member of the Audit Committee of Marvell, as Chair of the Nominating and Governance Committee and a member
of the Compensation and Organization Committee of AECOM, as Chair of the Audit Committee of TSP and as a member of the Nominating and Corporate
Governance Committee of TSP. Mr. Buss previously served on the boards of Tesla from November 2009 to June 2019, Cavium, Inc., a semiconductor company,
from July 2016 until its acquisition by Marvell in July 2018, and CafePress Inc., an e-commerce company, from October 2007 to July 2016. He served on the Audit
Committee, Compensation Committee, Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee, and Disclosure Committee of Tesla,
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the Audit Committee and Compensation Committee of Cavium, Inc., and the Audit Committee and Compensation Committee of CafePress Inc. Mr. Buss holds a
B.A. in Economics from McMaster University and a Honors Business Administration degree from University of Windsor.
We believe Mr. Buss is qualified to serve on our board of directors because of his vast leadership expertise and experience on the boards of major
automotive companies.
John Doerr has served on our board of directors since November 2020, and on Legacy QuantumScape’s board of directors from December 2010
until January 2021. Mr. Doerr currently serves as Chairman at Kleiner Perkins, a venture capital firm, and previously served as a Partner from August 1980 to
March 2016. Mr. Doerr currently serves on the boards of Amyris, Inc. (NASDAQ: AMRS), a biotechnology company, since May 2006, Bloom Energy
Corporation (NYSE: BE), an energy solutions company, since April 2002, DoorDash, Inc. (NYSE: DASH), a provider of restaurant food delivery services, since
March 2015 and Alphabet, Inc. (NASDAQ: GOOGL), a multinational technology company, since May 1999. He serves as chair of the nominating and corporate
governance committees of Amyris, Inc., a member of the Compensation and Organizational Development Committee of Bloom Energy Corporation, and Chair of
the Leadership Development and Compensation Committee of Alphabet, Inc. Mr. Doerr previously served on the boards of Bloom Energy Corporation (NYSE:
BE), an energy solutions company, from April 2002 to April 2021, Zynga, Inc. (NASDAQ: ZNGA), a social game developer, from March 2013 to May 2017, and
Amazon.com, Inc. (NASDAQ: AMZN), a multinational technology company, from June 1996 to May 2010. Mr. Doerr holds a B.S. and an M.E.E. in Electrical
Engineering from Rice University and an M.B.A. from Harvard Business School.
We believe Mr. Doerr is qualified to serve on our board of directors because of his extensive investment experience in the technology industry and
extensive expertise and skills in strategy, finance and management.
Prof. Dr. Jürgen Leohold has served on our board of directors since November 2020, and on Legacy QuantumScape’s board of directors from
May 2015 until January 2021. From October 2012 to December 2017, Prof. Dr. Leohold served as the Head of the Volkswagen AutoUni, an advanced training and
research institution for Volkswagen Aktiengesellschaft, a German automobile manufacturer. He continued to serve as a consultant for Volkswagen
Aktiengesellschaft’s research and development group from January 2018 until retiring in May 2019. He also served as the Executive Director of Group Research at
Volkswagen Aktiengesellschaft from April 2006 to July 2016. Prof. Dr. Leohold holds a degree in Electrical Engineering from the University of Hannover, a M.S.
in Electrical Engineering from the Georgia Institute of Technology and a doctoral degree from the University of Hannover.
We believe Prof. Dr. Leohold is qualified to serve on our board of directors because of his leadership experience and his expertise in the energy
technology and automotive fields.
Celina Mikolajczak has served on our board of directors since April 2021. Since August 2020, she has served as Vice President of Engineering
and Battery Technology at Panasonic Energy of North America (“PENA”), a battery manufacturer, and as Vice President of Battery Technology from October
2019 to August 2020. Prior to her service at PENA, she served as Director of Engineering, Energy Storage Systems at Uber Technologies, Inc., a transportation
technology company, from January 2018 to August 2019, as Senior Manager, Cell Quality and Materials Engineering at Tesla from April 2014 to January 2018,
and as Manager, Cell Quality at Tesla from April 2012 to April 2014. Ms. Mikolajczak holds an M.A. in Mechanical and Aerospace Engineering from Princeton
University, and a B.S. in Engineering and Applied Science from the California Institute of Technology.
We believe Ms. Mikolajczak is qualified to serve on our board of directors due to her technical and manufacturing expertise and her leadership
experience.
Justin Mirro has served on our board of directors since November 2020, and as Kensington’s Chairman and Chief Executive Officer from April
2020 to November 2020. Mr. Mirro has over 25 years of operating, mergers and acquisitions and financing experience in the automotive and automotive-related
sector. He began his career at General Motors Company as a Tool and Die Manufacturing Engineer, with successive positions at Car and Driver Magazine, Toyota
Motor Corporation and Itochu International Inc. prior to transitioning to automotive investment banking at Schroder & Co. Inc./Salomon Smith Barney, Inc./ABN
Amro Inc. in 1996. In 1999, Mr. Mirro formed Kensington Capital Partners, LLC, where he has served as President since 2015, to invest in automotive and
automotive-related sector businesses. In 2005, Mr. Mirro transitioned to Jefferies & Company, Inc. as Head of Automotive Investment Banking, and later served as
the Head of Automotive Investment Banking at Moelis & Company, LLC and RBC Capital Markets, LLC from 2008 to 2011 and 2011 to 2014, respectively. In
his role, Mr. Mirro played a key role in leading and executing all aspects of capital raising, mergers and acquisitions and restructurings, and has advised on over 70
transactions totaling more than $60 billion of value for original equipment manufacturers (“OEMs”), suppliers and automotive-related industries. From 2016 to
2019, Mr. Mirro served as Chairman of the board of directors and audit committee of Pure Power Technologies, Inc., one of the largest aftermarket suppliers of
diesel fuel injectors, which was sold to Stanadyne LLC. In his role, Mr. Mirro focused on deal
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sourcing, structuring, capital raising, executive recruitment and the eventual sale process. Mr. Mirro has sat on the board of Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc. (NYSE:
CPS) since 2015 and sat on the board of Transtar Industries, Inc., from 2017 to 2021, in each case, where he focuses or focused, respectively, on mergers and
acquisitions, capital structuring and public market strategy. Mr. Mirro is also the Chairman and CEO of Kensington Capital Acquisition Corp. II (NYSE:
KCAC.UN). Mr. Mirro holds a B.S. in Mechanical Engineering from the University of Michigan and an M.B.A. from the New York University Stern School of
Business.
We believe Mr. Mirro is qualified to serve on our board of directors due to his experience serving as Kensington’s Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer, as well as his extensive skills in strategy, finance and management.
Prof. Fritz Prinz co-founded Legacy QuantumScape and has served on our board of directors since November 2020, and on Legacy
QuantumScape’s board of directors from December 2010 until January 2021. Prof. Prinz has served as Professor of Materials Science and Engineering, Professor
of Mechanical Engineering, and Senior Fellow at the Precourt Institute for Energy since September 2010. He has also served as the Finmeccanica Professor at the
School of Engineering at Stanford University since September 1994. Prof. Prinz holds a Ph.D. in Physics and Mathematics from the University of Vienna, Austria.
We believe Prof. Prinz is qualified to serve on our board of directors because of his in-depth educational expertise and his broad insight and
research into energy conservation.
Dipender Saluja has served on our board of directors since November 2020, and on Legacy QuantumScape’s board of directors from August
2012 until January 2021. Mr. Saluja has served as Managing Director of Capricorn Investment Group, an investment firm, since 2006. Prior to Capricorn
Investment Group, he served in various positions from 1990 to 2006 at Cadence Design Systems, an electronic design company. Mr. Saluja also currently serves as
a Commissioner of the Global Commission to End Energy Poverty, a non-profit organization dedicated to providing electricity services to under-served
communities, and also on the boards of several private companies.
We believe Mr. Saluja is qualified to serve on our board of directors because of his extensive investment experience in the technology industry
and extensive expertise and skills in strategy, finance and management.
J.B. Straubel has served on our board of directors since November 2020, and on Legacy QuantumScape’s board of directors from December 2019
until January 2021. Mr. Straubel has served as the Founder and Chief Executive Officer of Redwood Materials Inc., an electronic recycling and development
company, since May 2017. Prior to joining Legacy QuantumScape, Mr. Straubel also co-founded and served as the Chief Technology Officer of Tesla from May
2005 to July 2019. Mr. Straubel previously served on the board of SolarCity Corporation and as a member of its Nominating and Corporate Governance
Committee from August 2006 until its acquisition by Tesla in November 2016. Mr. Straubel holds a B.S. in Energy Systems Engineering and a M.S. in
Engineering, with an emphasis on energy conversion, from Stanford University.
We believe Mr. Straubel is qualified to serve on our board of directors because of his technical and manufacturing expertise along with his
leadership experience in electronic companies.
Jens Wiese has served on our board of directors since January 2021. Mr. Wiese has also served as Chairman of the board of QSV Operations LLC
since its inception in September 2018. Mr. Wiese has 22 years of professional experience in the automotive industry, including more than 15 years as a top
management consultant, advising clients from the automotive industry in strategic and financial turnaround matters. Mr. Wiese has served in multiple roles at
Volkswagen AG, most recently as Head of Volkswagen Group M&A, Investment Advisory, and Partnerships since January 2020, Head of Industrial Cooperations
and Partnerships from June 2018 to December 2019, Head of Group Battery Strategy from June 2016 to December 2019, and Corporate Strategy/Head of
Performance Improvement from March 2016 to May 2018. Prior to his service at Volkswagen AG, Mr. Wiese served as Senior Director and Member of the
German Management Team at Alix Partners GmbH, a consulting firm, from March 2007 to February 2016. Prior to that, Mr. Wiese served as a Principal and
Member of the Automotive Leadership team at Roland Berger Strategy Consultants GmbH, a consulting firm, from April 1999 to March 2007. Mr. Wiese holds a
Master’s degree in Business Administration from the Ludwig Maximilian University of Munich.
We believe Mr. Wiese is qualified to serve on our board of directors because of his broad investment advisory and strategic experience, along with
his long-term experience in the automotive industry.
Board Composition
Our business and affairs are organized under the direction of our board of directors, which currently consists of eleven (11) directors, nine (9) of
whom are independent under the listing standards of the NYSE. Mr. Singh serves as Chairman of our board of directors. The primary responsibilities of our board
of directors are to provide oversight, strategic guidance, counseling and
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direction to our management. Our board of directors meets on a regular basis and additionally as required. At each annual meeting of stockholders, directors will be
elected for a one-year term and until their successors are duly elected and qualified.
In accordance with the terms of our amended and restated bylaws (“Bylaws”), each director, including a director elected to fill a vacancy, shall
hold office until the expiration of the term for which elected and until such director’s successor is elected and qualified or until such director’s earlier death,
resignation or removal.
Any director may be removed from office by our stockholders as provided in Section 141(k) of the Delaware General Corporation Law (the
“DGCL”).
Role of Board of Directors in Risk Oversight
Risk is inherent with every business, and we face a number of risks, including strategic, financial, business and operational, legal and compliance
and reputational. We have designed and implemented processes to manage risk in our operations. Management is responsible for the day-to-day management of
risks the company faces, while one of the key functions of our board of directors is informed oversight of our risk management process. Our board of directors
does not currently have or anticipate having a standing risk management committee, but instead administers this oversight function directly through our board of
directors as a whole, as well as through various standing committees of our board of directors that address risks inherent in their respective areas of oversight. In
particular, our board of directors is responsible for monitoring and assessing strategic risk exposure and our audit committee has the responsibility to consider and
discuss our major financial risk exposures and the steps our management will take to monitor and control such exposures, including guidelines and policies to
govern the process by which risk assessment and management is undertaken. Our audit committee also monitors compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements. Our compensation committee assesses and monitors whether our compensation plans, policies and programs comply with applicable legal and
regulatory requirements. Our nominating and corporate governance committee assesses risks relating to our corporate governance practices, the independence of
the board and potential conflicts of interest.
Our board of directors believes its current leadership structure supports the risk oversight function of our board of directors.
Committees of Our Board of Directors
Our board of directors has established the following standing committees of the board: audit committee; compensation committee; and nominating
and corporate governance committee. Copies of the charters for each committee are available on our website at
https://ir.quantumscape.com/governance/governance-documents. The composition and responsibilities of each committee is described below.
Audit Committee
The current members of our audit committee are Messrs. Buss, Mirro and Saluja. Mr. Buss is the chairperson of our audit committee. Our board of
directors has determined that each member of our audit committee meets the requirements for independence of audit committee members under the rules and
regulations of the SEC and the listing standards of the NYSE, and are able to read and understand fundamental financial statements in accordance with the NYSE
audit committee requirements. In arriving at this determination, our board of directors examined each audit committee member’s scope of experience and the
nature of their prior and/or current employment. Our board of directors has determined that each of Messrs. Buss and Mirro qualifies as an audit committee
financial expert within the meaning of Item 407(d) of Regulation S-K and meets the financial sophistication requirements of the NYSE rules. In making this
determination, our board of directors considered each of Messrs. Buss’ and Mirro’s formal education and previous experience in financial roles. Both our
independent registered public accounting firm and management will periodically meet privately with our audit committee. Our audit committee is responsible for,
among other things:
•

selecting, compensating, and overseeing our independent registered public accounting firm;

•

evaluating the performance, independence and qualifications of our independent registered public accounting firm and determining whether
to retain our existing independent registered public accounting firm or engage a new independent registered public accounting firm;

•

reviewing and approving the engagement of our independent auditors to perform audit services and any permissible non-audit and tax
services;

•

reviewing with the independent auditors and approving the annual audit plan, including the scope of audit activities and all critical
accounting policies and practices to be used by us;
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•

reviewing our annual and quarterly financial statements and reports, including the disclosures in “Management’s Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and discussing the statements and reports with our independent auditors and
management, and discussing with management and our independent registered public accounting firm the results of the annual audit and
the quarterly reviews;

•

reviewing our financial reporting processes, and disclosure controls and procedures;

•

reviewing with our independent auditors and management significant issues that arise regarding accounting principles and financial
statement presentation and matters concerning the scope, adequacy, and effectiveness of our financial controls and critical accounting
policies;

•

reviewing with management and our auditors our procedures regarding the presentation of our financial information, and any earnings
announcements and other public announcements regarding material developments;

•

overseeing the design, implementation and performance of our internal audit function;

•

reviewing and providing oversight of any related party transactions in accordance with our related party transaction policy and reviewing,
monitoring compliance with legal and regulatory responsibilities, including our code of ethics;

•

establishing procedures for the receipt, retention and treatment of complaints received by us regarding financial controls, accounting,
auditing or other matters, including confidential, anonymous submissions by our employees of concerns regarding questionable accounting
or auditing matters;

•

preparing the report that the SEC requires in our annual proxy statement;

•

reviewing and evaluating on an annual basis the performance of the audit committee and the audit committee charter; and

•

reviewing our major financial risk exposures, including the guidelines and policies to govern the process by which risk assessment and risk
management is implemented.

Our audit committee operates under a written charter that satisfies the applicable listing standards of the NYSE. A copy of the charter of our audit
committee is available on our website at https://ir.quantumscape.com/governance/governance-documents.
Compensation Committee
The current members of our compensation committee are Messrs. Leohold, Buss and Straubel. Mr. Leohold is the chairperson of our
compensation committee. Our board of directors has determined that each member of our compensation committee meets the requirements for independence for
compensation committee members under the rules and regulations of the SEC and the listing standards of the NYSE. Each member of the compensation committee
is also an outside director, as defined pursuant to Rule 16b-3 promulgated under the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934 (as amended, the “Exchange Act”). Our
compensation committee is responsible for, among other things:
•

reviewing and approving the corporate goals and objectives that pertain to the determination of the compensation of our executive officers,
including our chief executive officer;

•

reviewing and approving performance goals and objectives relevant to the compensation of our executive officers and assessing their
performance against these goals and objectives;

•

reviewing and approving or making recommendations to our board of directors regarding the compensation and other terms of employment
of our executive officers, including our chief executive officer;

•

reviewing and approving the terms of any employment agreements, severance arrangements, change in control arrangements and any other
material arrangements for our executive officers;

•

administering our equity incentive plans, to the extent such authority is delegated by our board of directors; reviewing, approving and
administering our employee benefit and equity incentive plans;

•

establishing and reviewing the compensation plans and programs of our employees, and ensuring that they are consistent with our general
compensation strategy;

•

making recommendations to our board of directors regarding the adoption or amendment of equity and cash incentive plans and approving
amendments to such plans to the extent authorized by our board of directors;

•

if the board of directors or committee establishes stock ownership guidelines for the executive officers and non-employee members of the
board of directors, monitoring compliance with any such stock ownership guidelines;
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•

approving or making recommendations to our board of directors regarding the creation or revision of any clawback policy;

•

reviewing and making recommendations to our board of directors regarding the type and amount of compensation to be paid or awarded to
our outside board members;

•

reviewing with management our disclosures under the caption “Compensation Discussion and Analysis” in our periodic reports or proxy
statements to be filed with the SEC, to the extent such caption is included in any such report or proxy statement;

•

preparing an annual report on executive compensation that the SEC requires in our annual proxy statement, to the extent such report is
required;

•

reviewing and assessing the independence of compensation consultants, legal counsel and other advisors as required by Section 10C of the
Exchange Act; and

•

reviewing and evaluating on an annual basis the performance of the compensation committee and recommending such changes as deemed
necessary with our board of directors.

The charter of the compensation committee permits the committee to delegate any or all of its authority when it deems it appropriate and in the
best interests of our company and when such delegation would not violate applicable law, regulation or NYSE or SEC requirements. In addition, the compensation
committee has the authority under its charter to retain or obtain the advice of compensation consultants, independent legal counsel and other advisors.
Since the Business Combination, our compensation committee has been responsible for making all executive compensation determinations.
Mr. Singh works closely with the compensation committee in managing the executive compensation program and attends most meetings of the compensation
committee. He does not participate in the determination of his own compensation.
In 2021, our compensation committee retained Compensia, Inc. (“Compensia”) as our independent compensation consultant to advise the
compensation committee with respect to director compensation.
Our compensation committee operates under a written charter that satisfies the applicable listing standards of the NYSE. A copy of the charter of
our compensation committee is available on our website at https://ir.quantumscape.com/governance/governance-documents.
Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee.
The current members of our nominating and corporate governance committee are Messrs. Doerr, Blome and Mirro. Mr. Doerr is the chairperson of
our nominating and corporate governance committee. Our board of directors has determined that each member of our nominating and corporate governance
committee meets the requirements for independence for nominating and corporate governance committee members under the listing standards of the NYSE. Our
nominating and corporate governance committee is responsible for, among other things:
•

reviewing and assessing and making recommendations to our board of directors regarding desired qualifications, expertise and
characteristics sought of board members;

•

identifying, reviewing and making recommendations of candidates to serve on our board of directors;

•

considering our board of directors’ leadership structure, including the separation of the chairman and chief executive officer roles and/or
appointment of a lead independent director of our board, either permanently or for specific purposes, and making such recommendations to
our board of directors;

•

developing and reviewing periodically policies and procedures for considering stockholder nominees for election to our board of directors
and evaluating nominations by stockholders of candidates for election to our board of directors;

•

evaluating the “independence” of directors and director nominees against the independence requirements of the NYSE, applicable rules and
regulations of the SEC and other applicable laws;

•

reviewing our succession planning process for our chief executive officer and any other members of our executive management team;

•

evaluating the current size, composition and organization of our board of directors and its committees and making recommendations to our
board of directors for approvals;
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•

recommending to our board of directors any changes to the corporate governance guidelines and corporate governance framework;

•

reviewing issues and developments related to corporate governance and identifying and bringing to the attention of our board of directors
current and emerging corporate governance trends;

•

overseeing director orientation for new directors and continuing education for our directors;

•

evaluating the performance of our board of directors and its committees and individual directors and determining whether continued service
on our board of directors is appropriate;

•

reviewing and monitoring compliance with our code of business conduct and ethics, and reviewing possible, actual and potential conflicts
of interest of our board members and officers other than related party transactions reviewed by our audit committee;

•

administering policies and procedures for communications with the non-management members of our board of directors;

•

if the board of directors or committee establishes stock ownership guidelines for the executive officers and non-employee members of the
board of directors, monitoring compliance with any such stock ownership guidelines; and

•

reviewing annually the nominating and corporate governance committee charter, structure and membership requirements and
recommending any proposed changes to our board of directors, including undertaking an annual review of its own performance.

The composition and function of our nominating and corporate governance committee complies with all applicable requirements of The SarbanesOxley Act of 2002 and all applicable SEC and the NYSE rules and regulations. We will comply with future requirements to the extent they become applicable. Our
nominating and corporate governance committee operates under a written charter that satisfies the applicable listing standards of the NYSE. A copy of the charter
of our nominating and corporate governance committee is available on our website at https://ir.quantumscape.com/governance/governance-documents.
Executive Sessions of Outside Directors
To encourage and enhance communication among outside directors, and as required under applicable NYSE rules, our corporate governance
guidelines provide that the outside directors will meet in executive sessions without management directors or management present on a periodic basis. In addition,
if any of our outside directors are not independent directors, then our independent directors will also meet in executive sessions on a periodic basis. These
executive sessions are chaired by Mr. Mirro, our lead independent director.
Considerations in Evaluating Director Nominees
Our nominating and corporate governance committee uses a variety of methods for identifying and evaluating potential director nominees. In its
evaluation of director candidates, including the current directors eligible for re-election, our nominating and corporate governance committee will consider the
current size and composition of our board of directors and the needs of our board of directors and the respective committees of our board of directors and other
director qualifications. While our board has not established minimum qualifications for board members, some of the factors that our nominating and corporate
governance committee considers in assessing director nominee qualifications include, without limitation, issues of character, professional ethics and integrity,
judgment, business acumen and experience, proven achievement and competence in one’s field, the ability to exercise sound business judgment, tenure on the
board and skills that are complementary to the board, an understanding of our business, an understanding of the responsibilities that are required of a member of
the board, other time commitments and diversity, and with respect to diversity, such factors as race, ethnicity, gender, differences in professional background,
education, age and geography, as well as other individual qualities and attributes that contribute to the total mix of viewpoints and experience represented on our
board. Although our board of directors does not maintain a specific policy with respect to board diversity, our board of directors believes that the board should be a
diverse body, and the nominating and corporate governance committee considers a broad range of perspectives, backgrounds and experiences.
In addition to the process described above, our nominating and corporate governance committee also nominates two individuals designated by
VGA as required under the provisions of the letter agreement described under “Letter Agreements on Board of Directors and Committee Representation.” Messrs.
Blome and Wiese are director nominees of VGA pursuant to such letter agreement.
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If our nominating and corporate governance committee determines that an additional or replacement director is required, then the committee may
take such measures as it considers appropriate in connection with its evaluation of a director candidate, including candidate interviews, inquiry of the person or
persons making the recommendation or nomination, engagement of an outside search firm to gather additional information, or reliance on the knowledge of the
members of the committee, board or management. In determining whether to recommend a director for reelection, our nominating and corporate governance
committee also considers the director’s past attendance at meetings, participation in and contributions to the activities of the board and our business and other
qualifications and characteristics set forth in the charter of our nominating and corporate governance committee.
After completing its review and evaluation of director candidates, our nominating and corporate governance committee recommends to our full
board of directors the director nominees for selection. Our nominating and corporate governance committee has discretion to decide which individuals to
recommend for nomination as directors and our board of directors has the final authority in determining the selection of director candidates for nomination to our
board.
Stockholder Recommendations and Nominations to our Board of Directors
Our nominating and corporate governance committee will consider recommendations and nominations for candidates to our board of directors
from stockholders in the same manner as candidates recommended to the committee from other sources, so long as such recommendations and nominations
comply with our amended and restated certificate of incorporation (“Certificate of Incorporation”) and Bylaws, all applicable company policies and all applicable
laws, rules and regulations, including those promulgated by the SEC. Our nominating and corporate governance committee will evaluate such recommendations in
accordance with its charter, our Bylaws and the director nominee criteria described above.
A stockholder that wants to recommend a candidate to our board of directors should direct the recommendation in writing by letter to our
corporate secretary at QuantumScape Corporation, 1730 Technology Drive, San Jose, California, 95110, Attention: Corporate Secretary. Such recommendation
must include the candidate’s name, home and business contact information, detailed biographical data, relevant qualifications, a signed letter from the candidate
confirming willingness to serve, information regarding any relationships between the candidate and us and evidence of the recommending stockholder’s ownership
of our capital stock. Such recommendation must also include a statement from the recommending stockholder in support of the candidate. Stockholder
recommendations must be received by December 31st of the year prior to the year in which the recommended candidate(s) will be considered for nomination. Our
nominating and corporate governance committee has discretion to decide which individuals to recommend for nomination as directors.
Under our Bylaws, stockholders may also directly nominate persons for election to our board of directors at the annual meeting of stockholders.
Any nomination must comply with the requirements set forth in Bylaws, as amended from time to time and the rules and regulations of the SEC and should be sent
in writing to our corporate secretary at the address above.
Corporate Governance Guidelines and Code of Business Conduct and Ethics for Employees, Executive Officers, and Directors
Our board of directors has adopted corporate governance guidelines. Our corporate governance guidelines address, among other items, the qualifications and
responsibilities of our directors and director candidates, the structure and composition of our board of directors and corporate governance policies and standards
applicable to us in general. In addition, our board of directors has adopted a code of business conduct and ethics (the “Code of Conduct”), applicable to all of our
employees, executive officers and directors. The full text of our corporate governance guidelines and code of business conduct and ethics are available on our
website at https://ir.quantumscape.com/governance/governance-documents. The nominating and corporate governance committee of our board of directors is
responsible for overseeing the Code of Conduct and must approve any waivers of the Code of Conduct for employees, executive officers and directors. Any
amendments to the Code of Conduct, or any waivers of its requirements, will be disclosed on our website.
Item 11. Executive Compensation.
Emerging Growth Company Status
We qualify as an “emerging growth company” under the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012. As a result, we are permitted to and rely on
exemptions from certain disclosure requirements that are applicable to other companies that are not emerging growth companies. Accordingly, we have included
compensation information for only our principal executive officer and our two next most highly compensated executive officers serving at fiscal year-end and have
not included a compensation discussion and analysis of our executive compensation programs or tabular compensation information other than the Summary
Compensation Table and the Outstanding Equity Awards table. In addition, for so long as we are an emerging growth company, we will not be
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required to submit certain executive compensation matters to our stockholders for advisory votes, such as “say-on-pay” and “say-on-frequency” of say-on-pay
votes.
Processes and Procedures for Compensation Decisions
To achieve our goals, we have designed, and intend to modify as necessary, our compensation and benefits program to attract, retain, incentivize
and reward deeply talented and qualified executives who share our philosophy and desire to work towards achieving these goals.
We believe our compensation program should promote the success of the company and align executive incentives with the long-term interests of
our stockholders. Our current compensation programs reflect our startup origins in that they consist primarily of salary and stock option awards. As our needs
evolve, we intend to continue to evaluate our philosophy and compensation programs as circumstances require.
Our board of directors, with input from our President and Chief Executive Officer, has historically determined the compensation for our named
executive officers.
For the year ended December 31, 2020, our named executive officers were:
•

Jagdeep Singh, President and Chief Executive Officer

•

Kevin Hettrich, Chief Financial Officer

•

Michael McCarthy, Chief Legal Officer and Head of Corporate Development

Summary Compensation Table
The following table sets forth information regarding the compensation reportable for our named executive officers for the years ended
December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019.

Name and Principal Position

Jagdeep Singh
President, Chief Executive Officer and
Director
Kevin Hettrich(3)
Chief Financial Officer
Michael McCarthy
Chief Legal Officer and Head of Corporate
Development
(1)

(2)
(3)

Year

Stock
Awards
($)(1)

Salary ($)

Option
Awards
($)(1)

All Other
Compensation
($)(2)

Total ($)

2020
2019

277,116
275,334

16,719,999
—

—
—

55,000
—

17,052,115
275,334

2020
2020

310,096
361,779

3,344,000
2,507,998

—
—

63,000
73,500

3,717,096
2,943,277

2019

350,334

—

906,260

—

1,256,594

The amounts in this column represent the aggregate grant-date fair value of awards granted to each named executive officer, computed in accordance with
the Financial Accounting Standards Board’s (“FASB”) Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 718. See Note 8 to the audited consolidated
financial statements appearing at the end of the Original Filing for a discussion of the assumptions made by us in determining the grant-date fair value of
our equity awards. Awards were granted prior to the closing of the Business Combination and to our Class A Common Stock becoming listed on the NYSE.
Amounts listed reflect a payment made to each of our named executive officers in order to secure his execution of an employee lock-up agreement in
connection with our company’s entry into the Business Combination Agreement dated September 2, 2020.
Mr. Hettrich was not a named executive officer in 2019.

Narrative Disclosure to Summary Compensation Table
Effective July 2020, the annual base salary of each of Messrs. Hettrich and McCarthy were increased to $315,000 and $367,500, respectively.
Effective January 2021, the annual base salary of each of our named executive officers was increased to $375,000.
86

Executive Letter Agreements
Other than Messrs. Hettrich and McCarthy, our named executive officers have not entered into employee agreements with us. Details of the
current agreements for Messrs. Hettrich and McCarthy are outlined below.
Agreement with Kevin Hettrich
On October 14, 2011, Kevin Hettrich entered into an offer letter with Legacy QuantumScape to initially serve as Product Marketing Manager (the
“Hettrich Offer Letter”). The Hettrich Offer Letter has no specific term and provides that Mr. Hettrich is an at-will employee. The Hettrich Offer Letter contains
customary confidentiality, non-solicitation and intellectual property assignment provisions.
Agreement with Michael McCarthy
On January 15, 2013, Michael McCarthy entered into an offer letter with Legacy QuantumScape to initially serve as General Counsel (the
“McCarthy Offer Letter”). The McCarthy Offer Letter has no specific term and provides that Mr. McCarthy is an at-will employee. The McCarthy Offer Letter
contains customary confidentiality, non-solicitation and intellectual property assignment provisions.
Base Salary
Base salary is set at a level that is commensurate with the executive’s duties and authorities, contributions, prior experience and sustained
performance.
Nonequity Incentive Plan Compensation
Prior to 2021, we had no formal arrangements with our named executive officers providing for nonequity incentive plan compensation. In March
2021, our board of directors adopted our Employee Incentive Compensation Plan, or our Bonus Plan. Pursuant to the Bonus Plan, the Compensation Committee, in
its sole discretion, establishes a target award for each participant and a bonus pool, with actual awards payable from such bonus pool, with respect to the applicable
performance period. The Compensation Committee determines the performance goals applicable to any award, which goals may include, without limitation, a
variety of performance, operational, developmental, and financial goals, and individual objectives such as peer reviews or other subjective or objective criteria. The
performance goals may differ from participant to participant and from award to award.
Stock Option Awards
Stock options and restricted stock units were granted to our named executive officers under Legacy QuantumScape’s 2010 Equity Incentive Plan
(the “2010 Plan”).
Legacy QuantumScape 2010 Equity Incentive Plan
The 2010 Plan allowed Legacy QuantumScape to provide incentive stock options, within the meaning of Section 422 of the Internal Revenue
Code (the “Code”), nonstatutory stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock awards and restricted stock units (each, an “award” and the recipient of
such award, a “participant”) to eligible employees, directors, and consultants of Legacy QuantumScape and any parent or subsidiary of Legacy QuantumScape.
The 2010 Plan was terminated in connection with the Business Combination and we will not grant any additional awards under the 2010 Plan hereafter. However,
the 2010 Plan will continue to govern the terms and conditions of the outstanding awards previously granted under the 2010 Plan.
Plan Administration
The 2010 Plan was administered by the board of directors of Legacy QuantumScape or one or more of its committees and will continue to be
administered by our board of directors or one or more of its committees. Different committees administered the 2010 Plan with respect to different service
providers. The administrator has all authority and discretion necessary or appropriate to administer the 2010 Plan and to control its operation, including the
authority to construe and interpret the terms of the 2010 Plan and the awards granted under the 2010 Plan. The administrator’s decisions are final and binding on all
participants and any other persons holding awards.
The administrator’s powers include the power to institute an exchange program under which (i) outstanding awards are surrendered or cancelled in
exchange for awards of the same type (which may have higher or lower exercise prices and different
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terms), awards of a different type or cash, (ii) participants would have the opportunity to transfer any outstanding awards to a financial institution or other person or
entity selected by the administrator or (iii) the exercise price of an outstanding award is increased or reduced. The administrator’s powers also include the power to
prescribe, amend and rescind rules and regulations relating to the 2010 Plan, to modify or amend each award and to make all other determinations deemed
necessary or advisable for administering the 2010 Plan.
Eligibility
Employees, directors and consultants of Legacy QuantumScape or its parent or subsidiary companies were eligible to receive awards, provided
such consultants render bona fide services not in connection with the offer and sale of securities in a capital-raising transaction and did not directly promote or
maintain a market for Legacy QuantumScape securities. Only employees of Legacy QuantumScape or its parent or subsidiary companies were eligible to receive
incentive stock options.
Stock Options
Stock options were granted under the 2010 Plan. Subject to the provisions of the 2010 Plan, the administrator determined the term of an option, the
number of shares and the class of shares subject to an option, and the time period in which an option may be exercised.
The term of an option is stated in the applicable award agreement, but the term of an option may not exceed 10 years from the grant date. The
administrator determined the exercise price of options, which generally was not less than 100% of the fair market value of Legacy QuantumScape’s common stock
on the grant date, unless expressly determined in writing by the administrator on the option’s grant date. However, an incentive stock option granted to an
individual who directly or by attribution owned more than 10% of the total combined voting power of all of Legacy QuantumScape’s classes of stock or of any of
Legacy QuantumScape’s parent or subsidiary had a term of no longer than 5 years from the grant date and have an exercise price of at least 110% of the fair market
value of Legacy QuantumScape’s common stock on the grant date. In addition, to the extent that the aggregate fair market value of the shares with respect to which
incentive stock options are exercisable for the first time by an employee during any calendar year (under all our plans and any parent or subsidiary) exceeds
$100,000, such options will be treated as nonstatutory stock options.
The administrator determines how a participant may pay the exercise price of an option, and the permissible methods are generally set forth in the
applicable award agreement. If a participant’s status as a “service provider” (as defined in the 2010 Plan) terminates, that participant may exercise the vested
portion of his or her option for the period of time stated in the applicable award agreement. Vested options generally will remain exercisable for three months or
such longer or shorter period of time as set forth in the applicable award agreement if a participant’s status as a service provider terminates for a reason other than
death or disability. If a participant’s status as a service provider terminates due to death or disability, vested options generally will remain exercisable for twelve
months from the date of termination (or such other longer or shorter period as set forth in the applicable award agreement). In no event will an option remain
exercisable beyond its original term. If a participant does not exercise his or her option within the time specified in the award agreement, the option will terminate.
Except as described above, the administrator has the discretion to determine the post-termination exercisability periods for an option.
Non-Transferability of Awards
Unless determined otherwise by the administrator, awards may not be sold, pledged, assigned, hypothecated or otherwise transferred in any
manner other than by will or by the laws of descent and distribution. In addition, during an applicable participant’s lifetime, only that participant may exercise their
award. In the case of awards issued to California residents, if the administrator makes an award transferable, such award may only be transferred (i) by will, (ii) by
the laws of descent and distribution or (iii) as permitted by Rule 701 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.
Certain Adjustments
If there was a dividend or other distribution (whether in the form of cash, shares, other securities or other property), recapitalization, stock split,
reverse stock split, reorganization, merger, consolidation, split-up, spin-off, combination, repurchase, exchange of shares or our other securities or other change in
our corporate structure affecting the shares, the administrator, in order to prevent diminution or enlargement of the benefits or potential benefits intended to be
made available under the 2010 Plan, would adjust the number and class of shares that could be delivered under the 2010 Plan and/or the number, class, and price of
shares covered by each outstanding award. In the case of awards issued to California residents, the administrator would make such adjustments to an award
required by Section 25102(o) of the California Corporations Code to the extent we were relying upon the exemption afforded thereby with respect to the award.
The administrator’s determination regarding such adjustments was final, binding and conclusive.
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Dissolution or Liquidation
In the event of our proposed dissolution or liquidation, the administrator will notify each participant as soon as practicable prior to the effective
date of such proposed transaction. To the extent it has not been previously exercised, an award will terminate immediately prior to the consummation of such
proposed action.
Merger and Change of Control
In the event of a merger or a “change in control” (as defined in the 2010 Plan), each outstanding award will be treated as the administrator
determines, including, without limitation, that (i) awards will be assumed, or substantially equivalent awards will be substituted, by the acquiring or succeeding
corporation (or an affiliate thereof) with appropriate adjustments as to the number and kind of shares and prices; (ii) upon written notice to a participant, the
participant’s awards will terminate upon or immediately prior to the consummation of such merger or change in control; (iii) outstanding awards will vest and
become exercisable, realizable or payable, or restrictions applicable to an award will lapse, in whole or in part, prior to or upon consummation of such merger or
change in control, and, to the extent the administrator determines, terminate upon or immediately prior to the effectiveness of such merger or change in control;
(iv) (A) the termination of an award in exchange for an amount of cash or property, if any, equal to the amount that would have been attained upon the exercise of
such award or realization of the participant’s rights as of the date of the occurrence of the transaction (and, for the avoidance of doubt, if as of the date of the
occurrence of the transaction the administrator determines in good faith that no amount would have been attained upon the exercise of such award or realization of
the participant’s rights, then such award may be terminated by us without payment) or (B) the replacement of such award with other rights or property selected by
the administrator in its sole discretion; or (v) any combination of the foregoing. The administrator will not be obligated to treat all awards, all awards a participant
holds or all awards of the same type, similarly.
In the event that the successor corporation does not assume or substitute for an award (or portion thereof), the participant will fully vest in and
have the right to exercise all of his or her outstanding options and stock appreciation rights, including shares as to which such awards would not otherwise be
vested or exercisable, all restrictions on restricted stock and restricted stock units will lapse, and, with respect to awards with performance-based vesting, all
performance goals or other vesting criteria will be deemed achieved at 100% of target levels and all other terms and conditions met. In addition, if an option or
stock appreciation right is not assumed or substituted in the event of a merger or change in control, the administrator will notify the participant in writing or
electronically that the option or stock appreciation right will be exercisable for a period of time determined by the administrator in its sole discretion, and the
option or stock appreciation right will terminate upon the expiration of such period.
Amendment and Termination
Our board of directors may, at any time, terminate or amend the 2010 Plan in any respect, including, without limitation, amendment of any form of
award agreement or instrument to be executed pursuant to the 2010 Plan. To the extent necessary and desirable to comply with applicable laws, we would obtain
stockholder approval of any amendment to the 2010 Plan. No amendment or alteration of the 2010 Plan would impair the rights of a participant, unless mutually
agreed otherwise between the participant and the administrator in writing. As of November 25, 2020, the 2010 Plan terminated and no further awards will be
granted thereunder. All outstanding awards will continue to be governed by their existing terms.
QuantumScape 2020 Equity Incentive Plan
On November 25, 2020, our 2020 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2020 Plan”) became effective. The 2020 Plan was approved by our stockholders at
the special meeting held on November 25, 2020 (the “Special Meeting”). The purposes of the 2020 Plan are to attract and retain personnel for positions with us,
any parent or subsidiary, and any entity that is in control of, is controlled by or is under common control with us (such entities are referred to herein as, the
company group); to provide additional incentive to employees, directors, and consultants; and to promote the success of our business. These incentives will be
provided through the grant of stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, restricted stock units, and performance awards as the administrator of the
2020 Plan may determine.
Authorized Shares
Subject to the adjustment provisions contained in the 2020 Plan and the evergreen provision described below, the maximum number of shares of
Class A Common Stock that may be issued pursuant to awards under the 2020 Plan is (i) 41,500,000 shares of Class A Common Stock, plus (ii) any shares of
Class A Common Stock subject to stock options, restricted stock units or other awards that were assumed in the merger and terminate as a result of being
unexercised or are forfeited to or repurchased by us, with the maximum number of shares to be added to the 2020 Plan pursuant to clause (ii) equal to 69,846,580
shares of Class A Common Stock. The 2020 Plan also includes an evergreen provision that provides for an automatic annual increase to the number of
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shares of Class A Common Stock available for issuance under the 2020 Plan on the first day of each fiscal year beginning with the 2021 fiscal year, equal to the
least of:
•

41,500,000 shares of Class A Common Stock;

•

5% of the total number of shares of all classes of Common Stock as of the last day of our immediately preceding fiscal year; or

•

Such lesser amount determined by the administrator.

The 2020 Plan provides that the evergreen provision will terminate following the increase on the first day of the 2030 fiscal year.
Generally, if an award expires or becomes unexercisable without having been exercised in full, is surrendered under an exchange program
described below, or, with respect to restricted stock, restricted stock units or performance awards, is forfeited to or reacquired by us due to the failure to vest, the
unpurchased shares (or for awards other than options or stock appreciation rights, the forfeited or repurchased shares) that were subject to such awards will become
available for future grant or sale under the 2020 Plan (unless it has terminated). With respect to stock appreciation rights, only shares actually issued will cease to
be available. Shares that actually have been issued under the 2020 Plan under any award will not be returned to the 2020 Plan and will not become available for
future distribution under the 2020 Plan; provided, however, that if shares issued pursuant to awards of restricted stock, restricted stock units, performance shares or
performance units are repurchased by us or are forfeited to us, such shares will become available for future grant under the 2020 Plan. Shares used to pay the
exercise price of an award or to satisfy the tax withholding obligations related to an award will become available for future grant or sale. To the extent an award is
paid out in cash rather than shares, such cash payment will not reduce the number of shares available for issuance. If the board of directors, or a committee
appointed by the board of directors, grants awards in substitution for equity compensation awards outstanding under a plan maintained by an entity acquired by or
that becomes a part of any member of the company group, the grant of those substitute awards will not decrease the number of shares available for issuance under
the 2020 Plan.
If any extraordinary dividend or other extraordinary distribution (whether in cash, shares, other securities, or other property), recapitalization,
stock split, reverse stock split, reorganization, merger, consolidation, split-up, spin-off, combination, reclassification, repurchase, or exchange of shares or other of
our securities, issuance of warrants or other rights to acquire our securities, other change in our corporate structure affecting the shares, or any similar equity
restructuring transaction affecting the shares occurs, the administrator, to prevent diminution or enlargement of the benefits or potential benefits intended to be
provided under the 2020 Plan, will adjust the number and class of shares that may be delivered under the 2020 Plan; the number, class, and price of shares covered
by each outstanding award; and the numerical share limits contained in the 2020 Plan.
Plan Administration
Our board of directors or a committee appointed by the board of directors administers the 2020 Plan and are referred to as the administrator.
Different administrators may administer the 2020 Plan with respect to different groups of service providers. Our board of directors may retain the authority to
concurrently administer the 2020 Plan and revoke the delegation of some or all authority previously delegated.
Subject to the terms of the 2020 Plan and applicable laws, the administrator generally will have the power in its sole discretion to make any
determinations and perform any actions deemed necessary or advisable for administering the 2020 Plan. The administrator will have the power to administer the
2020 Plan, including but not limited to the power to construe and interpret the 2020 Plan and awards granted under the 2020 Plan, and determine the terms of
awards, including but not limited to the exercise price (if any), the number of shares of Class A Common Stock subject to each award, the time when awards may
vest or be exercised (including the ability to accelerate the vesting and exercisability of awards), and the form of consideration payable upon exercise, if applicable.
The administrator may select the service providers to whom awards may be granted and approve forms of awards agreements under the 2020 Plan. The
administrator will also have the authority to amend awards (including but not limited to the discretionary authority to extend the post-termination exercisability
period of awards and to extend the maximum term of an option) and to temporarily suspend the exercisability of an award if the administrator deems such
suspension to be necessary or appropriate for administrative purposes, subject to the provisions of the 2020 Plan. The administrator may institute and determine the
terms and conditions of an exchange program under which (i) outstanding awards are surrendered or cancelled in exchange for awards of the same type (which
may have higher or lower exercise prices and different terms), awards of a different type, and/or cash, (ii) participants have the opportunity to transfer any
outstanding awards to a financial institution or other person or entity selected by the administrator, (iii) and/or the exercise price of an outstanding award is
increased or reduced. Unless a participant is on an approved leave of absence, the administrator will have sole discretion to determine the date on which a
participant stops actively providing
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services to us or the company group. The administrator’s decisions, determinations, and interpretations are final and binding on all participants and any other
holders of awards.
Stock Options
Options may be granted under the 2020 Plan. Subject to the provisions of the 2020 Plan, the administrator will determine the terms and conditions
of options, including when such options vest and become exercisable (and the administrator will have the discretion to accelerate the time at which such options
will vest or become exercisable). The per share exercise price of any option generally must be at least 100% of the fair market value of a share on the date of grant,
and the term of an incentive stock option may not be more than 10 years. However, with respect to any incentive stock option granted to an individual who owns
10% of the voting power of all classes of our stock or any of our parent or subsidiary corporations, the term of such option must not exceed 5 years, and the per
share exercise price of such incentive stock option must be at least 110% of the fair market value of a share on the grant date. After a participant’s service
terminates, he or she generally may exercise the vested portion of his or her option for the period of time stated in his or her option agreement. Generally, the fair
market value of a share is the closing sales price of a share on the relevant date as quoted on the NYSE. In no event may an option be exercised later than the
expiration of its term, except in certain circumstances where the expiration occurs during a period where exercise is not permitted under applicable law, as
described more fully in the 2020 Plan. Subject to the provisions of the 2020 Plan, the administrator will determine the other terms of options, including but not
limited to the acceptable forms of consideration for exercising an option.
Stock Appreciation Rights
Stock appreciation rights may be granted under the 2020 Plan. Stock appreciation rights allow the recipient to receive the appreciation in the fair
market value of Class A Common Stock between the exercise date and the date of grant. Subject to the provisions of the 2020 Plan, the administrator will
determine the terms and conditions of stock appreciation rights, including when such rights vest and become exercisable (and the administrator will have the
discretion to accelerate the time at which such rights will vest or become exercisable) and whether to pay any increased appreciation in cash, shares, or a
combination of both. The per share exercise price of a stock appreciation right must be at least 100% of the fair market value a share on the date of grant with
respect to U.S. taxpayers, and the term of a stock appreciation right will be 10 years. After a participant’s service terminates, he or she generally may exercise the
vested portion of his or her stock appreciation right for the period of time stated in his or her option agreement. However, in no event may a stock appreciation
right be exercised later than the expiration of its terms, except in certain circumstances where the expiration occurs during a period where exercise is not permitted
under applicable law, as described more fully in the 2020 Plan.
Restricted Stock
Restricted stock may be granted under the 2020 Plan. Restricted stock awards are grants of shares that vest in accordance with terms and
conditions established by the administrator. The administrator will determine the number of shares of restricted stock granted to any employee, director or
consultant. The administrator may impose whatever conditions to vesting it determines to be appropriate (for example, the administrator may set restrictions based
on the achievement of specific performance goals or continued service to us or members of the company group), and the administrator will have the discretion to
accelerate the time at which any restrictions will lapse or be removed. Recipients of restricted stock awards generally will have voting but will not have dividend
rights with respect to such shares upon grant without regard to the restriction, unless the administrator provides otherwise. Shares of restricted stock as to which the
restrictions have not lapsed are subject to our right of repurchase or forfeiture.
Restricted Stock Units
Restricted stock units may be granted under the 2020 Plan. Restricted stock units are bookkeeping entries representing an amount equal to the fair
market value of one Share (as defined under the 2020 Plan). The administrator will determine the terms and conditions of restricted stock units including the
vesting criteria (which may include accomplishing specified performance criteria or continued service to us) and the form and timing of payment. The
administrator will have the discretion to accelerate the time at which any restrictions will lapse or be removed and to settle earned restricted stock units in cash,
shares, or a combination of both.
Performance Awards
Performance awards may be granted under the 2020 Plan. Performance awards are awards that will result in a payment to a participant only if
objectives established by the administrator are achieved or the awards otherwise vest. The administrator will establish organizational or individual performance
objectives in its discretion, which, depending on the extent to which they are met, will determine the value of the payout for the performance awards to be paid out
to participants. The administrator will have the discretion to reduce or waive any performance objectives or other vesting provisions for performance awards.
Performance awards
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will have a threshold, target, and maximum payout value established by the administrator on or before to the grant date. The administrator will have the discretion
to pay earned performance awards in the form of cash, shares, or in some combination of both.
Outside Directors
The 2020 Plan provides that any outside director, in any fiscal year, may not be paid, issued or granted cash compensation and equity awards
under the 2020 Plan with an aggregate value of more than $750,000, increased to $1,000,000 in connection with the outside director’s initial service, with the value
of each equity award based on its grant date fair value. For purposes of this limitation, the grant date fair value is determined in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles (“GAAP”). Any cash compensation or equity awards granted under the 2020 Plan to an outside director for his or her services as an
employee, or for his or her services as a consultant (other than as an outside director), will not count for purposes of the limitation. The maximum limit does not
reflect the intended size of any potential compensation or equity awards to our outside directors.
Non-Transferability of Awards
Unless the administrator provides otherwise, the 2020 Plan generally does not allow for the transfer or disposal of awards and only the recipient of
an award may exercise an award during his or her lifetime. Any unauthorized transfer will be void.
Dissolution or Liquidation
If we experience a proposed liquidation or dissolution, the administrator will notify participants at such time before the effective date of such event
as the administrator determines and all awards, to the extent that they have not been previously exercised, will terminate immediately before the consummation of
such event.
Merger or Change in Control
The 2020 Plan provides that if we engage in a merger or a “change in control” (as defined under the 2020 Plan), each outstanding award will be
treated as the administrator determines (subject to the following paragraph) without a participant’s consent, including that an award be continued by the successor
corporation or that vesting of awards may accelerate automatically upon consummation of the transaction. The administrator will not be required to treat all
awards, portions of awards or participants similarly and may modify awards, subject to the provisions of the 2020 Plan.
If the successor corporation does not continue an award (or some portion of such award), the participant will fully vest in (and have the right to
exercise) 100% of the then-unvested shares subject to his or her outstanding options and stock appreciation rights, all restrictions on 100% of the participant’s
outstanding restricted stock and restricted stock units will lapse, and, regarding 100% of participant’s outstanding awards with performance-based vesting, all
performance goals or other vesting criteria will be treated as achieved at 100% of target levels and all other terms and conditions met. In no event will vesting of an
award accelerate as to more than 100% of the award. If options or stock appreciation rights are not continued when a change in control or a merger of us with or
into another corporation or other entity occurs, the administrator will notify the participant in writing or electronically that the participant’s vested options or stock
appreciation rights (after considering the foregoing vesting acceleration, if any) will be exercisable for a period of time determined by the administrator in its sole
discretion and all of the participant’s options or stock appreciation rights will terminate upon the expiration of such period (whether vested or unvested).
With respect to awards held by an outside director, in the event of a change in control, the outside director will fully vest in and have the right to
exercise his or her options and/or stock appreciation rights, all restrictions on his or her restricted stock and restricted stock units will lapse, and, with respect to
awards with performance-based vesting, all performance goals or other vesting criteria will be deemed achieved at 100% of target levels and all other terms and
conditions met, unless specifically provided otherwise under the applicable award agreement or other written agreement with the participant.
Forfeiture and Clawback
All awards granted under the 2020 Plan will be subject to recoupment under any clawback policy that we are required to adopt under applicable
law or listing standards. In addition, the administrator may provide in an award agreement that the recipient’s rights, payments, and benefits with respect to such
award shall be subject to reduction, cancellation, forfeiture, or recoupment upon the occurrence of specified events. If we are required to prepare an accounting
restatement due to our material noncompliance with any applicable securities laws as a result of a participant’s misconduct or if a participant is subject to forfeiture
under applicable law, the participant must reimburse us in the amount of any payment in settlement of an award earned or accrued during the 12-month period
following the first public issuance or filing with the SEC (whichever first occurred) of the financial document embodying such financial reporting requirement.
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Amendment or Termination
The 2020 Plan became effective upon the Business Combination and will continue in effect until terminated by the administrator, however no
incentive stock options may be granted after the ten (10) year anniversary of the adoption of the 2020 Plan by our board of directors, and the evergreen feature of
the 2020 Plan will terminate following the increase on the first day of the 2030 fiscal year. In addition, our board of directors will have the authority to amend,
suspend, or terminate the 2020 Plan, but such action generally may not materially impair the rights of any participant without his or her written consent.
QuantumScape 2020 Employee Stock Purchase Plan
On November 25, 2020, our 2020 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “ESPP”) became effective. The ESPP Plan was approved by our
stockholders at the Special Meeting. The purpose of the ESPP is to provide eligible employees with an opportunity to purchase shares of our Class A Common
Stock through accumulated contributions, which generally will be made through payroll deductions. The ESPP permits the administrator (as discussed below) to
grant purchase rights that qualify for preferential tax treatment under Section 423 of the Code. In addition, the ESPP authorizes the grant of purchase rights that do
not qualify under Code Section 423 pursuant to rules, procedures or sub-plans adopted by the administrator that are designed to achieve desired tax or other
objectives.
Shares Available for Issuance
The maximum number of shares of Class A Common Stock available for issuance under the ESPP is 7,600,000 shares. The shares may be
authorized, but unissued, or reacquired Class A Common Stock. The number of shares of Class A Common Stock available for issuance under the ESPP will be
increased on the first day of each fiscal year beginning with the 2021 fiscal year equal to the least of (i) 7,600,000 shares of Class A Common Stock, (ii) one
percent (1%) of the outstanding shares of Class A Common Stock on the last day of the immediately preceding fiscal year, or (iii) an amount determined by the
administrator.
We are currently unable to determine how long this share reserve may last because the number of shares that will be issued in any year or offering
period depends on a variety of factors that cannot be predicted with certainty, including, for example, the number of employees who elect to participate in the
ESPP, the level of contributions made by participants and the future price of shares of Class A Common Stock.
Administration
The ESPP will be administered by the board of directors or a committee appointed by the board of directors that is constituted to comply with
applicable laws (including the compensation committee). We expect the compensation committee to be the administrator of the ESPP. Subject to the terms of the
ESPP, the administrator will have full and exclusive discretionary authority to construe, interpret and apply the terms of the ESPP, to delegate ministerial duties to
any of our employees, to designate separate offerings under the ESPP, to designate subsidiaries and affiliates as participating in the Section 423 Component and
the Non-Section 423 Component, to determine eligibility, to adjudicate all disputed claims filed under the ESPP and to establish such procedures that it deems
necessary or advisable for the administration of the ESPP. The administrator is authorized to adopt rules and procedures in order to: determine eligibility to
participate, determine the definition of compensation for the purposes of contributions to the ESPP, handle contributions to the ESPP, coordinate the making of
contributions to the ESPP, establish bank or trust accounts to hold contributions to the ESPP, effect the payment of interest, effect the conversion of local currency,
satisfy obligations to pay payroll tax, determine beneficiary designation requirements, implement and determine withholding procedures and determine procedures
for the handling of stock certificates that vary with applicable local requirements. The administrator will also be authorized to determine that, to the extent
permitted by applicable law, the terms of a purchase right granted under the ESPP or an offering to citizens or residents of a non-U.S. jurisdiction will be less
favorable than the terms of options granted under the ESPP or the same offering to employees resident solely in the United States. Every finding, decision and
determination made by the administrator will, to the full extent permitted by law, be final and binding upon all parties.
Eligibility
Generally, all of our employees will be eligible to participate if they are customarily employed by us, or any participating subsidiary or affiliate,
for at least 20 hours per week and more than five months in any calendar year. The administrator, in its discretion, may, prior to an enrollment date, for all options
to be granted on such enrollment date in an offering, determine that an employee who (i) has not completed at least two years of service (or a lesser period of time
determined by the administrator) since his or her last hire date, (ii) customarily works not more than 20 hours per week (or a lesser period of time determined by
the administrator), (iii) customarily works not more than five months per calendar year (or a lesser period of time determined by the administrator), (iv) is a highly
compensated employee within the meaning of Section 414(q) of the Code, or (v) is a highly
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compensated employee within the meaning of Section 414(q) of the Code with compensation above a certain level or is an officer or subject to disclosure
requirements under Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act, is or is not eligible to participate in such offering period.
However, an employee may not be granted rights to purchase shares of Class A Common Stock under the ESPP if such employee:
•

immediately after the grant would own capital stock and/or hold outstanding options to purchase such stock possessing 5% or more of the total
combined voting power or value of all our classes of capital stock or of any of our parents or subsidiaries; or

•

holds rights to purchase shares of any classes of our capital stock under all of our employee stock purchase plans or any of our parents or
subsidiaries that accrue at a rate that exceeds $25,000 worth of shares of any classes of our capital stock for each calendar year in which such
rights are outstanding at any time.

Offering Periods
The ESPP will include a component that allows us to make offerings intended to qualify under Section 423 of the Code and a component that
allows us to make offerings not intended to qualify under Section 423 of the Code to designated companies, as described in the ESPP. Offering periods will begin
and end on such dates as may be determined by the administrator in its discretion, in each case on a uniform and nondiscriminatory basis, and may contain one or
more purchase periods. The administrator may change the duration of offering periods (including commencement dates) with respect to future offerings so long as
such change is announced prior to the scheduled beginning of the first offering period affected. No offering period may last more than 6 months.
Contributions
The ESPP will permit participants to purchase shares of Class A Common Stock through contributions (in the form of payroll deductions or
otherwise to the extent permitted by the administrator) of up to 15% of their eligible compensation, or such other limit established by the administrator from time
to time in its discretion and on a uniform and nondiscretionary basis for all options to be granted on an enrollment date in an offering, which includes a
participant’s base straight time gross earnings but excludes payments for commissions, incentive compensation, bonuses, payments for overtime and shift
premium, equity compensation income and other similar compensation. Unless otherwise determined by the administrator, during any offering period, a participant
may not increase the rate of his or her contributions and may only decrease the rate of his or her contributions (including to 0%) one time.
Exercise of Purchase Right
Amounts contributed and accumulated by the participant will be used to purchase shares of Class A Common Stock at the end of each purchase
period. A participant may purchase a maximum number of shares of Class A Common Stock during a purchase period as determined by the administrator in its
discretion and on a uniform and nondiscriminatory basis. The purchase price of the shares will be determined by the administrator from time to time, in its
discretion and on a uniform and nondiscriminatory basis for all options to be granted on an enrollment date, provided that in no event may the purchase price be
less than 85% of the lower of the fair market value of Class A Common Stock on the first trading day of the offering period or on the exercise date, which is
generally the last trading day of a purchase period. Participants may end their participation at any time during an offering period and will be paid their accrued
contributions that have not yet been used to purchase shares of Class A Common Stock. Participation ends automatically upon termination of employment with us.
Termination of Participation
Participation in the ESPP generally will terminate when a participating employee’s employment with us or a designated company ceases for any
reason, the employee withdraws from the ESPP or we terminate or amend the ESPP such that the employee no longer is eligible to participate. An employee may
withdraw his or her participation in the ESPP at any time in accordance with procedures, and prior to any applicable deadline, specified by the administrator. Upon
withdrawal from the ESPP, in general the employee will receive all amounts credited to his or her account without interest (unless otherwise required under
applicable law) and his or her payroll withholdings or contributions under the ESPP will cease.
Non-Transferability
Neither contributions credited to a participant’s account nor rights to purchase shares of Class A Common Stock and any other rights and interests
under the ESPP may be assigned, transferred, pledged or otherwise disposed of (other than by will, the laws of descent and distribution or beneficiary designation
in the event of death). Any attempt at such prohibited disposition will be without effect, except that we may treat such act as an election to withdraw participation.
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Certain Transactions
In the event that any dividend or other distribution (whether in the form of cash, Class A Common Stock, other securities, or other property),
recapitalization, stock split, reverse stock split, reorganization, merger, consolidation, split-up, spin-off, combination, reclassification, repurchase, or exchange of
shares of Class A Common Stock or our other securities, or other change in our corporate structure affecting the Class A Common Stock occurs (other than any
ordinary dividends or other ordinary distributions), the administrator, in order to prevent diminution or enlargement of the benefits or potential benefits intended to
be made available under the ESPP in such manner it may deem equitable, will adjust the number and class of Class A Common Stock that may be delivered under
the ESPP, the purchase price per share, the number of shares of Class A Common Stock covered by each purchase right under the ESPP that has not yet been
exercised, and the numerical limits of the ESPP.
In the event of our proposed dissolution or liquidation, any ongoing offering periods will be shortened and will terminate immediately before
consummation of the proposed dissolution or liquidation following the purchase of shares of Class A Common Stock under the shortened offering periods, unless
provided otherwise by the administrator. Prior to the new exercise date, the administrator will notify participants regarding the new exercise date and the exercise
to occur on such date.
In the event of a merger or “change in control” (as defined in the ESPP), each outstanding option under the ESPP will be assumed or substituted
for by the successor corporation or its parent or subsidiary. In the event that options are not assumed or substituted for, the offering period will be shortened by
setting a new exercise date on which the offering period will end, which will occur prior to the closing of the merger or change in control. Prior to the new exercise
date, the administrator will notify participants regarding the new exercise date and the exercise to occur on such date.
Amendment; Termination
The administrator will have the authority to amend, suspend or terminate the ESPP. The ESPP automatically will terminate in 2040, unless we
terminate it sooner. If the administrator determines that the ongoing operation of the ESPP may result in unfavorable financial accounting consequences, the
administrator may modify, amend or terminate the ESPP to reduce or eliminate such accounting consequence. If the ESPP is terminated, the administrator in its
discretion may terminate all outstanding offering periods either immediately or after consummation of the purchase of shares of Class A Common Stock under the
ESPP (which may be adjusted to occur sooner than originally scheduled), or in accordance with their terms. If options are terminated prior to their expiration, then
all amounts credited to participants that have not been used to purchase shares of Class A Common Stock will be returned, without interest (unless otherwise
required under applicable law), as soon as administratively practicable.
Other Compensation
Benefits and Perquisites
We provide benefits to our named executive officers on the same basis as provided to all of our employees, including health, dental and vision
insurance; life insurance; accidental death and dismemberment insurance; critical illness insurance; short-and long-term disability insurance; a health savings
account; a wellness incentive; and a tax-qualified Section 401(k) plan for which no match by us is provided. We do not maintain any executive-specific benefit or
perquisite programs.
Retirement Benefits
We provide a tax-qualified Section 401(k) plan for all employees, including the named executive officers. We do not provide a match for
participants’ elective contributions to the 401(k) plan, nor do we provide to employees, including our named executive officers, any other retirement benefits,
including but not limited to tax-qualified defined benefit plans, supplemental executive retirement plans and nonqualified defined contribution plans.
Outstanding Equity Awards at 2020 Year End
The following table presents information regarding outstanding equity awards held by our named executive officers as of December 31, 2020.
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Name

Jagdeep Singh(4)(6)
Jagdeep Singh(5)(6)
Jagdeep Singh(6)(7)
Jagdeep Singh(6)(8)
Kevin Hettrich(6)(9)
Kevin Hettrich(6)(10)
Kevin Hettrich(6)(11)
Kevin Hettrich(6)(12)
Michael McCarthy (6)(13)
Michael McCarthy
(6)(14)
Michael McCarthy
(15)
Michael McCarthy
(6)(16)
Michael McCarthy
(6)(10)
Michael McCarthy
(6)(11)
Michael McCarthy
(6)(12)
(1)
(2)
(3)

(4)
(5)
(6)

(7)
(8)
(9)
(10)
(11)
(12)
(13)
(14)
(15)
(16)

Grant
Date

Number of
Securities
Underlying
Unexercised
Options
Exercisable
(#)(1)

Option Awards
Number of
Securities
Underlying
Unexercised
Options
Unexercisable
(#)

Stock Awards

Option
Exercise
Price
($)(2)

Option
Expiration
Date

Number of
Shares or
Units of Stock
That Have Not
Vested (#)

Market Value
of Shares or
Units of Stock
That Have Not
Vested ($)(3)

04/08/2013
08/19/2016
03/15/2017
08/07/2020
05/03/2016
03/15/2017
06/05/2019
08/07/2020
05/01/2013

2,010,874
2,499,520
5,957,193
—
265,680
420,631
150,816
—
124,673

—
—
541,560
—
—
46,920
251,358
—
—

0.64
1.31
1.33
—
1.31
1.33
2.38
—
0.64

04/07/2023
08/19/2026
03/15/2027
—
05/03/2026
03/15/2027
06/05/2029
—
04/30/2023

—
—
—
4,021,750
—
—
—
804,350
—

—
—
—
16,719,999
—
—
—
3,344,000
—

09/18/2013

603,262

—

0.64

09/17/2023

—

—

02/27/2015

333,804

—

1.05

02/26/2025

—

—

05/03/2016

100,542

—

1.31

05/03/2026

—

—

03/15/2017

611,977

55,632

1.33

03/15/2027

—

—

06/05/2019

226,224

377,037

2.38

06/05/2029

—

—

08/07/2020

—

—

—

—

603,262

2,507,998

All stock options were granted pursuant to the 2010 Plan.
This column represents the fair market value of a share of common stock on the date of the grant, as determined by our board of directors.
The amounts in this column represent the aggregate grant-date fair value of awards granted to each named executive officer, computed in
accordance with the FASB ASC Topic 718. See Note 9 to the audited consolidated financial statements included in the Original Filing for a
discussion of the assumptions made by us in determining the grant-date fair value of our equity awards.
75% of these option shares vested on February 13, 2016, and the remainder were vested by February 13, 2017.
These option shares vested by December 10, 2018.
The equity award is eligible for accelerated vesting in the event the named executive officer’s employment is terminated in a qualifying
termination in connection with a change in control. The acceleration rights are described below under “Executive Compensation—Potential
Payments upon Termination or Change in Control.”
These option shares vested as to 1/48th of the total shares subject to the option on May 1, 2017, and the remainder vested and will vest on each
monthly anniversary thereafter, subject to the optionee’s continued service through each vesting date.
1/8th of the restricted stock units vest on February 15, 2021 and 1/16th vest quarterly thereafter, subject to the holder’s continued service through
each vesting date.
These option shares vested on April 27, 2019.
These option shares vested as to 1/48th of the total shares subject to the option on May 1, 2017, and the remainder vested and will vest on each
monthly anniversary thereafter, subject to the optionee’s continued service through each vesting date.
These option shares vested as to 1/48th of the total shares subject to the option on June 5, 2019, and the remainder vested and will vest on each
monthly anniversary thereafter, subject to the optionee’s continued service through each vesting date.
1/6th of the RSUs vest on February 15, 2021 and 1/12th vest quarterly thereafter, subject to the holder’s continued service as of each vesting date.
25% of these option shares vested on April 8, 2014, and the remainder were vested by April 8, 2017.
25% of these option shares vested on September 18, 2014, and the remainder were vested by September 18, 2017.
These option shares vested on February 27, 2018.
These option shares vested on February 18, 2019.
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Potential Payments upon Termination or Change in Control
Prior to 2021, we did not have a formal plan with respect to severance benefits payable to our named executive officers and other key employees.
From time to time, we granted equity awards to, or entered into offer letters with, certain key employees, including our named executive officers, that provide for
accelerated vesting of equity awards in the event such key employee’s employment was involuntarily terminated under certain circumstances related to a change in
control.
In March 2021, our board of directors approved, and we entered into change in control and severance agreements (each a “CIC Agreement”) with
each of our named executive officers, which require us to make specific payments and benefits in connection with the termination of such named executive
officers’ employment under certain circumstances. These CIC Agreements superseded any other agreement or arrangement relating to severance benefits with
these named executive officers or any terms of their option agreements related to vesting acceleration or other similar severance-related terms.
The CIC Agreements will remain in effect for an initial term of three years. At the end of the initial term, each CIC Agreement will automatically
renew for an additional one-year period unless either party provides notice of nonrenewal within 90 days prior to the date of the automatic renewal. The CIC
Agreements also acknowledge that each of these named executive officers is an at-will employee, whose employment can be terminated at any time. In order to
receive the severance benefits described below, each of these named executive officers is obligated to execute a release of claims against us.
In the event of a termination of employment without “cause” (as defined in the CIC Agreement) outside of the “change in control period” (as
generally defined below), such named executive officer will receive the following:
•

continued base salary for 12 months (or 6 months for named executive officers other than our Chief Executive Officer);

•

up to 50% of each named executive officer’s potential bonus, in the discretion of our compensation committee;

•

paid COBRA benefits for up to 12 months (or 6 months for named executive officers other than our Chief Executive Officer); and

•

no acceleration of equity awards.

In the event of a termination of employment without “cause” or a resignation for “good reason” (as defined in the CIC Agreement) during the
“change in control period,” such named executive officer will receive the following:
•

a lump-sum payment of 12 months of base salary;

•

a lump-sum payment equal to 100% of the potential bonus;

•

paid COBRA benefits for up to 12 months; and

•

100% acceleration of equity awards.

In the event any payment to one of these named executive officers is subject to the excise tax imposed by Section 4999 of the Code (as a result of
a payment being classified as a “parachute payment” under Section 280G of the Code), such named executive officer will be entitled to receive such payment as
would entitle him or her to receive the greatest after-tax benefit of either the full payment or a lesser payment which would result in no portion of such severance
benefits being subject to excise tax.
For the purpose of the change in control agreements, “change in control period” means generally the period beginning three months prior to, and
ending 12 months following, a change in control of us.
Director Compensation
Prior to 2021, we had no formal arrangements under which outside directors received compensation for their service on our board of directors or
its committees. Our policy was to reimburse outside directors for reasonable and necessary out-of-pocket expenses incurred in connection with attending board and
committee meetings or performing other services in their capacities as outside directors, and occasionally grant stock options to our outside directors upon their
respective appointments as directors.
In March 2021, our board of directors adopted a new outside director compensation policy (the “Director Compensation Policy”) for our outside
directors that became effective retroactively to February 1, 2021. The Director Compensation Policy was developed with input from Compensia regarding practices
and compensation levels at comparable companies. The Director Compensation Policy is designed to attract, retain, and reward outside directors.
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Under the Director Compensation Policy, each outside director will receive the cash and equity compensation for board services described below.
We also will reimburse our outside directors for reasonable, customary, and documented travel expenses to meetings of our board of directors or its committees
and other expenses.
Maximum Annual Compensation Limit
The Director Compensation Policy includes a maximum annual limit of $750,000 of cash compensation and equity compensation awards that may
be paid, issued, or granted to an outside director in any fiscal year (increased to $1,000,000 in the outside director’s initial year of service as an outside director).
For purposes of this limitation, the grant date fair value is determined in accordance with GAAP. Any cash compensation or equity awards granted under the 2020
Plan to an outside director for his or her services as an employee, or for his or her services as a consultant (other than as an outside director), will not count for
purposes of the limitation. The maximum limit does not reflect the intended size of any potential compensation or equity awards to our outside directors.
Cash Compensation
Outside directors are entitled to receive the following cash compensation for their service under the Director Compensation Policy:
•

$80,000 per year for service as a board member;

•

$22,000 per year for service as lead independent director of our board of directors;

•

$25,000 per year for service as chair of the audit committee;

•

$12,500 per year for service as member of the audit committee;

•

$18,000 per year for service as chair of the compensation committee;

•

$9,000 per year for service as member of the compensation committee;

•

$13,000 per year for service as chair of the nominating and corporate governance committee; and

•

$6,500 per year for service as member of the nominating and corporate governance committee.

Each outside director who serves as the chair of a committee will receive only the annual cash fee as the chair of the committee, and not the
additional annual cash fee as a member of the committee. All cash payments to outside directors are paid quarterly in arrears on a pro-rated basis.
Equity Compensation
In the event of a “change in control” (as defined in the 2020 Plan), each outside director’s outstanding awards will fully vest, provided that the
outside director continues to be an outside director through the date of the change in control.
Initial Awards
Each person who first becomes an outside director following the effective date of the Director Compensation Policy will automatically receive an
initial award of RSUs (the “Initial Award”). The Initial Award will cover a number of shares of our Class A Common Stock equal to $320,000 divided by the
twenty (20) trading day volume weighted average stock price for the twenty (20) trading days prior to the applicable grant date. The Initial Award will vest in equal
monthly installments as to 1/12th quarterly over three years on our quarterly vesting dates, which are February 15, May 15, August 15 and November 15, beginning
with the first quarterly vesting date to occur more than 3 months after such individual first becomes a non-employee director, subject to the non-employee director
continuing to be a service provider through the applicable vesting date. If the person was a member of our board of directors and also an employee, becoming
a non-employee director due to termination of employment will not entitle them to an Initial Award.
Annual Award
Each outside director will automatically receive, on the date of each annual meeting of our stockholders following the effective date of the
Director Compensation Policy, an annual award of RSUs (an “Annual Award”) covering a number of shares of our Class A Common Stock equal to $160,000
divided by the twenty (20) trading day volume weighted average stock price for the twenty (20) trading days prior to the applicable grant date. The Annual Award
will vest on the first quarterly vesting date to occur following the one-year anniversary of the date the Annual Award was granted.
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Any person who first becomes an outside director following the effective date of the Director Compensation Policy and on any date other than the
date of an annual meeting of our stockholders will automatically receive the Annual Award, with such Annual Award prorated to reflect a partial year of service.
Messrs. Blome and Wiese have not received any compensation pursuant to the Director Compensation Policy and have each waived their right to any
compensation under the Director Compensation Policy.
Director Compensation for Fiscal 2020
The following table sets forth information regarding the total compensation awarded to, earned by or paid to our outside directors for their service
on our board of directors, for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020. Directors who are also our employees receive no additional compensation for their service
as directors. During 2020, Mr. Singh was an employee and executive officer of the Company and therefore, did not receive compensation as a director. See
“Executive Compensation” for additional information regarding Mr. Singh’s compensation.
Fees Earned
or Paid in Cash
($)

Name(1)

Frank Blome
Brad Buss
John Doerr
Vinod Khosla
Thomas LaSorda
Prof. Dr. Jürgen Leohold
Justin Mirro
Anders Pettersson
Prof. Fritz Prinz
Mitchell Quain
Donald Runkle
Dipender Saluja
Matthew Simoncini
J.B. Straubel
(1)
(2)

—
—
—
—
—
60,283
—
—
202,788
—
—
—
—
—

Option
Awards
($)(2)

—
4,540,863
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

All Other
Compensation
($)

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

Total
($)

—
4,540,863
—
—
—
60,283
—
—
202,788
—
—
—
—
—

Each of Celina Mikolajczak and Jens Wiese joined our board of directors after December 31, 2020 and thus are intentionally omitted from this table and the
table below regarding outstanding equity awards.
The amounts in this column represent the aggregate grant-date fair value of awards granted to each named executive officer, computed in accordance with
the FASB’s ASC Topic 718. See Note 9 to the audited consolidated financial statements included in the Original Filing for a discussion of the assumptions
made by us in determining the grant-date fair value of our equity awards. Awards were granted prior to the closing of the Business Combination and to our
Class A Common Stock becoming listed on the NYSE.
The following table lists all outstanding equity awards held by non-employee directors as of December 31, 2020:

Aggregate Number of Shares
Underlying Outstanding Options

Name

Frank Blome
Brad Buss
John Doerr
Vinod Khosla
Thomas LaSorda
Prof. Dr. Jürgen Leohold
Justin Mirro
Anders Pettersson
Prof. Fritz Prinz
Mitchell Quain
Donald Runkle
Dipender Saluja
Matthew Simoncini
J.B. Straubel

—
1,407,612
—
—
—
804,350
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
1,005,437
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Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation
None of the members of our compensation committee have ever been an executive officer or employee of our company. None of our executive
officers currently serves, or has served during the last completed fiscal year, on the compensation committee or board of directors of any other entity that has one
or more executive officers that serve on our board of directors or compensation committee.
Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.
The following table sets forth the beneficial ownership of our common stock as of April 29, 2021 by:
•

each person, or group of affiliated persons, known by us to beneficially own more than 5% of our common stock;

•

each of our named executive officers;

•

each of our directors; and

•

all of our executive officers and directors as a group.

We have determined beneficial ownership in accordance with the rules of the SEC, and thus it represents sole or shared voting or investment
power with respect to our securities, including options and warrants that are currently exercisable or exercisable within 60 days. Unless otherwise indicated, to our
knowledge, the persons or entities identified in the table have sole voting power and sole investment power with respect to all shares shown as beneficially owned
by them, subject to community property laws where applicable.
We have based our calculation of the percentage of beneficial ownership on 259,611,491 shares of our Class A Common Stock and 146,362,452
shares of Class B Common Stock outstanding as of April 29, 2021. We have deemed shares of our Common Stock subject to stock options that are currently
exercisable or exercisable within 60 days of April 29, 2021 or issuable pursuant to RSUs which are subject to vesting and settlement conditions expected to occur
within 60 days of April 29, 2021, to be outstanding and to be beneficially owned by the person holding the stock option or RSU for the purpose of computing the
percentage ownership of that person. We did not deem these shares outstanding, however, for the purpose of computing the percentage ownership of any other
person.
Unless otherwise indicated, the address for each person or entity listed in the table is c/o QuantumScape Corporation, 1730 Technology Drive, San
Jose, California, 95110.

Shares Beneficially Owned
Class A Common Stock

Name of Beneficial Owner

Greater than 5% Stockholders:
Volkswagen Group of America Investments, LLC(1)
Khosla Ventures III, LP(2)
Capricorn Libra Investment Group, LP(3)
KPCB Holdings, Inc., as nominee(4)
Al-Rayyan Holding LLC(5)
Dr. Timothy Holme(6)
Named Executive Officers and Directors:
Jagdeep Singh(7)
Kevin Hettrich(8)
Michael McCarthy(9)
Prof. Fritz Prinz(10)
Frank Blome(11)
Brad Buss(12)
John Doerr(13)
Prof. Dr. Jürgen Leohold(14)
Celina Mikolajczak
Justin Mirro(15)
J.B. Straubel(16)

Number

Percentage

Class B Common Stock+

Number

Percent of
Total Voting
Power (1)

Percentage

68,236,103
4,830,503
10,336,479
1,932,201
14,308,051
1,034,927

26.28
1.86
3.98
*
5.51

17,980,436
30,609,901
14,022,837
18,349,929
—
* 13,818,796

12.28
20.91
9.58
12.54
*
9.42

14.39
18.04
8.74
10.76
*
8.06

11,901,319
1,588,587
2,827,284
—
—
304,426
—
395,481
—
1,744,898
521,104

4.43
*
1.08
*
*
*
*
*

19,617,505
—
124,673
13,484,541
—
—
—
—
* —
—
182,700

13.22

11.87
* *
* *
7.76
*
*
*
*
*
*
*

100

*
*

9.21
*
*
*
*
*
*
*

Shares Beneficially Owned
Class A Common Stock

Name of Beneficial Owner

Dipender Saluja(17)
Jens Wiese(18)
All directors and executive officers as a group (15
individuals) (19)
*
(1)
(2)
(3)

(4)
(5)
(6)

(7)

(8)
(9)

(10)

Number

Class B Common

Percentage

Number

Stock+

Percent of
Total Voting
Power (1)

Percentage

—
—

*
*

—
—

*
*

*
*

24,307,598

8.76

44,547,051

29.93

26.60

Represents beneficial ownership of less than 1%.
Consists of 68,236,103 shares of Class A Common Stock and 17,980,436 shares of Class B Common Stock. The business address of VGA is 220 Ferdinand
Porsche Dr. Herndon, VA 20171.
Consists of 4,830,503 shares of Class A Common Stock and 30,609,901 shares of Class B Common Stock. The business address of Khosla Ventures III, LP
is 2128 Sand Hill Road Menlo Park, CA 94025.
Consists of 2,005,071 shares of Class A Common Stock held by Technology Impact Growth Fund, LP, 5,403,570 shares of Class A Common Stock held by
TIGF Direct Strategies LLC – Series 3 and 2,927,838 shares of Class A Common Stock and 14,022,837 shares of Class B Common stock held by
Capricorn-Libra Investment Group, LP. TIGF Partners, LLC is the general partner of Technology Impact Growth Fund, LP and the manager of TIGF Direct
Strategies LLC – Series 3. TIGF Partners, LLC is owned by Dipender Saluja (40%), Ion Yadigaroglu (40%) and Capricorn Investment Group, LLC (20%).
The business address of each of these entities is 250 University Avenue Palo Alto, CA 94301.
Consists of 1,932,201 shares of Class A Common Stock and 18,349,929 shares of Class B Common Stock. The business address of KPCB Holdings, Inc.,
as nominee is 2750 Sand Hill Road, Menlo Park, CA 94025.
Consists of 14,308,051 shares of Class A Common Stock. The business address of Al-Rayyan Holding LLC is Ooredoo Tower (Building 14), Al Dafna
Street (Street 801), Al Dafna (Zone 61), Doha, Qatar.
Consists of (a) options to purchase 1,001,414 shares of Class A Common Stock that are exercisable within 60 days of April 29, 2021, (b) options to
purchase 333,804 shares of Class B Common Stock that are exercisable within 60 days of April 29, 2021, (c) 33,513 shares of Class A Common Stock
issuable upon the vesting of restricted stock units within 60 days of April 29, 2021 and (d) 13,484,992 shares of Class B Common Stock held by Dr. Holme.
Consists of (a) options to purchase 8,998,273 shares of Class A Common Stock that are exercisable within 60 days of April 29, 2021, (b) options to
purchase 2,010,874 shares of Class B Common Stock that are exercisable within 60 days of April 29, 2021, (c) 251,360 shares of Class A Common Stock
issuable upon the vesting of restricted stock units within 60 days of April 29, 2021, (d) 1,340,582 shares of Class B Common Stock held by Mr. Singh, (e)
4,021,750 shares of Class B Common Stock held in trust by Jagdeep Singh, Trustee of the Roshni Singh 2020 Annuity Trust A dated September 1, 2020, (f)
4,021,750 shares of Class B Common Stock held in trust by Jagdeep Singh, Trustee of the Jagdeep Singh 2020 Annuity Trust A dated September 1, 2020,
(g) 966,100 shares of Class A Common Stock and 5,541,385 shares of Class B Common Stock held in trust by Jagdeep Singh & Roshni Singh, Trustees of
the Singh Family Trust UDT dated October 3, 1996, (h) 561,862 shares of Class A Common Stock held in trust by Tejbir Singh Phool, Trustee of the
Kismet Diya Singh 2013 Trust dated July 31, 2013, (i) 561,862 shares of Class A Common Stock held in trust by Tejbir Singh Phool, Trustee of the
Nageena Singh 2013 Trust dated July 31, 2013 (j) 561,862 shares of Class A Common Stock held in trust by Tejbir Singh Phool, Trustee of the Noor
Deepika Singh 2013 Trust dated July 31, 2013, (k) 1,340,582 shares of Class B Common Stock held in trust by Friedrich Prinz and Jagdeep Singh, Trustees
of the Marie Helen Prinz 2019 Trust dated June 17, 2019 and (l) 1,340,582 shares of Class B Common Stock held in trust by Friedrich Prinz and Jagdeep
Singh, Trustees of the Benedikt Prinz 2019 Trust dated June 17, 2019. Mr. Singh shares voting and dispositive power and is the trustee of each of Jagdeep
Singh, Trustee of the Roshni Singh 2020 Annuity Trust A dated September 1, 2020, Jagdeep Singh, Trustee of the Jagdeep Singh 2020 Annuity Trust A
dated September 1, 2020, Jagdeep Singh & Roshni Singh, Trustees of the Singh Family Trust UDT dated October 3, 1996, Tejbir Singh Phool, Trustee of
the Kismet Diya Singh 2013 Trust dated July 31, 2013, Tejbir Singh Phool, Trustee of the Nageena Singh 2013 Trust dated July 31, 2013 and Tejbir Singh
Phool, Trustee of the Noor Deepika Singh 2013 Trust dated July 31, 2013. Mr. Singh shares dispositive power and is the trustee of each of Friedrich Prinz
and Jagdeep Singh, Trustees of the Marie Helen Prinz 2019 Trust dated June 17, 2019 and Friedrich Prinz and Jagdeep Singh, Trustees of the Benedikt
Prinz 2019 Trust dated June 17, 2019. Mr. Singh disclaims voting power with respect to each of Friedrich Prinz and Jagdeep Singh, Trustees of the Marie
Helen Prinz 2019 Trust dated June 17, 2019 and Friedrich Prinz and Jagdeep Singh, Trustees of the Benedikt Prinz 2019 Trust dated June 17, 2019.
Consists of (a) options to purchase 917,560 shares of Class A Common Stock that are exercisable within 60 days of April 29, 2021 and (b) 654,268 shares
of Class A Common Stock held by Mr. Hettrich.
Consists of (a) options to purchase 1,981,713 shares of Class A Common Stock that are exercisable within 60 days of April 29, 2021, (b) options to
purchase 124,673 shares of Class B Common Stock that are exercisable within 60 days of April 29, 2021 and (c) 820,435 shares of Class A Common Stock
held by Mr. McCarthy.
Consists of (a) 8,390,327 shares of Class B Common Stock held by Prof. Prinz, (b) 1,340,582 shares of Class B Common Stock held in trust by Friedrich
Prinz and Jagdeep Singh, Trustees of the Marie Helen Prinz 2019 Trust dated June 17, 2019, (c) 1,340,582 shares of Class B Common Stock held in trust by
Friedrich Prinz and Jagdeep Singh, Trustees of the Benedikt Prinz
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(11)
(12)
(13)
(14)
(15)

(16)
(17)
(18)
(19)

2019 Trust dated June 17, 2019, (d) 1,206,525 shares of Class B Common Stock held in trust by Friedrich Prinz, Trustee of the Gertrude Prinz Annuity
Trust dated August 31, 2020, and (e) 1,206,525 shares of Class B Common Stock held in trust by Friedrich Prinz, Trustee of the Friedrich Prinz Annuity
Trust dated August 31, 2020. Prof. Prinz shares voting and dispositive power and is the trustee of each of Friedrich Prinz, Trustee of the Friedrich Prinz
Annuity Trust dated August 31, 2020, Friedrich Prinz, Trustee of the Gertrude Prinz Annuity Trust dated August 31, 2020, Friedrich Prinz and Jagdeep
Singh, Trustees of the Benedikt Prinz 2019 Trust dated June 17, 2019 and Friedrich Prinz and Jagdeep Singh, Trustees of the Marie Helen Prinz 2019 Trust
dated June 17, 2019.
Mr. Blome, a member of our board of directors, is Head of Volkswagen’s Battery Center of Excellence. Mr. Blome disclaims beneficial ownership of all
shares held by VGA referred to in footnote (1) above.
Consists of 304,426 shares of Class A Common Stock held by Mr. Buss.
Mr. Doerr, a member of our board of directors, is the Chairman at Kleiner Perkins. Mr. Doerr disclaims beneficial ownership of all shares held by KPCB
Holdings, Inc., as nominee referred to in footnote (4) above.
Consists of options to purchase 368,672 Class A Common Stock that are exercisable within 60 days of April 29, 2021.
Consists of (a) 1,144,898 shares of Class A Common Stock held by Kensington Capital Partners, LLC, (b) 300,000 shares of Class A Common Stock held
by the Justin E. Mirro 2020 Qualified Annuity Trust under agreement dated June 27, 2020 and (c) 300,000 shares of Class A Common Stock held by the
Kensington Capital Trust under an agreement dated June 27, 2020. Mr. Mirro is the managing member and sole owner of Kensington Capital Partners,
LLC. Mr. Mirro is trustee of the Justin E. Mirro 2020 Qualified Annuity Trust under agreement dated June 27, 2020. Mr. Mirro disclaims any beneficial
ownership of the shares held by the Justin E. Mirro 2020 Qualified Annuity Trust under agreement dated June 27, 2020 other than to the extent he may have
a pecuniary interest therein, directly or indirectly. Mr. Mirro’s spouse serves as the trustee of the Kensington Capital Trust under agreement dated June 27,
2020. Mr. Mirro disclaims any beneficial ownership of the shares held by the Kensington Capital Trust under agreement dated June 27, 2020 other than to
the extent of any pecuniary interest he may have therein, directly or indirectly.
Consists of (a) options to purchase 268,116 shares of Class A Common Stock that are exercisable within 60 days of April 29, 2021, (b) 219,474 shares of
Class A Common Stock and (c) 182,700 shares of Class B Common Stock held by Mr. Straubel.
Mr. Saluja, a member of our board of directors, is Managing Director of Capricorn-Libra Investment Group, LP. Mr. Saluja disclaims beneficial ownership
of all shares held by Capricorn-Libra Investment Group, LP referred to in footnote (3) above.
Mr. Wiese, a member of our board of directors, is Head of Volkswagen Group M&A, Investment Advisory, and Partnerships. Mr. Wiese disclaims
beneficial ownership of all shares held by VGA referred to in footnote (1) above.
Consists of (a) options to purchase 17,627,538 shares of Class A Common Stock that are exercisable within 60 days of April 29, 2021, (b) options to
purchase 2,469,351 shares of Class B Common Stock that are exercisable within 60 days of April 29, 2021, (c) 284,873 shares of Class A Common Stock
issuable upon the vesting of restricted stock units within 60 days of April 29, 2021, (d) 6,395,187 shares of Class A Common Stock and (e) 42,077,700
shares of Class B Common Stock.
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Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.
The following is a description of each transaction since January 1, 2019, and each currently proposed transaction and certain other transactions, in
which:
•

we have been or are to be a participant;

•

the amount involved exceeded or exceeds $120,000; and

•

any of our directors (including director nominees), executive officers, or beneficial holders of more than 5% of any class of our voting securities,
or any immediate family member of, or person sharing the household with, any of these individuals or entities, had or will have a direct or indirect
material interest.

Kensington Capital Sponsor LLC
In April 2020, Kensington Capital Sponsor LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (the “Sponsor”) subscribed to purchase 5,031,250 shares of
the 5,750,000 Class B Common Stock purchased by the Sponsor in a private placement prior to Kensington’s initial public offering (the “Sponsor Shares”) for an
aggregate purchase price of $25,000 and fully paid for these shares on May 1, 2020. On June 25, 2020, Kensington effected a stock dividend of 718,750 shares
with respect to its Class B Common Stock, resulting in the Sponsor holding an aggregate of 5,750,000 Sponsor Shares. Prior to the initial investment in Kensington
of $25,000 by the Sponsor, Kensington had no assets, tangible or intangible. The number of Sponsor Shares issued was determined based on the expectation that
such Sponsor Shares would represent 20% of the outstanding shares upon consummation of Kensington’s initial public offering. The Sponsor Shares (including the
Class A Common Stock issuable upon exercise thereof) may not, subject to certain limited exceptions, be transferred, assigned or sold by the holder.
The Sponsor purchased 6,575,000 private placement warrants (the “Private Placement Warrants”) simultaneously with the consummation of
Kensington’s initial public offering. As such, the Sponsor’s interest in Kensington’s initial public offering was valued at $6,575,000. Each Private Placement
Warrant entitles the holder to purchase one share of Class A Common Stock at $11.50 per share, subject to adjustment as provided herein. The Private Placement
Warrants (including the warrants that may be issued upon conversion of working capital loans and the Class A Common Stock issuable upon exercise of such
Private Placement Warrants) may not, subject to certain limited exceptions, be transferred, assigned or sold by the holder. There are no redemption rights or
liquidating distributions with respect to the Sponsor Shares or Private Placement Warrants.
Kensington agreed to pay DEHC LLC (“DEHC”), an affiliate of Daniel Huber, the former Chief Financial Officer of Kensington, approximately
$20,000 per month for up to 18 months commencing on the date of Kensington’s initial public offering. Kensington ceased making such payments in November
2020 upon the closing of the Business Combination and no further payments will be made under this arrangement. On September 1, 2020, Kensington agreed to
pay each of (i) DEHC LLC and (ii) Simon Boag, the former Chief Technology Officer of Kensington, up to $240,000 for the provision of post-closing integration
services following the Business Combination. Other than these payments, no compensation of any kind, including finder’s and consulting fees, were or are to be
paid by Kensington to the Sponsor, executive officers and directors, or any of their respective affiliates, for services rendered prior to or in connection with the
consummation of the Business Combination.
On April 17, 2020, the Sponsor agreed to loan Kensington an aggregate of up to $300,000 to cover expenses related to Kensington’s initial public
offering pursuant to a note (the “Note”). This loan was non-interest bearing and payable upon the consummation of Kensington’s initial public offering.
Kensington borrowed a total of $75,000 under the Note and on November 25, 2020, the Sponsor converted the loan into 75,000 working capital warrants (the
“Working Capital Warrants”) on the same terms as the Private Placement Warrants (as contemplated by the warrant agreement pursuant to which the Private
Placement Warrants were issued) upon the consummation of the Business Combination and such Working Capital Warrants were issued to Justin Mirro, who had
advanced such amount to the Sponsor in order for the loan to be made.
Stockholder Support Agreements
On September 2, 2020, (i) Kensington and VGA entered into a stockholder support agreement (the “Volkswagen Support Agreement”), pursuant
to which, among other things, VGA agreed, among other things, to vote its shares of preferred stock in favor of the transactions contemplated by the Business
Combination Agreement, dated September 2, 2020 (the “Business Combination Agreement”), and (ii) Kensington and certain Legacy QuantumScape stockholders
entered into a stockholder support agreement (the “Key Stockholder Support Agreement”), pursuant to which, among other things, the certain Legacy
QuantumScape stockholders agreed, among other things, to vote their shares of common stock and preferred stock in favor of the Business Combination
Agreement and the transactions contemplated by the Business Combination Agreement.
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Registration Rights
On September 2, 2020, Kensington, the Sponsor and certain stockholders of Legacy QuantumScape (the “New Holders” and, collectively with the
Sponsor, the “Holders”) entered into a Registration Rights and Lock-Up Agreement (the “Registration Rights and Lock-Up Agreement”), which was effective as of
the closing of the Business Combination. Pursuant to the terms of the Registration Rights and Lock-Up Agreement, we filed a registration statement to register the
resale of certain shares of Common Stock held by the Holders after the Business Combination and subject to certain conditions, we are separately required at all
times to maintain an effective registration statement for the benefit of the Holders.
Lock-Up Agreements
The Registration Rights and Lock-Up Agreement included lock-up restrictions that prohibit the Holders from transferring shares of our company
held by them as of the date of that agreement until 180 days after November 25, 2020, subject to customary exceptions. These transfer restrictions are subject to
earlier release on (i) the last consecutive trading day where the sale price of the Class A Common Stock equals or exceeds $12.00 per share (as adjusted for stock
splits, stock dividends, reorganizations, recapitalizations and the like) for any 20 trading days within any 30-trading day period commencing at least 150 days after
the Business Combination or (ii) such date on which we complete a liquidation, merger, stock exchange or other similar transaction that results in all of our
stockholders having the right to exchange their shares of Class A Common Stock for cash, securities or other property.
In connection with the transactions contemplated by the Business Combination Agreement, on November 25, 2020, Legacy QuantumScape and
certain stockholders of Legacy QuantumScape entered into a lock-up agreement, pursuant to which they agreed, subject to customary exceptions, not to transfer
shares of Common Stock for a period of 180 days after November 25, 2020. These transfer restrictions are also subject to earlier release on (i) the last consecutive
trading day where the sale price of the Class A Common Stock equals or exceeds $12.00 per share (as adjusted for stock splits, stock dividends, reorganizations,
recapitalizations and the like) for any 20 trading days within any 30-trading day period commencing at least 150 days after the Business Combination or (ii) such
date on which we complete a liquidation, merger, stock exchange or other similar transaction that results in all of our stockholders having the right to exchange
their shares of Class A Common Stock for cash, securities or other property.
In connection with the recent offering of shares of our Class A Common Stock in March 2021, (i) we agreed that, without the prior written consent
of Goldman Sachs & Co. LLC and Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC on behalf of the underwriters and subject to certain exceptions, we will not offer, sell, or agree to
sell, directly or indirectly, any shares of Common Stock for a period of 90 days from the date of the final prospectus relating to such offering, and (ii) each of our
directors and executive officers have agreed with the underwriters, subject to certain exceptions, not to dispose of or hedge any shares of Common Stock or
securities convertible into or exchangeable for shares of Common Stock during the period from the date of such agreement continuing through May 21, 2021,
except with the prior written consent of Goldman Sachs & Co. LLC and Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC.
Senior Employee Lock-Up Agreements
On September 2, 2020, Kensington entered into separate Senior Employee Lock-Up Agreements with certain senior level employees of Legacy
QuantumScape (the “Senior Employees”), including Legacy QuantumScape’s executive officers. The Senior Employee Lock-Up Agreements provide that the
securities of our company owned of record or beneficially by the Senior Employees (including certain securities that may be granted or issued to a Senior
Employee after the Business Combination) (collectively, the “Lock-Up Shares”) may generally not be transferred for at least 180 days after the Business
Combination (the “Initial Lock-Up Period”) and up to four years after the Business Combination, subject to certain exceptions. Following the Initial LockUp Period, Senior Employees may transfer Lock-Up Shares without restriction as follows: (i) during the first year after the Business Combination, up to 25% of the
total number of Lock-Up Shares, (ii) following the first anniversary of the Business Combination until the earlier of four years after the Business Combination or
the occurrence of an event described below, up to 50% of the total number of Lock-Up Shares (taking into account any transfers under clause (i) above), and
(iii) up to an additional 50% of the total number of Lock-Up Shares following satisfaction of agreed delivery requirements between us and VGA.
These transfer restrictions are subject to earlier release if (i) we complete a liquidation, merger, stock exchange or other similar transaction after
the Business Combination that results in all of our stockholders having the right to exchange their shares of Common Stock for cash, securities or other property;
(ii) VGA terminates for any reason the Amended and Restated Joint Venture Agreement, dated as of May 14, 2020, by and among us and VGA; (iii) VGA issues a
critical or negative statement regarding us and our technology unless such statement is required to be made by VGA under applicable law and is truthful and
accurate; or (iv) VGA transfers certain of our securities in excess of the amounts set forth in the Senior Employee Lock-Up Agreements. Pursuant to the Senior
Employee Lock-Up Agreements, upon the consummation of the merger, we paid to each Senior Employee a one-time cash bonus.
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Letter Agreements on Board and Committee Representation
On September 2, 2020, we entered into the Original Letter Agreement pursuant to which we would nominate one designee of VGA for election to
our board of directors, and from and after the First Closing (as defined under the Series F Preferred Stock Purchase Agreement between Legacy QuantumScape
and VGA, dated May 14, 2020), a second designee of VGA. On December 7, 2020, the parties amended and restated the Original Letter Agreement to provide that
(i) in connection with any annual or special meeting of stockholders at which directors will be elected, we will nominate for election to our board of directors two
VW Directors, with such designation rights terminating upon certain circumstances and (ii) we shall cause one VW Director to be appointed to the nominating and
corporate governance committee of our board of directors, provided that such VW Director fulfills the independence requirements under applicable NYSE rules.
VGA Letter Agreement on Earmarked Funds
On September 2, 2020, Kensington, Legacy QuantumScape and VGA entered into a letter agreement pursuant to which, subject to the terms of
such letter agreement, Kensington and Legacy QuantumScape agreed to reserve a certain portion of the proceeds from the Series F Preferred Stock financing and
the capital obtained through the Business Combination (including any concurrent “PIPE” financing) in a separate account to fund our future contributions to QSV
Operations LLC, the joint venture between us and VGA (“QSV”). The parties agreed that the amount to be held in the separate account was $134 million as of the
date of the letter agreement.
Indemnification of Directors and Officers; Exculpation
Our Certificate of Incorporation limits our directors’ liability for money damages to the fullest extent permitted under the DGCL. The DGCL
permits a certificate of incorporation provision to provide that directors of a corporation will not be personally liable for monetary damages for breach of their
fiduciary duties as directors, except for liability:
•

for any transaction from which the director derives an improper personal benefit;

•

for any act or omission not in good faith or that involves intentional misconduct or a knowing violation of law;

•

for certain unlawful payments of dividends or redemptions or repurchases of shares; or

•

for any breach of a director’s duty of loyalty.

If the DGCL is amended to authorize corporate action further eliminating or limiting the personal liability of directors, then the liability of our
directors will be eliminated or limited to the fullest extent permitted by the DGCL, as so amended. The DGCL and our Bylaws provide that we will, in certain
situations, indemnify our directors and officers and may indemnify other employees and other agents, to the fullest extent permitted by law. Any indemnified
person is also entitled, subject to certain limitations, to advancement of reasonable expenses (including attorneys’ fees) in advance of the final disposition of the
proceeding, subject to an undertaking by or on behalf of such person to repay such amounts if it shall ultimately be determined that the person is not entitled to be
indemnified under our Bylaws or the DGCL.
Indemnification Agreements
We have entered into indemnification agreements with each of our directors and executive officers following the Business Combination. These
indemnification agreements provide our directors and executive officers with contractual rights to indemnification and advancement for certain expenses, including
attorneys’ fees, judgments, fines and settlement amounts incurred by a director or executive officer in any action or proceeding arising out of their services as one
of our directors or executive officers or as a director or executive officer of any other company or enterprise to which the person provides services at our request.
The limitation of liability and indemnification provisions in our Certificate of Incorporation and our Bylaws may discourage stockholders from
bringing a lawsuit against directors for breach of their fiduciary duties. They may also reduce the likelihood of derivative litigation against our directors and
officers, even though an action, if successful, might benefit us and our stockholders. A stockholder’s investment may decline in value to the extent we pay the costs
of settlement and damage awards against our directors and officers pursuant to these indemnification provisions.
Equity Financings
Series F Preferred Stock Financing
From May 14, 2020 through September 3, 2020, Legacy QuantumScape entered into several Series F Preferred Stock Purchase Agreements and
related agreements and amendments thereto, pursuant to which it agreed to sell, and related persons, entities
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and their affiliates agreed to purchase, an aggregate of 14,041,437 shares of Legacy QuantumScape Series F Preferred Stock for an aggregate purchase price of
$371 million as set forth below. On March 30, 2021, the company, Legacy QuantumScape, and VGA agreed that the technical milestone under the Series F
Preferred Stock Agreement (as amended) was satisfied and entered into an amendment to, among other things, consummate the sale of Series A Common Stock to
VGA (the “Series F Closing Agreement”). The sale of such shares will occur following expiration of the waiting period or other clearance under the Hart-ScottRodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976 and will represent the second and final closing in the Series F Preferred Stock Financing.

Shares of
Legacy
QuantumScape
Series F
Preferred
Stock

Stockholder

Volkswagen Group of America Investments, LLC(1)(2)
Al-Rayyan Holding LLC(3)
2011 Buss Family Trust(3)(4)
J.B. Straubel(3)(5)
TIGF Direct Strategies LLC – Series 3(3)(6)
Technology Impact Growth Fund, L.P.(3)(6)
Quantum Partners LP(3)(7)
Palindrome Master Fund LP(3)(7)
JS Capital LLC(3)(7)
(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)
(6)
(7)

7,569,508
3,557,668
75,695
54,572
870,493
264,933
722,363
101,921
824,284

Total
Purchase Price
Commitment

$200,000,026.48
$93,999,992.37
$1,999,998.16
$1,441,890.47
$22,999,991.95
$7,000,006.74
$19,086,130.72
$2,692,936.28
$21,779,067.00

Frank Blome was a member of the board of directors of Legacy QuantumScape and is a member of our board of directors and an affiliate of VGA. Jens
Wiese is a member of our board of directors and an affiliate of VGA.
Includes shares that were purchased after the Business Combination on December 1, 2020 and shares to be purchased pursuant to the Series F Closing
Agreement.
All such were purchased on or prior to the Business Combination.
Brad Buss was a member of the board of directors of Legacy QuantumScape and is a member of our board of directors and an affiliate of the 2011 Buss
Family Trust.
J.B. Straubel was a member of the board of directors of Legacy QuantumScape and is a member of our board of directors.
Dipender Saluja was a member of the board of directors of Legacy QuantumScape and is a member of our board of directors and an affiliate of TIGF Direct
Strategies LLC – Series 3 and Technology Impact Growth Fund, L.P.
Affiliate of Soros Fund.

Commercial Agreements
Agreements with Volkswagen
Joint Venture Agreement
In June 2018, Legacy QuantumScape and VGA formed a 50-50 joint venture entity, QSV, to facilitate the commercialization of Legacy
QuantumScape’s solid-state battery technology and enable Volkswagen to be the first automotive OEM to utilize this technology. In 2018, the parties made an
initial equity investment to the joint venture of approximately $3 million in total. The joint venture agreements were amended in 2020 in connection with a further
$200 million investment commitment by VGA in Legacy QuantumScape Series F Preferred Stock.
Limited Liability Company Agreement
In June 2018, in connection with the joint venture, QSV was organized in connection with entry into a Limited Liability Agreement (the “LLCA”),
with Legacy QuantumScape and VGA designated as the members of QSV. In May 2020, the parties amended and restated the LLCA in connection with the
amendment to the joint venture agreement.
Phase 1 License Agreement
In May 2020, in connection with the joint venture, Legacy QuantumScape entered into a license agreement with QSV (which amended and
restated the license agreement entered into in September 2018) to license its battery technology. The battery technology that is licensed to the joint venture does not
include the right to manufacture Legacy QuantumScape’s proprietary solid-state separator.
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Common IP License Agreements
In May 2020, in connection with the joint venture, Legacy QuantumScape entered into a license agreement with Volkswagen Group of America,
Inc. (“VWGoA”) (which amended and restated a license agreement entered into in September 2018) to license certain intellectual property on a royalty free basis
in connection with production and manufacturing of solid-state battery cells by the joint venture in the automotive space.
Mutual Non-Disclosure Agreement
In January 2017, Legacy QuantumScape entered into, and in April 2018 amended, a mutual non-disclosure agreement with VWGoA to provide to
each other certain proprietary, confidential and trade secret information in connection with discussion and negotiations regarding potential cooperation in
connection with the development and production of battery cells and related components, including research and development regarding production process.
Other Transactions
In fiscal 2020, we paid Prof. Fritz Prinz, a member of our board of directors, compensation of approximately $202,788 in exchange for certain
technical consulting and advisory services apart from his board service. In fiscal 2019, Legacy QuantumScape paid Prof. Fritz Prinz compensation of
approximately $160,000 for similar services to Legacy QuantumScape.
Director Independence
Our Class A Common Stock is listed on the NYSE. As a company listed on the NYSE, we are required under NYSE listing rules to maintain a
board comprised of a majority of independent directors as determined affirmatively by our board. Under NYSE listing rules, a director will only qualify as an
independent director if that listed company’s board of directors affirmatively determines that the director has no material relationship with such listed company
(either directly or as a partner, stockholder or officer of an organization that has a relationship with such listed company). In addition, the NYSE listing rules
require that, subject to specified exceptions, each member of our audit, compensation and nominating and corporate governance committees be independent. Our
corporate governance guidelines define independence in accordance with the independence definition in the applicable NYSE listing rules.
Audit committee members must also satisfy the additional independence criteria set forth in Rule 10A-3 under the Exchange Act and NYSE listing
rules applicable to audit committee members. Compensation committee members must also satisfy the additional independence criteria set forth in Rule 10C1 under the Exchange Act and NYSE listing rules applicable to compensation committee members.
Our board of directors has undertaken a review of the independence of each of our directors. Based on information provided by each director
concerning his or her background, employment, affiliations and business and personal activities, our board of directors has determined that Messrs. Blome, Buss,
Doerr, Mirro, Saluja, Straubel and Wiese, Prof. Dr. Leohold, and Ms. Mikolajczak, representing nine (9) of our eleven (11) directors, do not have any material
relationship with us (either directly or as a partner, stockholder or officer of an organization that has a relationship with us) and that each of these directors is an
“independent director” as defined under the listing standards of the NYSE. Jagdeep Singh is not considered an independent director because of his position as our
President and Chief Executive Officer. Prof. Fritz Prinz is not considered an independent director because of his position as co-founder and Chief Scientific
Advisor of our company. In determining the independence of directors, our board of directors has also considered transactions, relationships and other
arrangements between our directors and officers and certain of their affiliates, in their individual capacities and not as representatives of our company, and funds
that are not affiliated with our company.
In making these determinations, our board of directors considered the current and prior relationships that each outside director has with our
company and all other facts and circumstances that our board of directors deemed relevant in determining their independence, including the beneficial ownership
of our capital stock by each outside director, and the transactions involving them described in this section.
There are no family relationships among any of our directors or executive officers.
Board of Directors Leadership Structure and Role of Lead Independent Director
Mr. Singh currently serves as both the chairman of our board of directors and as our president and chief executive officer. As our co-founder,
Mr. Singh is best positioned to identify strategic priorities, lead critical discussion, and execute our business plans. Our corporate governance framework provides
our board flexibility to determine the appropriate leadership structure
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for the company, and whether the roles of chairperson, president and chief executive officer should be separated or combined. In making this determination, our
board considers many factors, including the needs of the business, our board’s assessment of its leadership needs from time to time and the best interests of our
stockholders. Our board of directors has adopted corporate governance guidelines that provide that the board may appoint one of our independent directors to serve
as our lead independent director at any time when the chairperson of our board of directors is not independent, including when our president and chief executive
officer serves as the chairman of our board of directors. Because Mr. Singh is our chairman and also our president and chief executive officer, our board of
directors has appointed Mr. Mirro to serve as our lead independent director. As lead independent director, Mr. Mirro is responsible for calling separate meetings of
the independent directors, determining the agenda and presiding over such periodic meetings of our independent directors, serving as a liaison between Mr. Singh
and our independent directors, including reporting to Mr. Singh regarding feedback from executive sessions, serving as our spokesperson as requested and
performing such additional duties as a majority of our independent directors may otherwise determine or delegate.
Only independent directors serve on the audit committee, the compensation committee, and the nominating and corporate governance committee
of our board of directors. As a result of the board of directors’ committee system and the existence of a majority of independent directors, the board of directors
maintains effective oversight of our business operations, including independent oversight of our financial statements, executive compensation, selection of director
candidates and corporate governance programs. We believe that the leadership structure of our board of directors, including Mr. Mirro’s role as lead independent
director, as well as the independent committees of our board of directors is appropriate and enhances our board of directors’ ability to effectively carry out its roles
and responsibilities on behalf of our stockholders, while Mr. Singh’s combined role enables strong leadership, creates clear accountability and enhances our ability
to communicate our message and strategy clearly and consistently to stockholders.
Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services.
Fees Paid to the Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
The following table presents fees for professional audit services and other services rendered to us by Ernst & Young LLP for our fiscal year ended
December 31, 2020.

2020

(1)

(2)
(3)

Audit Fees(1)
Audit-Related Fees(2)
Tax Fees(3)

$2,300,048
17,355
22,454

Total Fees

$2,339,858

“Audit Fees” consist of fees billed for professional services rendered in connection with the audit of our consolidated financial statements, reviews of our
quarterly consolidated financial statements and related accounting consultations and services that are normally provided by the independent registered
public accountants in connection with statutory and regulatory filings or engagements for those fiscal years. This category also includes fees for services
incurred in connection with the Business Combination.
“Audit-Related Fees” consists of fees for services for an information security assessment (the Trust Information Security Assessment Exchange, or TISAX).
“Tax Fees” consists of fees for tax compliance services, including assistance with the preparation of income tax returns and general tax planning and
consulting.

Auditor Independence
In 2020, there were no other professional services provided by Ernst & Young LLP, other than those listed above, that would have required our
audit committee to consider their compatibility with maintaining the independence of Ernst & Young LLP.
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Audit Committee Policy on Pre-Approval of Audit and Permissible Non-Audit Services of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Effective upon the consummation of the Business Combination, our audit committee has established a policy governing our use of the services of
our independent registered public accounting firm. Under this policy, our audit committee is required to pre-approve all services performed by our independent
registered public accounting firm in order to ensure that the provision of such services does not impair the such accounting firm’s independence. Since the adoption
of this policy, all services provided by Ernst & Young LLP for our fiscal year ended December 31, 2020 were pre-approved by our audit committee.
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PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules.
(a)

List the following documents filed as a part of the report:
(1) Financial Statements:

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

45

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2020 and 2019

46

Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss for the Years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019

47

Consolidated Statements of Redeemable Non-Controlling Interest and Stockholders’ Equity for the Years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018

48

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019

49

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

50

(2) Financial Statement Schedules. None.
(3) The exhibits listed below are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K/A or are incorporated herein by reference, in each case as
indicated below.
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Exhibit Index
Incorporated by Reference
Exhibit
Number

2.1

2.2

Description

Form

File No.

Exhibit

Filing Date

Business Combination Agreement, dated as of September 2, 2020, by and
among Kensington Capital Acquisition Corp., Kensington Capital Merger
Sub Corp. and Legacy QuantumScape.

S-4/A

333-248930

2.1

November 12, 2020

Amendment No. 1 to Business Combination Agreement, dated as of
September 21, 2020, by and among Kensington Capital Acquisition Corp.,
Kensington Capital Merger Sub Corp. and Legacy QuantumScape.

S-4/A

333-248930

2.2

November 12, 2020

3.1

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company.

8-K

001-39345

3.1

December 2, 2020

3.2

Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company.

8-K

001-39345

3.2

December 2, 2020

4.1

Specimen Common Stock Certificate.

8-K

001-39345

4.1

December 2, 2020

4.2

Warrant Agreement, dated June 25, 2020, by and between the Registrant and
Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company.

8-K

001-39345

4.1

June 30, 2020

Amendment No. 1 to Warrant Agreement, dated February 13, 2021, by and
between the Registrant and Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company.

8-K

001-39345

4.1

February 16, 2021

Description of Securities

10-K

001-39345

4.4

February 23, 2021

Registration Rights and Lock-up Agreement, dated as of September 2, 2020,
by and among Kensington Capital Acquisition Corp. and the persons named
therein.

8-K

001-39345

10.3

September 3, 2020

10.2

Form of Senior Employee Lock-Up Agreement.

8-K

001-39345

10.5

September 3, 2020

10.3

Form of Lock-Up Agreement.

8-K

001-39345

10.3

December 2, 2020

10.4

Form of Subscription Agreement.

8-K

001-39345

10.4

September 3, 2020

10.5

Stockholder Support Agreement, dated as of September 2, 2020, by and
between Kensington Capital Acquisition Corp. and Volkswagen Group of
America Investments, LLC.

8-K

001-39345

10.1

September 3, 2020

Stockholder Support Agreement, dated as of September 2, 2020, by and
among Kensington Capital Acquisition Corp. and the persons named therein.

8-K

001-39345

10.2

September 3, 2020

Form of Indemnification Agreement by and between the Registrant and its
directors and officers.

8-K

001-39345

10.7

December 2, 2020

10.8+

The Registrant’s 2020 Equity Incentive Plan.

8-K

001-39345

10.8

December 2, 2020

10.9+

The Registrant’s 2020 Equity Incentive Plan — Form of Stock Option
Agreement.

8-K

001-39345

10.9

December 2, 2020

The Registrant’s 2020 Equity Incentive Plan — Form of Restricted Stock
Unit Agreement.

8-K

001-39345

10.10

December 2, 2020

The Registrant’s 2020 Equity Incentive Plan — Form of Restricted Stock
Agreement.

8-K

001-39345

10.11

December 2, 2020

The Registrant’s 2020 Employee Stock Purchase Plan.

8-K

001-39345

10.12

December 2, 2020

4.3
4.4
10.1

10.6
10.7+

10.10+
10.11+
10.12+
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10.13

10.14

10.15

10.16
10.17
10.18+
10.19+
10.20+
10.21+
10.22+
10.23
10.24
10.25#

10.26#
10.27

10.28#

First Letter Agreement, dated as of September 2, 2020, by and among
Kensington Capital Acquisition Corp., Legacy QuantumScape, and
Volkswagen Group of America Investments, LLC.

8-K

001-39345

10.6

September 3, 2020

Second Letter Agreement, dated as of September 2, 2020, by and among
Kensington Capital Acquisition Corp., Legacy QuantumScape, and
Volkswagen Group of America Investments, LLC.

8-K

001-39345

10.7

September 3, 2020

Third Letter Agreement, dated as of September 2, 2020, by and among
Kensington Capital Acquisition Corp., Legacy QuantumScape, and
Volkswagen Group of America Investments, LLC.

8-K

001-39345

10.8

September 3, 2020

Services Agreement, dated as of September 1, 2020, by and between
Kensington Capital Acquisition Corp. and DEHC LLC.

8-K

001-39345

10.9

September 3, 2020

Services Agreement, dated as of September 1, 2020, by and between
Kensington Capital Acquisition Corp. and Simon Boag.

8-K

001-39345

10.10

September 3, 2020

Offer Letter from Legacy QuantumScape to Timothy Holme, dated
January 1, 2011.

S-4/A

333-248930

10.13

November 12, 2020

Offer Letter from Legacy QuantumScape to Kevin Hettrich, dated
October 11, 2011.

S-4/A

333-248930

10.14

November 12, 2020

Offer Letter from Legacy QuantumScape to Howard Lukens, dated
February 13, 2012.

S-4/A

333-248930

10.15

November 12, 2020

Offer Letter from Legacy QuantumScape to Michael McCarthy, dated
December 21, 2012.

S-4/A

333-248930

10.16

November 12, 2020

Offer Letter from Legacy QuantumScape to Mohit Singh, dated April 3,
2013.

S-4/A

333-248930

10.17

November 12, 2020

Lease, dated May 31, 2013, by and between SI 55, LLC and Legacy
QuantumScape.

S-4/A

333-248930

10.18

November 12, 2020

Amendment to Lease, dated May 19, 2014, by and between SI 55, LLC and
Legacy QuantumScape.

S-4/A

333-248930

10.19

November 12, 2020

Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of QSV
Operations LLC, dated May 14, 2020, by and between Legacy
QuantumScape and Volkswagen Group of America Investments, LLC.

S-4/A

333-248930

10.20

November 12, 2020

Amended and Restated Joint Venture Agreement, dated May 14, 2020, by
and among Legacy QuantumScape and the persons named therein.

S-4/A

333-248930

10.21

November 12, 2020

First Amendment to Amended and Restated Joint Venture Agreement, dated
September 21, 2020, by and among Legacy QuantumScape and the persons
named therein.

S-4/A

333-248930

10.22

November 12, 2020

Series F Preferred Stock Purchase Agreement, dated May 14, 2020, by and
between Legacy QuantumScape and Volkswagen Group of America
Investments, LLC.

S-4/A

333-248930

10.23

November 12, 2020
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10.29

10.30

Amendment No. 1 to Series F Preferred Stock Purchase Agreement, dated
September 3, 2020, by and among Kensington Capital Acquisition Corp.,
Legacy QuantumScape and Volkswagen Group of America Investments,
LLC.

S-4/A

333-248930

10.24

November 12, 2020

Letter Agreement, dated as of December 7, 2020, by and among Legacy
QuantumScape, the Registrant and Volkswagen Group of America
Investments, LLC.

S-1/A

333-251433

10.30

December 28, 2020

10.31+

Employee Incentive Compensation Plan.

8-K

001-39345

10.1

March 15, 2021

10.32+

Form Change in Control and Severance Agreement.

8-K

001-39345

10.2

March 15, 2021

10.33

Series F Closing Agreement, dated March 30, 2021, by an among the
Registrant, Legacy QuantumScape and Volkswagen Group of America, Inc.

8-K

001-39345

1.1

April 1, 2021

Letter from Marcum LLP regarding Change in Independent Registered
Public Accounting Firm dated December 14, 2020.

8-K

001-39345

16.1

December 14, 2020

21.1

List of Subsidiaries of the Registrant

10-K

001-39345

21.1

February 23, 2021

23.1*

Consent of Independent Registered Accounting Firm, Ernst & Young LLP.

24.1

Power of Attorney.

10-K

001-39345

24.1

February 23, 2021

24.2

Power of Attorney.

10-K/A

001-39345

24.2

April 26, 2021

31.1

Rule 13a-14(a) /15(d)-14(a) Certification of Principal Executive Officer.

10-K

001-39345

31.1

February 23, 2021

31.2

Rule 13a-14(a) /15(d)-14(a) Certification of Principal Financial Officer.

10-K

001-39345

31.2

February 23, 2021

31.3

Rule 13a-14(a) /15(d)-14(a) Certification of Principal Executive Officer.

10-K

001-39345

31.3

April 26, 2021

31.4

Rule 13a-14(a) /15(d)-14(a) Certification of Principal Financial Officer.

10-K

001-39345

31.4

April 26, 2021

31.5*

Rule 13a-14(a) /15(d)-14(a) Certification of Principal Executive Officer.

31.6*

Rule 13a-14(a) /15(d)-14(a) Certification of Financial Executive Officer.

32.1

Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002.

10-K

001-39345

32.1

February 23, 2021

Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002.

10-K

001-39345

32.2

February 23, 2021

16.1

32.2

32.3*

Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002.

32.4*

Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002.

101.INS

Inline XBRL Instance Document – the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because XBRL tags are embedded within the
Inline XBRL document.

101.SCH

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
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101.CAL

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

101.DEF

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

101.LAB

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

101.PRE

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

104

Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded within the Inline XBRL document)

*
#
+

Filed herewith.
Portions of this exhibit have been omitted in accordance with Item 601 of Regulation S-K.
Indicates a management or compensatory plan.

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary
None.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the Registrant has duly caused this Report to be signed on
its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
QuantumScape Corporation
Date: May 7, 2021

By:

/s/ Jagdeep Singh
Jagdeep Singh
Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, this Report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the
Registrant in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
Name

Title

Date

/s/ Jagdeep Singh
Jagdeep Singh

Chief Executive Officer and Chairman
(Principal Executive Officer)

May 7, 2021

/s/ Kevin Hettrich
Kevin Hettrich

Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

May 7, 2021

*
Frank Blome

Director

May 7, 2021

*
Brad Buss

Director

May 7, 2021

*
John Doerr

Director

May 7, 2021

*
Jürgen Leohold

Director

May 7, 2021

*
Fritz Prinz

Director

May 7, 2021

*
Justin Mirro

Director

May 7, 2021

*
J.B. Straubel

Director

May 7, 2021

*
Dipender Saluja

Director

May 7, 2021

*
Jens Wiese

Director

May 7, 2021

*
Celina Mikolajczak

Director

May 7, 2021

*By: /s/ Jagdeep Singh

May 7, 2021

Jagdeep Singh
Attorney-in-fact
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Exhibit 23.1
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-252606) pertaining to the 2020 Equity
Incentive Plan, 2020 Employee Stock Purchase Plan and Amended and Restated 2010 Equity Incentive Plan of QuantumScape Corporation
of our report dated February 23, 2021 (except for Note 4, as to which the date is May 7, 2021), with respect to the consolidated financial
statements of QuantumScape Corporation included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K/A) of QuantumScape Corporation for the year ended
December 31, 2020.
/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
Redwood City, California
May 7, 2021

Exhibit 31.5
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Jagdeep Singh, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K/A of QuantumScape Corporation;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in
light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

5.

(a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during
the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b)

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter
(the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's
auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial
reporting.

Date: May 7, 2021

By:

/s/ Jagdeep Singh
Jagdeep Singh
Chief Executive Officer and Chairman
(Principal Executive Officer)

Exhibit 31.6
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Kevin Hettrich, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K/A of QuantumScape Corporation;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in
light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

5.

(a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during
the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b)

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter
(the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's
auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial
reporting.

Date: May 7, 2021

By:

/s/ Kevin Hettrich
Kevin Hettrich
Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

Exhibit 32.3
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Annual Report of QuantumScape Corporation (the “Company”) on Form 10-K/A for the period ended December 31, 2020 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002, that:
(1)

The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2)

The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: May 7, 2021

By:

/s/ Jagdeep Singh
Jagdeep Singh
Chief Executive Officer and Chairman
(Principal Executive Officer)

Exhibit 32.4
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Annual Report of QuantumScape Corporation (the “Company”) on Form 10-K/A for the period ended December 31, 2020 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002, that:
(1)

The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2)

The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: May 7, 2021

By:

/s/ Kevin Hettrich
Kevin Hettrich
Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

